
Summons to Meeting

Friday 24 May 2019

Development Panel
Tuesday 4 June 2019, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Joan Ellis Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Adrian Kirkbride
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Page 1



Agenda
Site Visit  
The following site visits will take place:

OUT/2019/0004 - Outline application for residential development, Birkby Lodge, 
Crosby

FUL/2019/0018 - Demolition of existing stadium and re-development of the site to 
provide a sports stadium (Use Class D2) that incorporates a hospitality/ conference 
suite (Use class D1/D2), community facility (Use class D1), cafe (Use class A3), and 
office space (Use class B1a); and an outdoor sports pitch (Use class D2); with 
access, parking, landscaping and other associated works. Land North and South of 
Black Path Cloffocks, Workington

Members of the Development Panel will be picked up from Allerdale House, 
Workington.

The Bus departs at 10:15am and members are advised to wear suitable footwear.

1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 36)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 2 April 2019 and 
30 April 2019.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

5. OUT/2019/0004 - Outline application for residential development, Birkby 
Lodge, Crosby  (Pages 37 - 58)

6. FUL/2019/0038 - Proposed cycleway between Allonby and Silloth, Land 
between Allonby and Silloth  (Pages 59 - 82)

Page 2



7. FUL/2019/0018 - Demolition of existing stadium and re-development of the 
site to provide a sports stadium (Use Class D2) that incorporates a 
hospitality/ conference suite (Use class D1/D2), community facility (Use 
class D1), cafe (Use class A3), and office space (Use class B1a); and an 
outdoor sports pitch (Use class D2); with access, parking, landscaping and 
other associated works. Land North and South of Black Path Cloffocks, 
Workington  (Pages 83 - 162)

8. FUL/2019/0074 - Change of use from agricultural land to public open space, 
Church Meadows Great Broughton  (Pages 163 - 172)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 2 July 2019, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 2 April 2019 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Anthony Markley
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Mark 
Jenkinson

Staff Present

S Brook, C Fearon, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, S Long, J Lord, A Seekings, S Sewell, 
S Sharp and S Tranter

441. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 05 February 2019 were signed as a correct 
record.

442. Declaration of Interests 

None Declared

443. Questions 

None Received

444. 2/2018/0372 - Demolition of existing dwelling and re-development to 
provide part residential development and part allotments (outline with all 
matters reserved), Land rear of Moor House, Marsh Terrace, 
Ellenborough, Maryport 

Representations

Craig Thompson spoke against the application

Councillor Peter Kendall on behalf of Maryport Town Council spoke against the 
application

The Agent Leah Cole spoke in support of the application.

Application

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions and the 
signing of a S106 agreement to secure 20% affordable housing and for a fee to 
cover the costs of a modified traffic regulation order to secure highways works 
resulting from the creation of a new access off the A594.

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the item advising that this item had been 
deferred at the March 2019 meeting of the panel to permit a panel site visit, 
confirming that the visit had taken place.

The Senior Planning Officer also confirmed that Building Control Officers have 
looked at the stability of an existing structure positioned between Moor House 
and 12 Marsh Terrace. The structure is not considered to be dangerous.

The Senior Planning Officer then went through the main issues as detailed in 
the report.

Principle of Development

Maryport is a key service area; this site however is largely a Greenfield site. 
Part 2 of the local plan demonstrates that Greenfield sites will need to be 
brought forward for development. The site has good transport links, is within 
walking distance and 15 housing units would bring a positive contribution to the 
towns housing supply.

Allotments

Allotments are afforded protection as part of the local plan and they make a 
positive contribution to health and wellbeing. 576sqm is currently in use as 
allotments and the indicative plan includes this as a provision, controlled by 
conditions 12 and 24.

Access and Parking

The site is considered to be in a sustainable location. The proposal will create a 
new access from the A594 and this has not raised any objections from the 
Highways Authority subject to conditions. The access would require visibility 
splays of 60m; this would restrict parking on Marsh Terrace. Alternative parking 
will be provided within the application site, secured by conditions. It is 
acknowledged that replacement car parking will be less convenient; however it 
would improve the safety for residents and reduce the risk of their vehicles 
becoming damaged from traffic on the A594.

The issues of trees, ecology, heritage, ground conditions, stability and drainage 
will be dealt with by conditions and at the reserved matters stage of the 
proposal.

The Senior Planning Officer went on to explain that the adverse impacts of the 
proposal have been mitigated to an acceptable level and that the negative 
effects of the proposal would not outweigh the benefits of providing additional 
housing, including 20% affordable housing in a sustainable location.

Page 6



Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and of the officers and debate followed 
relating to car parking, principle of the development, bats, allotments, and traffic 
and ground conditions. 

Some members were also concerned about parking and allotment provision 
during construction.

Councillor Bales moved to approve the proposal, as per officer’s 
recommendations. 

The motion was seconded by Councillor Tibble.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 5 voted in favour, 6 against with 1 
abstention.

The motion was lost. 

Councillor Farebrother then moved to refuse the application, although no 
planning reasons were specified. The Head of Place Development and the 
Planning and Building Control Manager explained that section 70 of the 
Planning Act 1990 enables councils to refuse applications but Article 35 (1) b) of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) requires full reasons for refusal are 
provided, specifying all policies and proposals in the development plan which 
are relevant to the decision.

The meeting was adjourned to permit time for the councillor to provide reasons 
for refusal and citing of relevant policies. Officers provided administrative 
support to the councillor during this adjournment.

Following the adjournment, Councillor Farebrother withdrew her motion.

Further debate then ensued specifically in relation to future management of the 
proposed allotments.

Councillor Armstrong then moved to approve the proposal with an amendment 
to condition 12 to include a scheme of management for the proposed 
allotments.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Munby.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve with the amended condition 12, 9 
voted in favour, 1 against with 1 abstention.

The vote was carried.

Page 7



Resolution

Permission granted subject to conditions and signing of s106 relating to TRO as 
per officer’s recommendation, except for addition to condition 12 – Allotment 
management.

CONDITIONS

Time Limit:
1. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no 
later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this 
permission and the development shall begin no later than whichever is 
the later of the following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning
Act 1990.c

In Accordance

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following plans:
Amended Plan 5147-02C Location Plan 21.01.19
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:

3. Before any development commences details of the layout, scale and 
appearance, access and landscaping (hereinafter called ‘reserved 
matters’) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

4. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been 
carried out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its 
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The 
scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 8



5. Should land affected by contamination be identified following site 
investigations which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take 
place until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must 
include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred 
option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including 
the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

6. Construction Management Plan:
No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(b) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.
(c) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(d) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(e) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(f) Hours of working and deliveries;
(g) Details of lighting to be used on site;
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. Development shall not commence until a Construction Phase Traffic
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 
(a) Pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a
Highway Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the 
satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense;
(b) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
(c) retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and 
unloading for their specific purpose during the development;
(d) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
(e) details of proposed wheel washing facilities;

Page 9



(f) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage 
or deposit of any materials on the highway;
(g) construction vehicle routing;
(h) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 
and other public rights of way/footway;
(i) surface water management details during the construction phase
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

8. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to 
prevent surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to 
development being commenced. Any approved works shall be 
implemented prior to the development being completed and shall be 
maintained operational thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

9. No development shall commence until a detailed assessment of noise 
and odour emanating from the adjacent restaurant at the former Crown Inn, 
Main Street, Maryport, has been submitted for approval in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
The report shall be carried out by a competent person in accordance with the 
current edition of BS 8233 and the WHO Guidelines. The aim of the report will 
be to establish whether any proposed housing could potentially be impacted 
by noise and odour and a scheme of mitigation measures to alleviate any 
unacceptable impacts. The approved scheme of mitigation shall be 
implemented prior to the beneficial occupation of the dwelling houses hereby 
approved and shall be permanently retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of housing environment in 
accordance with policy S4 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

10. Prior to the commencement of works, details of a surface water 
drainage scheme, including any attenuation measures to demonstrate that 
no greater run off rate than the existing greenfield rate from the site, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation 
of any of the dwelling houses hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an 
assessment of its existing undeveloped state, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. Any application for reserved matters of scale and/or layout shall 
include plans showing the following:
(a) Cross sections through the site, including the relationship of proposal 
to offsite properties to the northern, southern and eastern boundaries of 
the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.

Page 10



Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation 
to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

12. No development shall commence until there has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a schedule of 
works for the managed replacement of the existing allotments on site. 
Before use of the development commences, details of the ongoing 
management and maintenance arrangements for the replacement 
allotments once complete shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The development (including the construction 
phase) shall be undertaken only in accordance with the approved 
schedule of works and the allotments shall thereafter be managed and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the replacement allotment provision is delivered in a safe 
and timely manner and thereafter managed and maintained appropriately, in 
accordance with Policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.      

13. The carriageways, footways, footpaths, cycle ways etc. shall be 
designed and constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for 
adoption and in this respect further details, including longitudinal/ cross 
sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
before work commences. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. All 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is 
complete.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety.

14. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans 
showing the provision of allocated parking spaces for residents of Marsh 
Terrace of a number that is the same as or exceeds that number identified 
to be lost due to creation of the new access and associated visibility 
requirements. A detailed scheme for the temporary and permanent 
arrangements for the provision of these parking spaces during the 
construction phase and once the development is completed, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing before 
the development commences. The approved scheme shall be adhered to 
at all times during the construction phase and the permanent 
arrangements shall be provided as approved and retained and made 
available for use for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure adequate alternative parking provision is made available to 
compensate for that parking provision on street that will require removal as a 
result of the development in the interests of highway safety and residential 
amenity, in accordance with policies S5, S22 and S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

15. The development shall not commence until:
(1) Visibility splays providing clear visibility of 60 metres measured 2.4 
metres down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel of 
the major road have been provided at the junction of the access road with 

Page 11



the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 
development, no structure, or object of any kind shall be erected or 
placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height 
shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the visibility splay which 
obstruct the visibility splays.
(2) Measures have been put in place on the County highway to ensure that 
parking on street within the visibility splays is restricted.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:
16. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 5, the 
approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being 
brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

17. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

18. No development shall be occupied until the details of future drainage 
management and maintenance are agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be maintained and 
managed at all times in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the surface water system continues to function as 
designed.

19. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Only the materials so approved shall be used in the development as 
approved.

Page 12



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

20. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the occupation of any dwelling(s) or the use of the allotments 
commencing. Any such means of enclosure shall be constructed prior to 
the approved development being brought into use/occupied. All means of 
enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be 
removed or replaced without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties.

21. Any areas of parking or open space within the approved layout and
landscaping scheme that do not fall within private domestic gardens or 
curtilages shall be maintained at all times in accordance with a Landscape 
Management Plan that has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before any dwellings hereby approved are 
brought into use.
Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space within the residential estate.

22. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road, including 
footways and cycle ways to serve such dwellings, has been constructed 
in all respects to base course level and street lighting where it is to form 
part of the estate road has been provided and brought into full operational 
use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety of the occupiers of residential units 
hereby approved.

23. The dwellings/land use hereby approved shall not be occupied until 
the vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plan and have been made 
available for use. The vehicular access, parking and turning provisions 
shall be retained and capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be 
removed or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use.

Other:

24. Any new housing adjacent to or adjoining the northern boundary of 
the site shall be limited to single storey only.
Reason: It is considered that development shall be limited to single storey in 
this location taking into account the site conditions, levels and character of the 
surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 13



and Policy S4, S5 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

25. The development hereby permitted shall be limited to the construction 
of 15 dwelling houses only.
Reason: No information has been provided to demonstrate that a greater 
number of residential units could be provided on site without having a significant 
adverse impact on the locality by way of residential amenity and standard of 
housing environment, in accordance with policies S4, S32 and DM14 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.

26. The development hereby approved shall provide for a minimum of 
576sqm of land to be laid out for use as allotments.
Reason: To ensure an adequate replacement allotment provision in accordance 
with Policy S25 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

27. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within any approved 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development and any trees or plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality.

Advisory Note – Noise and Odour
The Noise and Odour Assessment required by condition 9 will be required to 
inform the layout and design of the proposed housing. The Local Planning 
Authority would therefore advise that this document be prepared and submitted 
for approval with any reserved matters application seeking approval of layout.

Advisory Note – Bats

The Council seeks to highlight that their planning decision has been determined 
based on the merits of the submitted evidence and the proposal. Should any 
protected species be discovered during the course of implementing the 
development works, then under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981, works should cease and further guidance should be sought from 
Natural England at:

Natural England
County Hall, Spetchley Road
Worcester
WR5 2NP

Email: enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone: 0300 060 3900
Opening times: 8:30am to 5pm, Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays)

Page 14



The Council emphasise that any harm to a protected species or its habitat 
constitutes a criminal offence under the above statutory Act and may be subject 
to legal prosecution.

445. 2/2018/0542 - Demolition of existing bungalow and replacement with 8 
dwellings, 74 St Helens Street, Cockermouth 

Representations

Ward Councillor Alan Smith spoke against the application

The Agent, Stuart Woodall spoke in support of the application

Application

The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions.

The Senior Planning Officer went through the main issues as detailed in the 
report.

Demolition

The existing property is modern with little architectural and historic value. Its 
grounds have fallen into dereliction with a mixed material front wall. The site is 
within the Conservation Area and there are no objections to the demolition 
works, subject to a satisfactory redevelopment scheme.

Principle of new housing

The development does not raise matters of the any extension of designated 
settlement limits boundaries. Cockermouth represents a sustainable location for 
additional housing growth and this site represents a sustainable location within 
walking distance of the town service and amenities.

Housing Density

The proposal offers a contribution to the smaller sized family house within the 
towns overall housing supply. Spatially each dwelling incorporates two off street 
parking spaces as well as their respective domestic curtilages. The site is 
modern in its surroundings; despite concerns over overdevelopment, the 
housing density is acceptable.

Layout

Layout is dictated by the access junction on St Helens St in securing the 
required visibility splays and the gradient of the site. The front terrace reflects 
the terracing elsewhere in the street scene with the detached houses recessed 
but creating a courtyard.

Design

Page 15



The design incorporates contemporary element but these overall retain the local 
characteristics of the conservation area. The design also limits any loss of 
amenity to neighbours.

The Senior Planning Officer went to explain that children on their way to school 
would be safeguarded by a condition restricting delivery hours in the 
construction management plan. In relation to flooding, this would be addressed 
by attenuation to reflect the Greenfield run off rates plus allowances for climate 
change.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and officers and debate followed in 
relation to local infrastructure, cumulative development and car parking. 

Councillor Tibble moved to approve the proposal, as per officer’s 
recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Munby.

A vote was taken on the motion, 10 voted in favour of the motion, 2 against and 
0 abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Permission granted subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendation.

CONDITIONS

Time Limit

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

In accordance

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
Site Location Plan
Block Plan
1052 01 Existing Site Plan
1052 03 Rev B Proposed Plots 1-4
1052 04 Proposed Plots 5-8
1052 07 Drainage Plan
1052 08 Road Design
Amended Plan 1052-03D House Plans 14.02.19.pdf
Amendment Stage 1 Road Safety Audit 30.01.19.pdf

Page 16



Amended Plan 1052-02I Planning Site Plan 30.0.1.19.pdf
Amended Plan 1052-09 Exceedance Plan 30.01.19.pdf
Additional Information 08.03.19.pdf
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement

3. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Hours of delivery (allowing for exclusions during peak hours of school 
pedestrian movements)
(c) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(d) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.
(e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(h) Hours of working and deliveries;
(i) Details of lighting to be used on site;
(j) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.
(k) Drainage risk assessment method statement, No constructional built 
development shall be undertaken within 2.5m distance on the western 
side of the existing water main traversing along the eastern boundary of 
the application site without the written consent of the local planning 
authority
Reason: To safeguard existing water infrastructure on the application site.

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in 
the interests of highway safety.

4. Prior to the commencement of any development (excluding demolition 
works), a surface water drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of 
drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance with 
evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the 
scheme shall be managed after completion) shall be submitted to and 

Page 17



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surface water 
drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. In the event of surface water 
draining to the public surface water sewer, the pass forward flow rate to 
the public surface water sewer should be restricted to existing greenfield 
runoff for any storm event.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

5. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained 
and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further 
details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development 
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance 
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is fully 
occupied.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

During works

6. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To secure proper drainage and manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution.

7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details and representative samples of all 
external and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area including the setting of the Conservation Area in 
compliance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale local plan, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

8. Notwithstanding the submitted details, evidence of the siting, height 
and type of all means of enclosure/screen walls/fences/other means of 
enclosure shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the construction of any dwelling above ground floor 
level. Any such walls/fences etc. shall be constructed prior to the 
approved building being brought into use/occupied. All means of 
enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be 
removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties including the setting of the Conservation Area in 
compliance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1)

Page 18



9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above 
ground floor level until there has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping which 
shall include indications of all existing trees and shrubs on the site, and 
details of any to be retained, together with measures for the protection in 
the course of development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised 
within the scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development and any trees or plants which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise 
the impact of the development in the locality.

10. No dwellings shall be built above ground floor level until the access 
roads, as approved, are defined by kerbs and sub-base construction.
Reason: To ensure that the access roads are defined and laid out at an early 
stage as part of the construction phase of the layout of the approved estate.

Pre occupation

11. Prior to the occupation of the development a sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan 
shall include as a minimum:
a) Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident's 
management company; and
b) Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements 
of the sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface 
water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.

The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved plan. 
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution during the lifetime of the development. This condition is imposed in 
light of policies within the NPPF and NPPG.

12. None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be occupied until 
visibility splays providing clear visibility of 43m (to the west ) and 81m (to 
the east) x 2.4 metres measured down the centre of the access road and 
the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the 
junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 

Page 19



exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

13. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plan to base course level 
and street lighting has been provided and brought into use. The vehicular 
access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and capable of 
use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use.

14. Before any dwelling is occupied the existing access to the highway 
shall be permanently closed and the highway crossing and boundary shall 
be reinstated in accordance with details which have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To minimise highway danger and the avoidance of doubt.

Post occupation

15. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory 
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification) no development to the front elevation of the terrace facing 
onto St Helens Street falling within Classes A-H of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of 
the said Order shall be carried out without the prior written permission of 
the Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any 
proposed alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the sites 
street frontage including the setting of the Conservation Area in compliance with 
Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

16. There shall be no vehicular access to or egress from the site other 
than via the approved access, unless otherwise agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

446. 2/2018/0551 - Outline application for B1 development including access 
junction, Land at Low Road, Cockermouth 

Representations

The agent Michael Sandelands of HFT Gough & Co spoke in favour of the 
application.

Application

Page 20



The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions.

The Planning and Building Control Manager went through the main issues as 
detailed in the report.

Economic Benefits

The proposal would make a positive and significant contribution in terms of 
further investment within Cockermouth and the creation of further employment 
opportunities.

Location

The site is suitably located with an acceptable walk in distance of residential 
areas, connected by lit, segregated footways and a bus service.

The site is bordered by existing development, the bypass and Low Road. As 
such there is no significant visual amenity or landscape impact.

Odour

There are considerations of odours arising from the juxtaposition with the Water 
Treatment Plant. The impact is such that conditions and the layout reserved 
matters can respond to this issue and permission need not be withheld. 

Highway Safety

Access is not reserved for subsequent approval. The proposed highways 
arrangements are considered acceptable. The Highways Authority raises no 
objection.

The Building and Control Manager went on to explain to members that this 
proposal supports the objectives of the local plan and that the location is 
sustainable but with minimal visual impact. In terms of the development no 
alternative sites are available in Cockermouth. The Building and Control 
Manager then explained the cumulative impact of the proposal and that the site 
compliments the Town Centre. 

In relation to noise from the development, the Environmental Protection 
Manager explained that the noise levels are acceptable.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and officers and debate followed in 
relation to noise, traffic, and the need for this development.

Councillor Grainger moved to approve as per officers recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Munby.

Page 21



A vote was taken on the motion to approve the application, 9 voted in favour, 2 
against and 1 abstention.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Permission Granted subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendation.

CONDITIONS

Reserved matters submission

1. Before any development commences details of the layout, scale and 
appearance and the landscaping of the site (thereafter called ‘reserved 
matters’) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

2. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no 
later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this 
permission and the development shall begin no later than whichever is 
the later of the following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

3. Any application for reserved matters of scale shall include plans 
showing the following:
(a) Cross sections through the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.
Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation 
to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

4. The layout Reserved Matter shall be accompanied by an odour 
assessment to include location of each unit, dispersion modelling of 
odour from the waste water treatment plant and resultant odour levels at 
the proposed units.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of amenity is achieved for future 
occupiers of the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 22



5. As part of the submission of the layout reserved matters, the applicant 
shall submit to the local planning authority for approval in writing a 
survey to identify the location of any water main and drainage 
infrastructure within the site and details of the associated access, repair 
and maintenance strips agreed with United Utilities. Thereafter no 
development shall be sited within the agreed access, repair and 
maintenance strips.
Reason: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of the public 
water supply and wastewater infrastructure.

6. The Reserved Matter for appearance shall be accompanied by a noise 
assessment that provides mitigation measures to safeguard the occupiers 
of the B1 units from noise from the sewage works and nearby highways 
and details of the ventilation systems proposed.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of amenity is achieved for future 
occupiers of the site in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Accordance with plans

7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following plans:
12.07.771-01 Location Plan
C001 Rev B Proposed Site Access
Access Appraisal
Flood Risk Assessment
Odour Assessment
Letter from SLR received 22 February 2019
Odour Assessment received 22 February 2019
Assessment of Likely Significant Effect
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.
Pre-commencement

8. The carriageway, footways and footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority and, in this respect, further details, including 
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval before any works commence on site. No work shall 
be commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current 
Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed 
before the development is fully occupied.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

9. The development shall not be commence until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 120 metres x 2.4 metres x 120 metres 
measured down the centre of the access road and the nearside channel 
line of the major road, and centre of the road where appropriate, have 
been provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 

Page 23



Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or 
object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other 
plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow 
within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

10. Details of the pedestrian refuge as shown on drawing number C001 
revision B shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 
The use of the development shall not be commenced until the pedestrian 
refuge has been fully installed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11. Ramps shall be provided on each side of every junction to enable 
wheelchairs, pushchairs etc. to be safely manoeuvred at kerb lines. 
Details of such ramps shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval before development commences. Any details so approved 
shall be constructed prior to the development being brought into use.
Reason: To ensure that pedestrians and people with impaired mobility can 
negotiate road junctions in relative safety.

12. Full details of the highway surface water drainage system shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to 
development being commenced. Any approved works shall be 
implemented prior to the development being completed and shall be 
maintained operational thereafter.
Reason: in the interests of highway safety and environmental management in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy S2 and S29 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

13. No development shall commence until a sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The drainage scheme shall be in accordance 
with the principles within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment reference 
D/I/D/87883/008 dated June 2017 and:
(i) Shall include an investigation of the full hierarchy of drainage options 
in the National Planning Practice Guidance (or any subsequent 
amendment thereof). This investigation shall include evidence of an 
assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be 
managed after completion) and the potential for infiltration of surface 
water in accordance with BRE365; 
(ii) shall be designed to meet the requirements of the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or 
any subsequent replacement national standards;
(iii) no surface water, highway drainage or land drainage shall discharge 
to the public sewerage system either directly or indirectly; and
(iv) include a timetable for its implementation. 

Page 24



The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

14. No development shall commence until details of the means of 
ensuring water and wastewater infrastructure that is laid within and 
adjacent to the site boundary is protected from damage as a result of the 
development have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing.
The details shall outline the potential impacts on the water and 
wastewater infrastructure from all construction activities and the impacts 
post completion of the development on the water and wastewater 
infrastructure within and adjacent to the site and identify mitigation 
measures to protect and prevent any damaged to the water and 
wastewater infrastructure. Any mitigation measures shall be implemented 
in full in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of the public 
water supply and wastewater infrastructure.

15. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition 
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, offsite parking, turning and 
compound areas;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries.
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, 
and light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
(i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of 
the development.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development 
hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in 
the interests of highway safety.

Page 25



16. Prior to the commencement of the development, detailed mitigation 
measures for the prevention of pollution of controlled waters from 
operational surface water run-off shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The approved mitigation measures shall be 
implemented before the development is brought into use and shall be 
maintained and retained in operational use for the lifetime of the 
development.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policies S29, S32, 
S35 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.

17. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a 
desktop study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential 
contamination which may affect human health, controlled waters or the 
wider environment, all necessary site investigation works within the site 
boundary must be carried out to establish the degree and nature of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm 
to human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop 
study condition 17 following site investigations which poses 
unacceptable risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider 
environment, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation 
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of 
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Before development’s first use

19. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 18, the 
approved strategy shall be implemented and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being 
brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 26



20. The use shall not commence until the access and parking 
arrangements have been constructed in accordance with the approved 
plan and layout reserved matters and shall be retained and be capable of 
use when the development is completed and shall not be removed or 
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and 
retained for use in relation to the development.

Other

21. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To ensure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and 
pollution.

22. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

Notes to applicant
United Utilities records show there is an easement affected by crossing the 
proposed development site which is in addition to our statutory rights for 
inspection, maintenance and repair. The easement dated 27/03/2018 UU Ref: 
70/00016 has restrictive covenants that must be adhered to. It is the 
responsibility of the developer to obtain a copy of the document, available from 
United Utilities Legal Services or Land Registry and to comply with the 
provisions stated within the document. Under no circumstances should anything 
be stored, planted or erected on the easement width. Nor should anything occur 
that may affect the integrity of the pipe or United Utilities legal right to 24 hour 
access.

447. PIP/2019/0001 - Application for permission in principle for new residential 
development, Pine Trees 

Representations

The applicants, Karen Law and Paul Boustead spoke in support of the 
application.

Page 27



Application

The report recommended refusal.

The Senior Planning Officer introduced the item confirming that members 
attended a site visit, and that members are only required to consider the 
principle of the development only, which could be a minimum of 1 dwelling or a 
maximum of 5 dwellings.

The Senior Planning Officer went on to explain that the principle is 
unacceptable due to the juxtaposition of the site to existing farming activities 
and the relationship of the site and its access to existing dwellings, and that the 
provision of homes would not outweigh the negatives from the proposal.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the officers and debate followed in relation to 
settlement limits.

Councillor Armstrong moved to refuse the application as per officer’s 
recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Wilson.

A vote was taken on the motion, 10 voted in favour, 0 against and 2 
abstentions.

The motion carried.

Resolution

Refused as per officer’s recommendation.

448. CAT/2019/0004 - Prune two trees, 12 Derwentside Gardens, Cockermouth 

Application

The application recommends that the section 211 notice for the works to the two 
trees is approved and no tree preservation order is made in respect of these 
trees.

The Planning and Building Control Manager presented the item, advising that 
this application is before the panel as the applicant is an officer of this Council.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor Cockburn moved to approve the application.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Annison

Page 28



A vote was taken on the motion, 12 voted in favour, 0 against, 0 abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Approved as per officers recommendation. 

The meeting closed at 4.15 pm

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Theatre - The Wave Centre, Maryport 
on Tuesday 30 April 2019 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Mark Jenkinson

Staff Present

C Fearon, A Gilbert, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, K McCartney, A Seekings, S Sewell and 
S Sharp

458. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5th March 2019 were signed as a correct 
record.

459. Declaration of Interests 

None Declared

460. Questions 

None Received

461. 2/2018/0537- Land at The Fitz, Low Road, Cockermouth- Outline 
application for residential development of 27 dwellings including access 
junction, layout and appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping 
for buffer zone only. 

Representations

Gillian Telford spoke against the application

The Agent Michael Sandelands of HGF Gough and Co spoke in support of the 
application.

Application

The report recommended that the decision to grant permission subject to 
conditions be delegated to the Planning and Building Control Manager upon the 
completion of a section 106 agreement that secures:

 Completion of land level changes permitted by permission 2/2017/0312

Page 31



 Provision and future management and maintenance of landscaping belt 
directly East of plots 2-6

 10 Affordable housing units on site
 £4,431.60 to upgrade existing facilities for children and young people at 

the Laureates

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item advising that 
the Panel had been on a site visit, assessing the site from various viewpoints. 

The Planning and Building Control Manager then summarised the main issues 
as detailed in the report. These included:-

The Tilted Balance

The adverse impacts of permitting the development would not significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

Principle of Development

The scale of the development is considered commensurate to the size and role 
of Cockermouth as a Key Service Centre. The site is sustainably located within 
acceptable walking distance of the town, connected by lit, segregated footways 
and a bus service.

Highway Safety

Access is not reserved for subsequent approval. The proposed highway 
arrangements are considered acceptable. The Highways Authority raises no 
objections.

Landscape and Visual Effects

The landscape and visual impact is not significantly adverse and can be 
mitigated through an appropriate landscaping scheme by condition and S106 
agreement.

Heritage Assets

In the context of the duty contained within S66(1) and the special regards to be 
paid to the desirability of preserving the setting of the listed buildings, officers 
consider, in this instance, that the overall level of harm to the heritage asset 
would amount to less than substantial. The benefits of the scheme outlined in 
the report outweigh the limited harm incurred to the setting of the The Fitz. The 
setting of Papcastle’s conservation area, in terms of its character and 
appearance, will be preserved.

Affordable Housing

The proposed development would provide 10 affordable housing units on the 
site. This equates to 40% and fulfils the Local Plan Policy requirements.

Page 32



The Planning and Building Control manager then explained that, whilst matters 
pertaining to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved matters 
for the majority of the site, the application is seeking approval of layout, scale 
and appearance for plots 2-6 inclusively only.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and of the officers and debate followed 
in relation to road safety, play facilities, heritage and the demand for such 
housing.

There was specific discussion about previously permitted and part implemented 
development (land levels) and the setting of the Fitz and the landscape on and 
around Low Road. 

Councillor Cockburn then moved to refuse the application. The meeting was 
adjourned to enable officers to clarify the reasons and the citation of relevant 
polices, officers purely providing administrative support in this capacity. 

Following the adjournment, Councillor Cockburn clarified the motion to refuse 
permission for the following reasons:-

“The proposal by reason of the introduction of additional housing nearer to the 
heritage asset, namely the Fitz, will adversely impact on the setting of that asset 
contrary to Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This harm is not outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal.”

The motion was seconded by Councillor Annison.

A vote was taken on the motion to refuse, 8 voted in favour, 4 against with 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried. 

Resolution

To refuse permission for the following reasons:-

The proposal by reason of the introduction of additional housing nearer to the 
heritage asset, namely the Fitz, will adversely impact on the setting of that asset 
contrary to Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This harm is not outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal.

Page 33



462. FUL/2019/0014- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Siting of a static caravan 
as living accommodation 

Representations

Councillor Peter Kendall on behalf of Maryport Town Council spoke against the 
application.

The Applicant, Joanne Fletcher spoke in support of the application

Application

The report recommended refusal.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item confirming that 
members viewed the site from the A594. 

The Planning and Building Control Manager went on to explain that the access 
to the site is unacceptable in terms of highway safety and that there were other 
concerns as detailed in the report. He explained that this application needed to 
be assessed on its own merits separate to the next application on the agenda 
but that the members’ resolution on this application may affect the officer’s 
recommendation for the kennels (FUL/2019/0047).

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Principle of Development

The application site is located in the open countryside outside the defined 
settlement limit. The static caravan represents an inappropriate and 
unsustainable form of development in the open countryside, with no essential 
need demonstrated.

Sustainability, Access and Parking

The proposal would result in the intensification of a substandard access by way 
of insufficient visibility and the proposal is therefore considered unacceptable in 
terms of highway safety.

The proposal would constitute an unsustainable form of development due to the 
distance to local services and amenities along an unlit footpath to the opposite 
side of the A594, with no crossing facilities. 

Landscape and Visual Impact

Development of housing at this location is considered to be sporadic 
development in this open and rural locality that would adversely impact on the 
character and appearance of the area. The proposal does not relate to the built 
environment, resulting in an incongruous development that would have an 
adverse effect on the landscape character and visual amenities of the locality.

Page 34



The static caravan and the associated container structures and perimeter 
fencing all combine to provide a poor standard of design for a permanent 
dwelling.

Tilted Balance

The adverse impacts of permitting the development in this poorly accessible, 
unsustainable countryside location with an unacceptable access would 
significantly outweigh the benefit of providing just one dwelling.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and debate followed in relation to 
highways, and access to the site.

Councillor Armstrong moved to refuse the application as per officer’s 
recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Miskelly.

A vote was taken on the motion, 8 voted in favour, 4 against and 0 abstentions.

The vote was carried

Resolved

Refused as per officer’s recommendation

463. FUL/2019/0047- Firth View, Dearham, Maryport- Erection of boarding 
kennels for new business 

Representations

Councillor Peter Kendall on behalf of Maryport Town Council spoke against the 
application.

The Applicant, Joanne Fletcher spoke in support of the application

Application

The report recommended refusal.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item confirming that 
members viewed the site from the A594. 
Boarding kennels should have accommodation but members had resolved to 
refuse the preceding application on the agenda (FUL/2019/0014). 

The Planning and Building Control Manager also advised that the highway 
access and kennel fencing were not appropriate. The development is also not 

Page 35



considered acceptable due to its location within the open countryside and in 
terms of its sitting and appearance.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the speakers and officers and debate followed in 
relation to highways, the proposed number of kennels and parking.

Councillor Annison moved to refuse the application as per officer’s 
recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Cockburn.

A vote was taken on the motion, 8 voted in favour, 4 against and 0 abstentions.

Resolution

Refused as per officer’s recommendation.

The meeting closed at 2.50 pm

Page 36



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application OUT/2019/0004

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: OUT/2019/0004
Valid Date: 28/01/2019
Location: Birkby Lodge, Crosby, Maryport
Applicant: Mr K Perkins 
Proposal: Outline application for residential development

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The site is beyond any settlement limit but 
not ‘isolated’ and is considered well related 
to the village and the residential 
development adjacent that is under 
construction. The site is therefore 
considered well related and sustainable. 
The provision of small scale housing 
development of this type is appropriate for 
Crosby as a Limited Growth Village within 
the settlement hierarchy of the Local Plan 
and is therefore supported in principle.

The development will contribute to housing 
delivery for the area and the Council’s Five 
Year Land Supply. There is considered to 
be no demonstrable harm from the 
development and the ‘tilted planning 
balance’ falls in favour of the application 
with no significant or demonstrable 
impacts.

Layout Pre-application advice was given to the 
applicant on this matter. A low density 
development was preferred in order to 
respect the rural, edge of settlement 
location and the landscape setting of the 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



listed building. The layout has met the 
expectations of that advice.

The layout offers 9 dwellings on large plots 
with an emphasis on an inward looking 
development bringing a sense of 
community and with the majority of 
existing trees retained and with additional 
planting.

A focal point of open space is planned at 
the centre of the site.

Landscaping/Trees A full landscaping scheme has been 
provided to detail all planting and tree 
removal and can be conditioned for 
implementation and retention.

The applicant has submitted a 
comprehensive tree survey that identifies 
the Scots Pine, subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order, within the site as a 
less than perfect specimen in a ‘”fair” 
condition with some imperfections in form, 
growth and with a limited life. The 
landscaping scheme proposes its removal 
as it would impact adversely upon the 
desired layout of the development site.

A Beech tree is planned to replace it and 
achieve the same focal point at the centre 
of the site. Along with the other proposed 
new trees across the site, the loss of the 
Scots Pine has been compensated for 
appropriately and the sense of open 
parkland across the site has been retained 
and enhanced. The loss of the tree is 
therefore not considered a reason for 
refusal or amendment to the site layout 
and the landscaping scheme as a whole is 
considered acceptable.

Heritage Assets The layout of low density housing, 
sympathetically landscaped, is considered 
acceptable as to respect the listed building 
and its setting. The house type designs 
that are reserved matters can also be 
achieved as to make a positive 
contribution with regard to scale, design, 
materials and vernacular detailing.

Page 38



In conclusion the proposals as a whole are 
not considered harmful to the listed 
building’s appearance and its setting.

The proximity to the Hadrian’s Wall World 
Heritage Site is noted and the applicant’s 
Heritage Statement highlights a long 
history of civilisation within the locality. As 
such, with regards to the findings of the 
Archaeological Study, further 
investigations are required by condition 
before development commences.

As a built form of development on the 
edge of a settlement related to other 
buildings, there is considered no adverse 
impact on the wider historic setting of the 
landscape.

Access An independent new access is to be 
formed fronting the A596. Visibility splays 
of 120 metres are achievable with the 
speed limit restriction of 40mph being a 
requirement at the front of the site. A 
relocation of the speed limit signs will be 
necessary by condition. The Highway 
Authority has accepted this in principle 
subject to further details.

The Highway Authority has responded 
following the submission of amended 
details of the access. They have 
concluded that the details are satisfactory 
demonstrating achievable visibility splays 
with regard to the road traffic speed 
regulations. They request standard pre-
commencement conditions regarding 
precise specification of the highway 
engineering works and implementation to 
safeguard highway safety.

Adequate driveway and garage parking is 
proposed to meet parking standards.

Surface Water Drainage Despite the objection from the Parish 
Council, a satisfactory solution can be 
reached regarding drainage. The strategy 
for attenuated discharge via an existing 

Page 39



field drain to Scad Beck is acceptable. The 
site is in flood zone 1 (least probability of 
flooding) and the Local Lead Flood 
Authority supports the strategy. Full details 
can be conditioned regarding the ultimate 
strategy, implementation and 
management. 

Proposal

This in an outline planning application for residential development of 9 dwellings 
considering access, layout and landscaping. The scale and appearance of the proposed 
house types is a reserved matter as reported below.

The Plans for considertaion are:-

DWG 01Site location Plan
Dwg 02 Layout plan
Dwg 03 landscaping plan
Dwg 04 Landscaping schedule
Access Appraisal
A107822 Archaeological and Heritage Assessment
Dwg C001 Rev B Access Arrangements (amended plan 18/3/2019)
A107822 Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment
Drainage Outfall Plan (amended plan 18/3/2019)
EES18-104 Ecological Survey
A107822 Geo-Environmental Desk Top Study
EES18-104 Tree Survey

Site

The site comprises undeveloped land with a roadside frontage and a mature hedge as a 
means of enclosure. A tree within the centre of the site is noted that has recently been 
assessed and made subject to a Tree Preservation Order. Other trees within the site and 
on the boundary are noted with a significant belt of trees on the northern boundary.

The host dwelling (listed building grade II) is sited beyond the belt of trees to the west.

The site fronts the A596 within a 60mph speed limit zone affecting part of the site 
frontage and subject to a traffic regulation for no overtaking and no stopping. An existing 
agricultural field access is noted on this frontage.

The site is beyond the settlement limit of the village but with an adjacent residential 
development under construction. Other scattered residential development detached from 
the body of the village is noted opposite.

Page 40



Relevant Planning History

The proposal was the subject of a pre-application enquiry (ref PPA/2018/0069)

Representations

Parish Council 

Reservations with regard to the loss of the Scots Pine tree and drainage to Scad Beck.
 

ABC Environmental Health 

No reply to date. 

Cumbria County Council Highway Authority 

Recommend approval subject to conditions and a Section 278 Agreement for highway 
improvements

Cumbria County Archaeologist 

No objection in principle subject to further site investigations.

Historic England 

No objection in principle subject to further site investigations.

Natural England  

No objections

The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letters.

One letter of representation has been received regarding outlook and general amenity.

Page 41



Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

 The development does not fall within Schedule 1 or 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development.

Duties

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.  

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

S1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Sustainable Development  Principles
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
S4 Design Principles
S5 Development Principles
S7 A Mixed and Balanced Housing Market
S8 Affordable Housing
S22 Transport Principles
S27 Heritage Assets
S28 Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site
S29 Flood Risk and Surface water Drainage
S30 Reuse of Land
S32 Safeguarding Amenity
S33 Landscape
S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
DM14 Standards of Good Design
DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands

Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

Page 42



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

• Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of new homes where they 
are needed. 

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton (PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948), it is considered that policies S3 and S5 
of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry 
full weight insofar as they relate to the application of the existing settlement limits which 
date from the 1999 Plan and housing numbers. This is relevant to the application of 
paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF which is engaged when where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 
application are out-of-date where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date.

Indeed, members are advised that in the context of the above, the application should only 
be refused if this is based upon reasoning relating to the setting of the listed building or 
where any adverse impacts from granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 
1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they 
are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, it is assessed that 
the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be afforded substantial weight given its 
consistency with the sustainability principles of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) 
of policy S5. Other polices within the Part 1 Local Plan maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 

Page 43



objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. The settlement limits in 
the Part 2 Local Plan are still subject to objections. The examination sessions for this part 
of the Local Plan have been completed (22nd May 2019) but the Inspector’s report is still 
awaited. 

Assessment:

Principle of development

The site is beyond the settlement limit of Crosby being a Limited Growth Village as 
defined in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) under Policy S3. This policy defines the 
settlement hierarchy for residential development and housing growth for the Borough. 
Limited Growth Villages have been identified for appropriate small scale development.

It is accepted that the settlement limit is now “out of date,” this being because the 
Council’s Housing Strategy detailed in our 2014 Part 1 Local Plan is now within the 
medium term of the Plan period.

In this term housing was anticipated to come forward via housing allocations in Part 2 of 
the Local Plan. However, these have yet to come to fruition and, in advance of them, the 
Council needs land to come forward at sustainable locations beyond the saved 
settlement limits. Little weight is therefore afforded to the settlement limits and, indeed, 
policies S3 and S5 of Part 1 of the Local Plan insofar as they relate to these limits and 
housing numbers. In the absence of setting of the listed building being a reason for 
refusal (see below), the judgement is, therefore, based upon the “tilted balance” within 
the revised National Planning Policy Framework 2019. Effectively, any impacts need to 
be significantly and demonstrably adverse when assessed against the benefits of 
providing residential development to justify a refusal. 

The site is beyond any settlement limit but not ‘isolated’ and is considered well related to 
the village and the residential development under construction. Crosscanonby St. John’s 
Primary School is within 600m, the bus services served by the hourly Workington-
Maryport-Wigton-Carlisle 300 service are 200m and the Stag Inn public house is within 
1,100m. All are within the Department for Transport’s acceptable walking distance taking 
into account gradients and available footway. There is a lit, segregated pedestrian 
footway on the south side of the A596 but, to achieve the required accessibility to the bus 
stops and the settlement’s services and facilities, it is necessary to ensure the securing of 
a footway on the site side of the road to link to the extent of the existing footway. There is 
no signal controlled crossing of the A596 to enable crossing from the site to the school 
side of the road. However, there is a pedestrian refuge within close proximity. 

The site is therefore considered well related and sustainable. The provision of small scale 
housing development is appropriate commensurate for Crosby as a Limited Growth 
Village within the settlement hierarchy and is therefore supported in principle. 

Affordable Housing

The matter of affordable housing provision has been considered with regard to Policy S8 

Page 44



of the Local Plan noting the more recent policy provided by the revised NPPF 2019. In 
view of the number of dwellings proposed, the nine units will not trigger the need for such 
affordable housing.

Access

The proposals consider the access in detail as part of this application. An independent 
access from the A596 is planned.

The A596 fronting the site is 7.6m wide, divided into two lanes with a central hatched 
reserve. On the northern side there is a wide grass verge of 2.5m. On the southern side 
there is a 1.5m footway which provides a pedestrian link into the centre of the village.

The existing 40mph speed limit into the village is located approximately midway along the 
site frontage. As part of this application, it is proposed to relocate the 40mph zone 
approximately 55m to the south west, to encompass the whole of the development area 
to reduce traffic speeds passing the site. This is considered necessary in the interests of 
highway safety. 

Additionally, it is proposed to introduce ‘gateway’ features at the start of the new 40mph 
zone to signal the extended entrance to the village and provide an attractive focal point 
for those entering Crosby from the south-west. This is welcomed and a benefit afforded 
weight in the overall consideration of the application.

A new simple priority junction is proposed to access the A596 in the location of the 
existing field gate access. The access will comprise a 4.8m wide road with 6m kerb radii 
and a 1m service strip. A section of 2m footway will be provided with a dropped kerb to 
provide a link to the footway of the adjacent development providing a convenient 
pedestrian link to the centre of the village.

A shared surface road will be provided within the site itself being 4.8m wide with a 2m 
service strip. A turning head will be provided at the northern extent of the development to 
allow the turning of refuse and emergency vehicles.

Parking will be provided in accordance with the parking standards set out in ‘Parking 
Guidelines in Cumbria’, these being: 

 2 bed houses – 2 spaces per unit; 
 3 and 4 bed houses – 2.5 spaces per unit; 
 5+ bed houses – 3 spaces per unit.

In relation to highway capacity, the proposed development of 9 units is likely to generate 
5 additional two-way vehicle trips in the AM peak hour and 4 trips in the PM peak hour. It 
is considered that this is well within the local road network capacity, noting the direct 
access onto an “A” Class road, and will not cause any adverse issues in terms of 
highway safety.

The Highway Authority has responded following the submission of amended details of 
the access and do not object. They have concluded that the details as amended are 
satisfactory demonstrating achievable visibility splays with regard to the road traffic 

Page 45



speed regulations. They request standard pre-commencement conditions regarding 
precise specification of the highway engineering works and implementation to safeguard 
highway safety.

Heritage Assets

Of some significance is the impact upon the host listed building and its setting. The 
setting is considered in a wider context, being on the outside periphery of the Hadrian’s 
Wall World Heritage Site.

The list describes the building thus:- 

“House. Early C19. Painted stucco on chamfered plinth. Hipped graduated greenslate 
roof, with overhanging eaves on shaped wooden brackets; stucco chimney stacks. 2 
storeys, 3 bays. Panelled door with interlace overlight within prostyle Ionic porch. Sash 
windows with glazing bars, those on ground floor in round-headed recesses.”

The significance of the listed building relates to its external period features and 
vernacular detailing as an example of an early 19th century dwelling of some distinction in 
its rural setting. 

Whilst being part of the existing grounds of Birkby Lodge, the development site is 
separated by mature woodland and cannot be seen due to significant tree coverage 
which will be unaffected by the development. The development will change the 
experience of the approach to the building from the A596 and, without the layout and 
landscaping proposed, the setting could be harmed. However, the proposal responds to 
this appropriately with the avenue planting to the Lodge and the landscaped low density 
development. 

Functionally, it is also noted that, in the distant past, the application site was not 
associated with Birkby Lodge at all, and classed as common land.

The harm is considered to be significantly less than substantial and outweighed by the 
public benefits provided by the landscaping, footways and gateway feature to the village. 

The proximity to the Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site is noted and the applicant’s 
heritage statement highlights a long history of civilisation within the locality. As such with 
regard to the findings of the Archaeological Study, further investigations are required by 
condition before development commences.

Layout/Design and Appearance/Landscaping

As detailed above, the layout of the site has been provided for consideration at this 
outline stage to ensure an appropriate appearance and relationship with the listed 
building of Birkby Lodge and its surrounding area.

Pre-application advice was given to the applicant on this matter. A low density 
development was preferred to respect the rural, edge of settlement location and the 
landscaping of the grounds of the listed building.

Page 46



The layout offers 9 dwellings on large plots with an emphasis on an inward looking 
development bringing a sense of community and with the majority of existing trees 
retained. Additional trees are planned in a formal manner to reflect the listed building and 
with the avoidance of over suburbanisation. The hedge and tree boundaries are to be 
strengthened to contain the site.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance does not demand any formal open 
amenity space or play areas. The layout does, however, provide for a small central area 
of landscaped open space which is a benefit of the proposal. The village green of Crosby 
is also an acceptable walking distance with an equipped play park.

A full landscaping scheme has been provided to detail all planting and tree removal and 
can be conditioned for implementation and retention.

Of some significance and as an objection from the Parish Council, is the removal of the 
Scots Pine tree in the centre of the site. This tree has been made subject of a recent 
Tree Preservation Order with regard to its visual contribution.

The applicant has submitted a comprehensive tree survey that identifies this tree as a 
less than perfect specimen in a ‘fair condition with some imperfections in form, growth 
and with a limited life.” Upon reflection, the Council concur with these findings, 
acknowledging that the TPO was made in response to the threat to its loss. 

However, the applicant has now offered a replacement mature Beech to replace it and 
achieve the same focal point of the centre of the site. Along with the other proposed new 
trees across the site, the loss of the Scots Pine has been compensated for appropriately 
and the sense of open parkland across the site has been retained and enhanced. The 
loss of the tree is therefore not considered a reason for refusal or amendment to the site 
layout and Policy DM17 is considered satisfied.

Residential Amenity

It is considered that the proposed layout allows for an acceptable level of mutual 
residential amenity. The development adjacent and under construction will not be 
adversely affected and there are no other residential properties affected. A neighbouring 
property opposite the site has commented on the loss of general outlook affecting 
residential amenity. Officers do not consider that this warrants refusal with living 
conditions unaffected.

Contamination

The site is within the former British Coal Area (low risk). A Phase 1 geo-environmental 
desk top study has been provided. It concludes that the assessment has not identified 
any potential on site current or historical sources of contamination associated with the 
use of the site. For the avoidance of doubt and considering the scale and scope of 
development, Phase 2 Investigations are recommended by standard planning conditions.

Ecology

As undeveloped land with trees and significant hedgerow boundaries, a Phase 1 

Page 47



Ecological Survey was required to support the application.

The report concludes that overall habitats on site are considered of low to local value, 
with the higher value habitats (hedgerows and trees) to be largely retained as part of the 
development. Given the implementation of the mitigation and landscaping strategy 
designed for the site, it is considered that no habitat or species will be significantly 
affected. Residual effects are highly unlikely to be significant at a population level for any 
species or habitat recorded or likely to be present on site.

Matters can be safeguarded with a standard condition to ensure the reported mitigation 
measures and good working practices.

Drainage

Foul water is planned to the conveniently located foul water sewer.

A surface water drainage strategy has been provided by the applicant. The sustainable 
hierarchy of drainage has been considered. The site is deemed to be entirely permeable 
by the applicant but without any proven percolation tests. Additionally, the applicant has 
identified an existing land drain that outfalls to Scad Beck to the north west.

Considering the above, there are two options that can be used or combined to achieve 
sustainable surface water drainage to ground and/or watercourse. The applicant has 
confirmed his strategy with an amended plan showing an attenuated system to 
watercourse. The potential for a drainage swale and other means of attenuation to 
control and manage surface water and discharge rates is shown. There is clearly room 
within this low density development to accommodate such a drainage strategy. As such, 
despite the objection from the Parish Council, Officers are satisfied that a satisfactory 
solution can be reached regarding drainage. Full details can be conditioned regarding the 
ultimate strategy, implementation and management. The County Council Local Lead 
Flood Authority supports the strategy.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax Revenue. 

Conclusions

As an edge of settlement site well related to the existing settlement pattern, the 
provision of housing is considered commensurate and acceptable for this Limited 
Growth recognised in the Local Plan. The development will contribute to housing 
delivery and the Council’s Five Year Land Supply. There are no significant or 
demonstrable adverse impacts that outweigh the benefits. The tilted planning balance 
falls in favour of the application with no significant impacts.

Page 48



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

Page 49



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Time Limit:

1. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later than 
the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the following 
dates:

a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, or 
b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 

in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.

Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

In Accordance:

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:
DWG 01Site location plan
DWG 02 Layout plan
DWG 03 landscaping plan
DWG 04 Landscaping schedule
Access Appraisal
A107822 Archaeological and Heritage Assessment
DWG C001 Rev B Access Arrangements (amended plan 18/3/2019)
A107822 Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment
Drainage Outfall Plan (amended plan 18/3/2019)
EES18-104 Ecological Survey
A107822 Geo-Environmental Desk Top Study
EES18-104 Tree Survey

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the scheme 
are properly considered.

3. The development shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the 
recommendations and mitigation measures within the submitted Ecological 
Survey EES18-104 and EES18-104 Tree Survey.

Reason: In the interests of the safeguarding and management of arboricultural interests 
and in the interests of general biodiversity.

Page 50



 

Pre-commencement conditions:

4. Before any development commences details of the scale and appearance 
(hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in accordance 
with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015.

5. Any application for reserved matters of scale shall include plans showing the 
following:

a) Cross sections through the site;
b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;

and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.

Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

6. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed, 
constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect 
further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work 
shall be commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 
Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before the 
development is complete.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety.

7. Before development commences, details of a highway 'gateway feature', as 
shown on plan ref C001 Rev B, incorporating additional and relocated signage 
that enforces local speed limit restrictions to support the achievable visibility 
splays, shall be provided and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works shall be implemented before the development commences 
in conjunction with a Section 278 Agreement with the local Highway Authority.

Page 51



Reason: In the interests of highway safety

8. The development shall not commence until visibility splays shown on the 
approved plans providing clear visibility of 120 metres measured 2.4 metres down 
the centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the County highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or 
object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or 
other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay 
which obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed 
before general development of the site commences so that construction traffic is 
safeguarded.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

9. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any 
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed 
and shall be maintained operational thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

10. Before development commences, further details of the surface water drainage 
system including system management and maintenance shall be provided to the 
Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The surface water drainage 
scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement 
national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either 
directly or indirectly. The drainage scheme submitted for approval shall also be in 
accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage 
Statement dated December 2018 proposing surface water discharging to the 
culvert (or other sustainable strategy). The development shall be completed, 
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory sustainable drainage system to manage and 
minimise the risk of flooding and pollution.

11. With regard to condition 10, no development shall commence until an 
adequate condition survey of the culverted watercourse downstream of the 
discharge point, to where the system becomes de-culverted has been provided to 
the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. Any defects shall be 
remediated prior to works commencing.

Page 52



Reason: To safeguard against the threat of flooding beyond the development site.

12. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried out 
to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works for 
the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement.

Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

13. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop study 
following site investigations, which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place until 
a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and 
programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

14. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by 
the applicant and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
This written scheme will include the following components: 

i. An archaeological evaluation; 
ii. An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be 

dependant upon the results of the evaluation; 
iii. Where significant archaeological remains are revealed by the programme 

of archaeological work, a post-excavation assessment and analysis, 
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, completion of an archive report, and submission 
of the results for publication in a suitable journal. 

 
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to determine 
the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site and for the 
preservation, examination or recording of such remains.

Page 53



15. No development shall commence until details for the parking of vehicles and 
storage of plant and materials associated with the construction phase shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction phase.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:

16.  All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved landscaping 
scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of 
the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

17. With regard to condition 6, prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby 
permitted, footways shall be provided that link continuously and conveniently to 
the nearest existing footway fronting the A596, the details of said footways to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian and highway safety.

18. No dwelling shall be occupied until the following has been completed:-

a) The vehicular highway up to but not including the wearing course.
b) The on-plot parking and turning areas.

The wearing course shall be completed before occupation of the last dwelling. All 
access and or parking provision shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access and parking provision when the 
development is brought into use in the interests of highway safety and general 
residential amenity.

19. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 13, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use.

Page 54



Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

20. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into 
use. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Advisory Note 

The applicant/developer is reminded of the need to contact Cumbria County Council 
Highway Authority for a Section 278 Agreement for highway works that are essential in 
order to achieve the access visibility condition of this planning approval.

Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0038

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0038
Valid Date: 18/02/2019
Location: Land between Allonby and Silloth 
Applicant: Allerdale Borough Council
Proposal: Proposed cycleway between Allonby and Silloth

RECOMMENDATION

THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS IS 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL MANAGER UPON:-

1) THE EXPIRATION OF THE NOTICE PERIOD TO UNITED UTILITIES AND NO 
NEW ISSUES RAISED DURING THAT PERIOD.

2) THE CONFRIMATION FROM THE COUNTY COUNCIL ARCHAEOLOGIST 
THAT THE RESULTS OF THE TRIAL EXCAVATIONS ARE ACCEPTABLE 
AND RAISE NO ISSUES THAT WOULD NECESSITATE PERMISSION BEING 
WITHELD. 

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The proposed cycle path will enhance the 
wider cycle network, both in terms of 
improved safety and bringing opportunities 
for tourism and economic growth. 

Highway Safety The applicant has provided a safety audit 
regarding highway crossings and 
junctions. This has been discussed at pre-
application stage with the Highway 
Authority and agreed in principle. A full 
response and appropriate conditions have 
been received and the Highway Authority 
has no objections and agrees the slight 
diversion of the route.

Habitat and Ecology Based on the submitted evidence Natural 
England considers that the proposals are 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



not likely to significantly affect the 
ecological interest features of flora and 
fauna. Officers conclude the proposal will 
not have any significant impact on any 
ecological designations or protected 
species. An Environmental Management 
Plan is required by condition, based upon 
the submitted survey findings and 
mitigation measures.

Landscape Impact and AONB In view of the nature of the cycle path with 
negligible elevation above existing ground 
levels, officers consider that any 
landscape or visual impact would be 
limited. The impact upon the AONB, World 
Heritage Site Setting and wider landscape 
is not considered significant. The AONB 
Officer concurs with this view

Flood Risk The proposed use of the land for outdoor 
recreation is classed as ‘water compatible’ 
in the NPPG. The development is classed 
as ‘appropriate development’ in this flood 
zone despite the possibility of localised 
flooding that may periodically affect the 
use of the off road sections. 

Heritage Assets The applicant has provided a full 
archaeological survey that concludes that 
the identified sites are well recorded. 
There are no notable remains visible and 
the proposed works to achieve the 
cycleway are unlikely to impact 
significantly on the archaeology of the 
area. Further trial excavations are however 
required by the County Archaeologist to 
conclude matters.

The character and appearance of nearby 
Conservation Areas will be preserved and 
the setting of listed buildings in the vicinity 
preserved. There are public benefits that 
outweigh the less than substantial harm to 
the significance of these designated 
heritage assets.

Benefits and Planning Balance The impacts from the works and the 
subsequent use are considered minimal 
with appropriate conditions to safeguard 

Page 60



ecological interests and highway safety. 
Any potential harm is considered to be 
minimal and outweighed by the benefits of 
the off-road cycle way and its contribution 
to the national cycleway connectivity, 
sustainable transportation, the local 
economy and tourism.

The assessment and conclusions are 
consistent with the approval for a cycleway 
between Maryport and Allonby, under ref 
2/2012/0668 and now fully operational

Proposal

Planning application for development comprising engineering works to create a 2.5m 
wide tarmacadam surfaced path with 0.5m graded verges with associated drainage, 
intermittent fencing, signage and safety enclosures at the crossing points of the 
highway.

The applicant has amended the route alignment to avoid areas of coastal erosion. This 
has resulted in the inclusion of a small amount of land in the ownership of United 
Utilities. This requires the submission of Certificate B and notification to the land owner. 
As such, if Members are minded to approve the application, the release of the decision 
will be delayed 21 days to allow for the notification procedure. The change of route 
alignment offers no material considerations to change the Officer’s assessment or 
recommendation below.

The Plans for consideration are:-

A106827 Bird Report
A106827 Great Crested Newt Survey Report
A106827 Natterjack Toad Report
A106827 Planning Statement
A106827 Report to Inform Habitats Regulations
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment - Allonby to Silloth
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation - Allonby to Silloth
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 1 to 6
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 1 to 12
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 7 – 12
Option 2 Route Realignment (amended plan 15/5/2019)
C003 Proposed Site Location Sheet 1 to 3
C004 - Construction Details
A106827 Ecological Appraisal
A106827 NVC Survey Report
Road Safety Audit - Designers Response
Allonby to Silloth Cycleway FRA Main Text

Page 61



Allonby to Silloth Cycleway FRA Appendices

Site

The proposed works to create the off road cycleway are in three sections within the 
dune areas and foreshore to the west of the coastal B5300 road between Allonby and 
Silloth. The total length of the sections amounts to 4.63km with 3.56 km directly 
adjacent to the road carriageway. The remainder of the route is on road and not subject 
to any planning approval or assessment.

Relevant Planning History

Of some significance is a previous application approved for a similar cycleway between 
Maryport and Allonby approved by members under ref 2/2012/0668. The material 
planning considerations are very similar to this application along with the implications for 
economic growth and tourist development

Representations

Silloth Town Council 

Objection with regard to highway safety of road crossings

Holme St Cuthbert Parish Council 

Objection with regard to highway safety, impact upon AONB and SSSI.

County Highway Authority 

No objections in principle

ABC Environmental Protection 

No objections

Friends of Lake District and Cumbria 

Objection with regard to tarmacadam surface and visual impact, loss of habitat and 
ecology, inappropriate mitigation measures to protect wildlife, sequential approach to 
consider other routes, urbanisation of the landscape by surface and infrastructure of 
signage, loss of common land under the Commons Act.

Page 62



Open Space Society 

Objection to loss of common land, urbanisation of open countryside and conflict with 
coastal footpath and walkers.

Natural England

No objection subject to an Environmental Management Plan to safeguard the 
implementation of mitigation and protection of wildlife and habitat.

Historic England 

No objections in principle subject to the necessary archaeological investigations and 
report concluded before determination of the application.

County Archaeologist 

No objections in principle subject to the necessary archaeological investigations and 
report concluded before determination of the application.

Environment Agency 

No objections subject to implementation of Flood Risk Assessment measures.

AONB Officer 

‘We have no objection to this application principally because, as the majority of the 
pathway runs either on carriageway or adjacent to the B5300, the impact on the 
landscape and the special qualities of the Solway Coast AONB is minimal. Furthermore, 
the pathway will create new opportunities for people to enjoy this very special coastline, 
as we can see through the objectives and actions above.

We also support this project because it was earmarked as one of several projects by the 
Silloth on Solway Coastal Community Team Business Plan, a network of local 
community representatives which we have supported for the past three years. The 
creation of the cycle path was identified by this group as one of several priorities, as 
detailed in the Silloth on Solway CCT Business Plan.’

Further comment recommends mitigation regarding impact upon ecological and 
archaeological interests and the careful design and siting of signage and fencing,

Sustrans 

Support

Page 63



Cumbria Police 

No objections in principle.

The application has been advertised on site and in the local press. Adjoining 
landowners and those in reasonable proximity where known have been notified. 

There have been 2 letters of support and 9 letters of objection as documented below.

Neighbour objections

 Highway safety regarding the meeting and crossings of on road and off road 
sections of the route. Safety issues of groups and pedestrians congregating at 
highway junctions.

 Impact from the loss/alterations to existing shoreline car parks.

 Threat of flooding and coastal erosion to the path itself.

 Impact upon the route and use of the adjacent English Coastal Path.

 Visual and landscape impact on the coastal AONB from the tarmac surfaced 
route.

 Impact upon local ecology from the excavations and use of the route through the 
AONB and designated SSSI.

 Practicality of use and need for off road sections with cyclists preference for the 
existing on road surface.

 Loss of Common Land.

 Alternative surfacing materials and routes not considered fully.

Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

The proposal is not considered to be a Schedule 2 development under section 10(b) 
project exceeding 5 hectares. However, the development is within a sensitive location 
being sited within the designated Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Development listed in Schedule 2 and in a sensitive location requires an Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) if it is likely to have significant effects on the environment by 
such features as its size, nature or location. A screening opinion has been undertaken 
with the outcome that an Environmental Statement is not required. Impacts are 

Page 64



considered of only local significance which is reflected in the assessment below.

Duties

For Listed Building setting: 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses.  

For Conservation Areas: 

Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any buildings 
or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

For Natura 2000:

Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires all 
public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in the 
exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a planning application for a 
development which may have an impact on European Protected Species ("EPS"), such 
as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

S1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Sustainable Development  Principles
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
S4 Design Principles
S14 Rural Economy
S17 Tourism, Coastal and Countryside Recreation
S22 Transport Principles
S25 Sport, Leisure and Open Space
S27 Heritage Assets
S28 Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site

Page 65



S29 Flood Risk and Surface water Drainage
S32 Safeguarding Amenity
S33 Landscape
S34 Development in the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding natural Beauty
S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands

Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

SA32 Tourism, Coastal and Countryside Recreation 
SA52 Green Infrastructure Networks 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan:

 Economic Opportunities and Growth
 Stronger and Healthier Communities

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014 policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. In this instance, at this time, polices within the Part 1 Local Plan relevant 
to this application, maintain their full weight.

Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. In this instance policy 
SA32 is afforded significant weight as a material consideration due to the lack of 
objections to it, the advanced stage of the Plan and the consistency with the NPPF. 
Policy SA52 is afforded only moderate weight due to the outstanding objections to it. 

Page 66



Assessment:

Principle of Development and Economic Benefits

Policy S2 of the Part 1 Local Plan details the sustainable development principles that 
are a core principle running through the Plan. These include supporting key projects 
and promoting coastal recreation.

Policy S24 Green Infrastructure states that the Council will seek the creation of new and 
enhanced links and corridors between towns and settlements such as cycle ways and 
footpaths (point i). 

The justification to policy S25 – Sports, Leisure and Open Space, states that a key 
priority of the Council is to promote healthy lifestyles through improved access to sports, 
leisure and open spaces and improved access can be achieved, not only by improving 
the provision and quality of existing sports and leisure facilities, but by promoting 
opportunities to enjoy outdoor recreational activities, open spaces and the countryside. 

The proposal is considered to have synergies with all of these development plan 
policies. 

There are also synergies with the NPPF, at the heart of which is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. 

Of note is that National Cycle Route 72 – Hadrian’s Cycleway stretches the length of 
Hadrian's Wall World Heritage Site in the North of England, from the Glannaventa 
Roman Bath House at Ravenglass to the Arbeia Roman Fort and Museum at South 
Shields. It has links to the Sea to Sea (C2C), Coast & Castles South, Pennine Cycleway 
(North Pennines) and the Three Rivers cycle routes. The supporting information 
submitted with the application indicates that this proposed multi-user path for 
pedestrians and cyclists will complete a missing link for this National Cycle Route with 
substantial off-road safety benefits. The current route is along the coastal B5300 and 
other minor public roads inland. The proposed off-road route will provide an alternative 
and more direct route between Allonby and Silloth.

Consideration of Alternative routes

The project has been developed over a number of years and, as such, the route has 
evolved based on environmental and engineering constraints as well as through 
consultation. 

The southern start and the northern end of the cycleway were largely fixed due to 
existing sections of cycleway and the need to link into these networks. Additionally, the 
route is fundamentally a coastal route so it needs maintain a proximity to the coast. 
From the southern starting point, the route has been informed by a number of different 
constraints including ecological, archaeological, drainage, road safety, engineering, 
ownership as well as the need to be functional.  

It is acknowledged that the route passes through an important area of landscape and 
ecological sensitivity but it has been designed with this in mind. Where the off road 

Page 67

http://www.sustrans.org.uk/redirect?id=1094747349296
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-we-do/national-cycle-network/long-distance-rides/england/coast-and-castles-south
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/redirect?id=1095331865671
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/redirect?id=1095331865671
http://www.sustrans.org.uk/redirect?id=1095667925187


route is within the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) efforts have been made to 
minimise the land take and impact of the designation; for example an early iteration of 
the route travelled through the middle of much of the SSSI, whereas the proposed route 
has been carefully located at the edge largely abutting the existing road. This will 
minimise impact upon habitats.

Furthermore, the project has been a long-term objective of the Silloth on Solway 
Coastal Community Team with a basis set out in the AONB Management Plan. Formal 
preparations started after Allerdale Borough Council secured funding for the project 
through the Coastal Communities Fund in 2017. Since that time, engagement through 
the Silloth on Solway Coastal Community Team has continued and has informed the 
route and decisions on options. Section 4 of the Planning Statement sets out the main 
pre-application engagement undertaken, which including discussions with Natural 
England and the Solway Coast AONB.

Highway Safety

As it stands the National Cycle Route 72 between Allonby and Silloth is on the B5300 
coastal road for a short distance turning to the east with an inland route via Edderside, 
Holme St Cuthbert, north to Beckfoot and then east to Balladoyle and north into Silloth 
on the B5301. 

The proposals will provide off-road opportunities in three sections, providing betterment 
by reducing conflict with motor vehicles, albeit with a reliance on inland roads and the 
coastal B5300 for the remaining on-road links.

Of most significance is the proximity of the route very adjacent to the B5300 in parts and 
the number of crossings necessary to join, leave and re-join the off-road path. Concern 
has also been raised by local representations that the route will generate more cyclists 
in a greater concentration over the route with highway safety implications for groups of 
cyclists and motorists alike.

The applicant has provided a safety audit regarding highway crossings and junctions. 
This is has been discussed at pre-application stage with the County Highway Authority 
and agreed in principle. A full response and appropriate conditions have been received 
and the Highway Authority has no objections and agrees the slight diversion of the 
route.

Car Parks

A number of the responses, including the Holme St. Cuthbert Parish Council 
representation, make reference to the proposed cycleway impacting on a number of 
current car parks along the route.

The proposed cycleway does not seek to remove access to any car parks. A revised 
plan has been submitted (Drawing C002D) to show where the cycleway crosses formal 
car parks. If the route crosses informal car parks, suitable crossovers will be provided. 
However, due to the informal nature of the car parks they are not made ground and any 
crossovers would be required to take vehicle loading.

Page 68



English Coastal Path

The Applicant undertook pre-application discussion with Natural England, including with 
the England Coast Path Team to discuss the cycleway route and synergy with the two 
schemes. The proposed cycleway is a multi-user path, and as such can be used by 
walkers, as well as cyclists. The England Coast Path runs on the seaward side, parallel 
to the cycleway. It is located at a varied distance from the cycleway and offers an 
alternative, complementary route. It is also noted that Natural England have not 
objected to the Allonby to Silloth Cycleway.

Landscape/Visual Impact

The proposal is located within the Solway coast’s designated AONB and Hadrian’s Wall 
World Heritage Site Setting.

The landscape type is defined as “Lowland Landscape character Type E; Coastal Plain 
within the Solway Coast AONB landscape and Seascape character assessment 2010.

The proposed works and cycleway will be routed, in part, through the coastal dunes and 
grasslands area of the AONB adjacent to, but on the seaward side of the urban 
infrastructure and roads. The most sensitive part of the route through the margins of the 
dunes north of Mawbray have been considered. The straight alignment of a 2.5 metre 
wide tarmacadam path will have some visual impact and there will be harm arising from 
the introduction of this man-made material and the non-organic, straight character of the 
route.  However, the harm is minimised by locating the path, as far as practicable, to the 
existing coastal road. This not only results in the path being seen within the same vista 
as other previous interventions but also maximises the width of the remaining natural 
dune landscape.  

The applicant has also given careful consideration to the proposed surfacing of the off 
road sections of the cycleway. Overwhelming support for a tarmacadam surface was 
received at the public information event held on 12 December 2018. This was largely 
driven by feedback from users of the Maryport to Allonby section of the cycleway that 
was surfaced in part using a different, unbound gravel surface that discouraged people 
from using the route (such as immediately south of Allonby).  Furthermore, 
consideration was also given to the ongoing and future maintenance of the route. A 
tarmacadam surface requires less long term work. 

The applicant has offered the removal of additional fencing along the route in the 
interests of visual appearance of the route. It was originally thought that the fencing 
would offer some safeguarding of habitat and protected species but this has not been 
judged necessary as part of the mitigation measures. The lack of additional fencing has 
significant benefit in minimising visual and landscape impact.

Special Area of Conservation, Site of Special Scientific Interest and Ecology

There are two statutory designated sites within 2km of the site, the Upper Solway Flats 
& Marshes SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the Solway Firth Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC). The application site falls within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) 
of both designations, the siting within the SAC IRZ necessitating the screening of the 

Page 69



application under the Habitat Regulations. This is held on the Council’s Public Register.

The Solway is a large, complex estuary on the west coast of Britain, the SAC extending 
to nearly 44,000 hectares. It is one of the least-industrialised and most natural large 
estuaries in Europe and comprises of tidal rivers, estuaries, mud flats, sand flats, 
lagoons (including saltwork basins) (90%), salt marshes, salt pastures, salt steppes 
(10%).1

Natural England has been consulted who accept the conclusions and strategies with a 
recommended condition for a more detailed Environmental Management Plan. An 
Assessment of Likely Significant Effect has been judged by Natural England not to be 
required even without the planned mitigation.

The off-road sections of cycleway described are within an area of mixed habitats that 
support a host of flora and fauna.  The recorded species subject to consultation by local 
validation are identified as Great Crested Newts and Natterjack Toads with significant 
populations within the site. The main habitat flora identified, include general herbaceous 
vegetation of marran grass, sand sedge and red fescue.

The applicant has submitted a comprehensive ecological survey and extended surveys 
for specific species including breeding birdlife, Great Crested Newt and the Natterjack 
Toad.

The surveys have concluded that, despite the removal of habitat by means of the 
engineering works for the development, there will be no significant harm or impact. A 
mitigation strategy has been provided regarding replacement planting and natural 
regeneration. Protected species are to be safeguarded during the programme of works 
with a scheme of capture and relocation and trans-location of smaller species and their 
habitat flora.

In that respect, based on the submitted evidence, Natural England considers that the 
proposals are not likely to significantly affect the ecological interest features of flora and 
fauna. Officers therefore conclude the proposal will not have any significant impact on 
any ecological designations or protected species.

Heritage Assets 

The proposed cyclepath passes a number of listed buildings. All listed buildings are to 
the east of the route and within 20-60 metres. They are:-

 Rozenhof House, The Square Allonby  (Grade II)
 Moss/Bouch House (II)
 Quaker Meeting House (II)
 North Lodge (II) 
 Woodlands and Edendale (II)
 Solway View/ West View (II)
 Allonby House (II)

1 Joint Nature Conservation Committee - 
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013025 accessed 21st May 2019. 

Page 70

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/protectedsites/sacselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013025


 Globe Inn Cottage (II)
 Ship Hotel (II)
 Bridge House Farmhouse (II)
 Ostle House (II)
 New House (II)

Setting contributes to the significance of all of these assets, but the harm arising from 
the proposal will be less than substantial. Indeed, the physical change arising from a 
narrow ribbon of macadam within the coastal landscape setting that all of these 
buildings enjoy will be negligible. Functionally, the setting can only be enhanced as it 
will attract more visitors using sustainable, sensitive transport modes (cycling and 
walking) with these heritage assets better revealed and understood than if passing 
through by car.

The southernmost part site is just beyond the Allonby Conservation Area, although it is 
acknowledged that development in this location has the potential to affect the character 
and appearance of this designated heritage asset. The village’s history includes 
associations with herring fishing, salt and as a resort (especially before and after 
Silloth’s zenith as a resort). There is also a strong connection with Quakerism. 
Architecturally, the conservation area includes buildings that provide stroing legible links 
to this history; the former Quaker Meeting House, the fishing cottages, the former 
Quaker meeting room and the former Bathhouse. 

The impact to the area derived from the continuation of the cycleway northwards from 
its existing point of termination in the village can only be positive. This is a sustainable 
and sympathetic way of attracting more visitors into the village to experience and learn 
about the history without impacting on the character through new roads or traffic 
congestion. The interventions are minimal and it must also be noted that the majority of 
the cycleway through the village has already been permitted and implemented. As such 
the character and appearance of the area will be preserved. 

The site also has the potential to impact on the Mawbray Conservation Area. The area 
is focused on the settlement itself, a linear village orientated east west and extending 
inland from the coast road. There is late twentieth century infill of bungalows but the 
character is predominantly still that of farmsteads with rendered farmhouses 
whitewashed or bare and attached barns. The western end of the village features a 
small triangle of open land within the road junction and other wide verges. The vista 
from this sensitive visual receptor opens out to the dunes and views beyond to Criffel. 
The new tarmacadam path would constitute an intervention into this vista but not 
markedly so and the overall character and appearance of the dunes and unspoilt 
coastal landscape would remain.

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments within the site or nearby as to be 
influenced by the proposals.

The local archaeological finds in the wider area are numerous with a Roman legacy.  A 
variety of finds of Roman origin are noted along the route including axes, brooches, 
coins and bones. The main recorded sites within 50 metres of the route of the cycleway 
and associated are as follows:-

Page 71



 Hadrian’s Wall Milefortlet 15
 Hadrian’s Wall Signal Tower 15A, 15B, 16
 Beckfoot Cornmill
 Beckfoot Cemetery

The applicant has provided a full archaeological survey that concludes that the identified 
sites are well recorded and, as a whole, give a picture of Roman habitation and activity. 
There are no notable remains visible and the proposed works to achieve the cycleway 
are unlikely to impact significantly on the archaeology of the area. Further trial 
excavations are however required by the County Archaeologist to conclude matters.

By its very nature the path will have no visual impact on the historic setting.

Historic England has responded and agrees with the County Archaeologist that the 
recommended investigations must be concluded before a decision is issued. The 
recommendation to members is worded accordingly. 

Flooding and drainage 

The route falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been 
provided and the Environment Agency (EA) does not object subject to the 
implementation of all measures detailed within the FRA.

The proposed use of the land for outdoor recreation is classed as ‘water compatible’ 
within the NPPG and a sequential test or exception test is not required. The 
development is classed as ‘appropriate development’ in a flood zone despite the 
possibility of localised flooding that may affect the use of the off road sections 
periodically.

The proposed cycleway goes through rural areas and flood risk elsewhere will not 
increase as a result of the construction of the new sections of cycleway. The proposed 
cycleway will, however, involve the construction of additional impermeable hardstanding 
which will inevitably lead to an increase in surface water runoff rates. However, as the 
new sections of ‘off-road’ carriageway cycleway are alongside the coast, the increase in 
runoff has a negligible impact.

Residential amenity 

There are residential properties in reasonable proximity to the site, but given the scale 
of the works, the nature of the proposed use and the existence of the B Class road in 
close proximity, it is considered that the development in terms of operational works and 
construction would not significantly impact on residential amenity. The subsequent 
residential use would also have no significant impact.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will have 
not have any direct financial implications for the Council.

Page 72



Conclusions

The proposal has synergies with the priorities for the development of sustainable 
transport routes and sensitive improved access with tourism and local economy benefits 
to the coastal area. This is subject to appropriate conditions to safeguard ecological 
interests and highway safety. 

The assessment and conclusions are consistent with the approval for a cycleway 
between Maryport and Allonby, under ref 2/2012/0668.

RECOMMENDATION

THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS IS 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL MANAGER UPON:-

1) THE EXPIRATION OF THE NOTICE PERIOD TO UNITED UTILITIES AND NO 
NEW ISSUES RAISED DURING THAT PERIOD.

2) THE CONFRIMATION FROM THE COUNTY COUNCIL ARCHAEOLOGIST 
THAT THE RESULTS OF THE TRAIL EXCAVATIONS ARE ACCEPTABLE 
AND RAISE NO ISSUES THAT WOULD NECESSITATE PERMISSION BEING 
WITHELD. 

Page 73



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Time Limit:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.                                                                  
                                                                                                                              
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

In Accordance:

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:                                                                                                                 
A106827 Bird Report
A106827 Great Crested Newt Survey Report
A106827 Natterjack Toad Report
A106827 Report to Inform Habitats Regulations
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment - Allonby to Silloth
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation - Allonby to Silloth
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 1 to 6
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 1 to 12
C002C Proposed Arrangement Sheet 7 to12                                                                                
Option 2 Route Realignment (amended plan 15/5/2019)
C003 Proposed Site Location Sheet 1 to 3
C004 - Construction Details
A106827 Ecological Appraisal
A106827 NVC Survey Report
Road Safety Audit - Designers Response Rev A 
Allonby to Silloth Cycleway FRA Main Text
Allonby to Silloth Cycleway FRA Appendices

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The development hereby approved shall be implemented and used in full 
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment.                                                 

           Reason: In the interests of flood management

Page 74



4. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in full accordance 
with the findings and recommendations of the secondary Archaeological 
Investigation Report.

           Reason: In the interests of protecting archaeological interests in the area.

Page 75



Pre-commencement conditions:

5. Before development commences an Ecological Mitigation Plan based upon 
the principles of the submitted Ecological Appraisal and Species Surveys 
(A106827) shall be provided and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be undertaken in complete accordance 
with the approved plan.

          Reason : In the interests of safeguarding wildlife and biodiversity.

6. Before development commences, details of the road crossings and 
associated infrastructure and all route signage shall be provided and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be 
implemented as approved before the cycleway is brought into use.

          Reason : In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety.

7. The path (combined footways/cycleways) shall be designed, constructed   
and drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in this 
respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full specification 
has been approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed before 
the development is brought into use. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of 
highway safety.

8. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Method Statement 
including details of all on-site construction works, post-construction 
reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other restoration, together with 
details of their timetabling has been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority and shall include measures to secure: 

a) formation of the construction compound(s) and access tracks and any 
areas of hard standing; 

b) leaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 

c) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 
deposit of any materials on the highway; 

d) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working area

Page 76



The Construction Method Statement shall be carried out as approved. 

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of residents during the 
construction works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety. 

9. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 

a) proposed accommodation works and where necessary a programme 
for their subsequent removal and the reinstatement of street furniture 
and verges, where required, along the route; 

b) the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey 
for accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted 
with a Highway Authority representative; 

c) details of road improvement, construction specification, 
strengthening, maintenance and repair commitments if necessary as 
a consequence of the development; 

d) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge; 

e) retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and 
unloading for their specific purpose during the development; 

f) construction vehicle routing; 

g) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 
and other public rights of way/footway; 

h) the scheduling and timing of movements, temporary warning signs 
and banksman/escort details. 

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Construction Traffic Management Plan. 

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of residents during the 
construction works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety.

10. There shall be no additional fencing or other means of enclosure 
constructed before details have been provided and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be implemented as 
approved.                                                                                                                

Page 77



Reason : In the interests of visual amenity and highway safety.

 

Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application FUL/2019/0018

Proposed 
Development:

Demolition of existing stadium and re-development of the site to 
provide a sports stadium (Use Class D2) that incorporates a 
hospitality/ conference suite (Use class D1/D2), community facility 
(Use class D1), cafe (Use class A3), and office space (Use class 
B1a); and an outdoor sports pitch (Use class D2); with access, 
parking, landscaping and other associated works.

Location: Land North and South of
Black Path
Cloffocks
Workington

Applicant: Allerdale Borough Council

Drawing Numbers: Design and Access Statement
Archeological Desk Based Assessment
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report
Supporting Letter
Statement to Inform Appropriate Assessment
Phase 1 GeoEnvironmental Report
Flood Risk Assessment v03 7 March 2019
Planning Statement
Drainage Strategy Report
Ecological Impact Assessment
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Arboricultural Plans 1,2,3,4 and 5
Travel Plan
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
4268-AL(0)011 Rev D Proposed Site Plan
Transport Assessment
S4WC-ACM-00-XX-DR-GT-000001 Ground Investigations Plan
Heritage Assessment
4268-AL(0)110 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 0
4268-AL(0)111 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 1
4268-AL(0)112 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 2
4268-AL(0)113 Rev A - Proposed Floor Plans Level 3
4268-AL(0)120 Rev C - Proposed Roof Plan
4268-AL(0)130 Rev B - Proposed Elevations
4268-AL(0)140 Rev B - Proposed Section A-B
4268-AL(0)141 Rev B - Proposed Sections E & F
4268-AL(0)142 Rev A - Proposed Site Section A-D
4268-AL(0)144 Rev A - Proposed Section B & H
4268-AL(0)145 - Proposed Sections C & D
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000200A - Drainage Layout 1 of 3
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000201A - Drainage Layout 2 of 3 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000202A - Drainage Layout 3 of 3
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000203A - Drainage Pop up locations
4268-AL(0)040 Existing Site Sections A-D
Fish Habitat Survey Report
Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000104A Earthworks Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000100A Proposed Hardworks 
Layout - Sheet 1 of 2
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000101A - Proposed Hardworks 
Layout - Sheet 2 of 2
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000105A Proposed Kerbing Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000102A Proposed Levels Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000110A Proposed Platform Layout
Landscape Plans 1494 01 G Sheet 1 of 2
Landscape Plans  1495 02 G Sheet 2 of 2 
Bat Roost Survey
Statement of Community Involvement
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000030A- PROPOSED SWEPT 
PATH LAYOUT (SHEET 1 OF 3)
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000031A- PROPOSED SWEPT 
PATH LAYOUT (SHEET 2 OF 3)
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000032A- PROPOSED SWEPT 
PATH LAYOUT (SHEET 3 OF 3)
4268-AL(0)001 Rev A- Location Plan
Sequential Test
Lighting Report
4268-AL(0)010 - Rev D - Existing Site Plan
108115-001 Rev A - Car Park Layout

RECOMMENDATION: THE DECISION TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT 
TO CONDITIONS BE DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL 
MANAGER UPON THE SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT SECURING:-

 PUFFIN CROSSING (SIGNALLED PEDESTRIAN) A597 Circa £80,000
 BUS STOP IMPROVEMENTS/   BUS STOP SHELTERS Circa £15,000
 FOOTWAY LIGHTING (ENHANCED ACCESS) Circa £10,277.76
 FOOTWAY ALONGSIDE SOUTH SIDE OF A597 BETWEEN ROUNDABOUT AND 

CHURCH STREET JUNCTIONS Circa £24,034.20

Page 84



Summary

Issue Conclusion

Historic use The Site is split into two parcels of land, the north and south, by the 
access path known as ‘Black Path’. The northern parcel comprises 
Borough Park football stadium (Use Class D1) and Lonsdale Park 
(open space, formerly football, greyhound and motorcycle racing 
stadium). The northern part of the site has an established and 
historic use for stadia. From their original home at Lonsdale Park, 
Workington Reds relocated to their permanent home, Borough Park, 
in 1937.The existing Borough Park stadium will be demolished and 
the new larger stadium will replace it. The proposed 3G pitch will be 
in the locality of the previously located Lonsdale Park Stadium (now 
demolished and open space).

The southern parcel comprises car parking associated with Allerdale 
House, a pay and display car parking extension for Workington town 
centre and the recreational sports ground (Use Class D2) that forms 
an extension of the neighbouring Workington Leisure Centre.

Principle - 
sustainable 
location.

It is proposed to demolish the existing Workington AFC football 
stadium and to construct in its place a new stadium with a capacity of 
circa 8,000. The stadium will also house a number of land uses to 
maximise the economic, social and environmental sustainability of 
the stadium complex.

The land uses within the stadium building include: 

 The main stadium with pitch (D2). 
 Ancillary sporting facilities to include corporate and function 

room areas (D1/D2), café (A3) and an external 3G pitch. 
 Office space (B1a).
 NHS (community) facilities (D1). 

The ancillary corporate and function rooms will be hired out on non- 
match days and the office space and NHS uses will also be income 
generators to support a sustainable economic future for the stadium 
complex. 

The all-weather multi-use training pitch will be constructed on land 
immediately east of the stadium and this will be available for hire as 
an income generator and will further enhance the community 
sporting facility offer in the locality adjacent to the existing sports 
centre. 

A car parking area will be created on the south side of the Mill 
Stream (also known as Soapery Beck) and will be connected to the 
stadium and training pitch by a new footbridge erected over this 

Page 85



watercourse. 

Footpaths will be created around the Development, including along 
the southern bank of the River Derwent and the site will be 
landscaped and planted with trees and other vegetation to improve 
the public realm and provide habitat mitigation and enhancement.

The sports facilities will still account for the majority floor space of the 
stadium complex and this development is assessed considering the 
aggregation of land uses within the proposed stadium development 
package. 

A sequential test has been undertaken with regard to the effect of the 
B1 (a) town centre use on the vitality of the town centre and to 
address matters relating to flood risk. 

The NHS community facility is not a town centre use as defined by 
the NPPF 2019 and the provision of a new primary health care 
facility will provide modern, accessible facilities for all members of 
the community and further supports this facility as a community 
destination and community hub. 

The location of the application site at the edge of the town centre 
represents the most sustainable location to deliver a new stadium 
complex for Workington which is the Borough’s key service centre 
with good links to its public transport infrastructure. This is a 
sustainable site which complies with national and local planning 
policies.

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

The supporting evidence includes a Flood Risk Assessment and the 
sequential and exemption tests.

This demonstrates the development has incorporated appropriate 
mitigation and resilience measures to address any flood risk and 
sequentially represents the site at least probability of flooding 
capable of accommodating the proposal. 

A sequential approach is designed to ensure that areas at little or no 
risk of flooding from any source are developed in preference to areas 
at a higher risk. The aim is to keep development out of medium and 
high flood risk areas (Flood Zone 2 and 3) and other areas affected 
by other sources of flooding where possible. 

The stadium building is mostly located in Flood Zone 1 with a small 
proportion of the building located within the existing Flood Zones 2 
and 3. The 3G pitch and public open space areas and parking are in 
Flood Zones 2 and 3.  A key matter in the siting of the stadium is its 
relationship with the adjacent River Derwent and proximity to the 
coast and the potential for river and tidal flooding.

Page 86



The NPPF defines classifications of development types based on 
vulnerability to flooding. These classifications help determine 
whether a development is ‘compatible’ with a specific Flood Zone. 

The NPPF defines the office facilities classed as “less vulnerable” 
which can be located within Zone 1, 2 or 3a.

The healthcare facilities classed as “more vulnerable” should be 
located in Zones 1 or 2 and subject to the Exception Test if located in 
Zone 3a. A sequential and exception test has been completed and is 
accepted.

The all-weather sports pitch and outdoor amenity space is classed 
as ‘Water Compatible’ uses. 

The layout has been designed such that the more vulnerable parts of 
the development are located in the lower risk areas of the site and 
the water compatible parts have been located in the higher risk 
areas. 

Alternative sites within Workington locality in lower risk areas (flood 
zone 1) have been discounted through a sequential site assessment 
exercise.

Foul Drainage will be to the mains, the detailed foul drainage 
scheme can be secured by planning condition.

Surface water drainage can be secured by planning condition 
following a sustainable hierarchy principle.

Design and Layout The stadium façade comprises a mixture of glass, metal and a lattice 
of timber, with transparent areas to reveal the internal activity.

The final design sees the stadium take an elliptical form, angled 
across the site to create a clear main access point in the south 
western corner, visible from the maximum number of key viewpoints 
to both pedestrians and road users. The shape and variety of 
materials also disaggregates the overall mass. 
The scheme demonstrates an integrated and unifying theme through 
the use of complementary surfacing and hard landscaping materials 
and incorporates tree planting and green infrastructure.

It is considered that the stadium complex is well-designed and an 
inclusive place, both within the stadium building itself and in the 
wider areas to include areas of public realm, the 3G pitch, car parks 
and footpaths.

Sport Provisions The standard of the proposed sports facilities meets the 
requirements of Sport England.

Impact on The proposal is acceptable to the highway authority. The site has 

Page 87



highway network 
and car parking

good links to the town centre and public transport.

The highway and pedestrian access arrangements are acceptable.

A total of 43 car parking spaces will be provided at the site, which will 
predominately be provided for the NHS facility (38 parking spaces, 
including 6 disabled spaces), while 4 disabled spaces will be located 
on the east side of the stadium for the office development. 
Remaining parking requirements will be available at the Griffin Street 
car park to the south of the site. It is proposed to extend the Griffin 
Street car park from 103 parking spaces to 204 parking spaces, to 
accommodate the cumulative parking requirements of the NHS 
facility and office developments.

The submitted Transport Assessment demonstrates that the site is 
accessible by sustainable modes of travel and that safe and suitable 
access can be gained to the development. Furthermore, the residual 
trip generation and impact assessments demonstrate that the traffic 
impacts of the proposals will not have a material or significant 
detrimental impact on the highway network.

A signal controlled “Puffin” pedestrian crossing across the A597 is 
required to reflect the modal split assumption in the Transport 
Assessment. This shall be secured by a Grampian condition1 and the 
pedestrian crossing shall be implementation prior to occupation of 
any use of the stadium to be secured by planning condition. The 
funding of this Puffin crossing is to be secured through a s106 
agreement obligation (monies paid to County Council as the 
Highways Authority). 

A Travel Plan will be required to be secured by planning condition 
based on the principles of the submitted Travel Plan Framework. 
This is to ensure that the modal split assumptions contained within 
the Transport Assessment are realised. Funding the monitoring of 
the Plan is to be secured via a s106 obligation.

Ecology and 
biodiversity 

The development is within the Impact Risk Zones (IRZ) for the 
following:-

 River Derwent & Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of 
Conservation (England) (SAC)2.

 River Derwent and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI).3

 Siddick Pond Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).4

1 A condition worded in a negative form prohibiting development authorised by the planning permission until a specified action has 
been taken (such as delivery of off-site infrastructure).
2 UK00300032
3 1006657
4 1058349

Page 88



The location within the SAC’s IRZ and the need for mitigation 
resulted in an Appropriate Assessment being required to accord with 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

An acceptable ecological assessment of the site including the River 
Derwent and Mill Stream watercourse has been submitted.  There 
are no objections from Natural England subject to conditions

Planning conditions can secure the protection of important habitats 
and species associated with the River Derwent SAC and, notably, 
migratory species include fish and otter. 

A Construction Environmental Management Plan can ensure that 
any piling works or any construction or operational lighting 
arrangements do not adversely affect protected species. This can be 
secured by planning condition.

Heritage assets 
and archaeology

The site does not contain any designated heritage assets. Borough 
Park is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset, with a 
historic building recording being necessary due to its local 
importance as a sporting venue. No adverse impact on heritage 
assets including the setting of listed buildings e.g St. Michael’s 
Church, conservation areas (e.g St. Michael’s) and archaeology.

Residential 
Amenity

No adverse impact regarding noise to neighbouring properties or 
between the uses within the stadium complex subject to a suitable 
noise condition.

Visual and 
Landscape 
impacts

No adverse visual impacts on key receptors including residential 
areas and highway routes. This is a large structure that will be 
prominent in the landscape, but it is a ‘landmark’ and gateway 
building and will be adjacent to other larger buildings and areas of 
open space and car parking and therefore no adverse landscape 
impacts.

Contamination There are no objections from the Coal Authority or Environmental 
Protection subject to matters relating to contamination being suitably 
addressed by planning conditions.

Proposal

Planning permission is sought for:-

 The demolition of the existing Borough Park stadium (Workington AFC).

 Erection of a circa 8,000 capacity sports stadium (Use Class D2) that incorporates a 
hospitality/ conference suite (Use Class D1/D2). The floor space extends to 
6,758m2.

 2,817m2 community (NHS) facility (Use Class D1) and café (Use Class A3).

Page 89



 3,022m2 office space (Use Class B1a).

 An outdoor sports pitch and changing facilities (Use Class D2).

 Associated vehicular and pedestrian access, parking, landscaping and drainage.

To accommodate the new stadium complex it is proposed to demolish the existing 
Workington AFC football stadium (Workington Reds Ground) and to construct, in its place, 
a new stadium with a capacity of 8,000. The stadium building will also house a new 
community health centre and offices to ensure the development serves multiple functions. 

An all-weather multi-use training pitch will be constructed on land immediately east of the 
stadium. Car parking will be created on the south side of the Mill Stream (also known as 
Soapery Beck) and will be connected to the stadium and training pitch by a new footbridge 
erected over this watercourse. Footpaths and areas of public open space will be created 
around the development, including along the southern bank of the River Derwent. The site 
will be landscaped and planted with trees and other vegetation.

Although the stadium as a building is proposed to incorporate additional uses, the sports 
facilities will still account for the majority floor space of the development. Each element of 
the development is addressed below.

Stadium

The stadium will provide a hybrid (grass and artificial) pitch to meet Rugby Football League 
(RFL) and Football Federation (FF) specifications. There will also be a spectator hospitality 
suite (Use Class D1 / D2)/ conference suite.

Vehicular pitch access will be from the southern stand. There will also be 4x admin offices; 
4x manager / coach offices, 1 x press interview room, doping control facility, home and 
away changing facilities; storage and equipment facilities, treatment room, IT and plant 
rooms, 4x concessions and restrooms in each stand and 4x spectator stands. The stand 
details are as follows:-

Location Capacity Supporters Seats/Standing
West (Main Stand) 2,500 Home Seating 
North 1,300 Away Standing 
East c2,500 Home Standing 
South 1,600 Home Standing 

It is likely the facility will be accessible Monday – Sunday, 7.30am – 11pm to allow for the 
clubs’ employees and the sports teams to access the facilities for early morning training 
and/or office hours, as well as allowing for later closing on training or match days.

Outdoor pitch 

The proposed outdoor pitch, located to the east of the stadium, will serve two purposes; to 
provide an additional training ground should the rugby and/or football club require it, as well 
as providing the community with a high-specification community pitch for hire. 

Page 90



The outdoor pitch will provide a 3G artificial pitch, floodlighting and pitch markings. It is 
expected that the community sports pitch will be accessible Monday – Friday, 6am – 10pm, 
and Saturday – Sunday, 7.45am-10pm in line with hours of operation for the Workington 
Leisure Centre.

Hospitality facilities and conferencing

Forming an ancillary hospitality suite, it is proposed that the floor space be granted 
planning permission for Use Class D1 and D2 allowing for its private hire, on non-match 
days, as a conference suite. Located within the first floor of the western stand of the 
stadium, the hospitality/conferencing suite is primarily accessed via the main entrance in 
the south western corner. 

It is proposed that the hospitality/conferencing suite will comprise 1x directors’ lounge 
and private bar, 2x hospitality lounges with a shared bar overlooking the pitch,
4x private boxes, 1x private box / TV recording box, 1x large kitchen, store rooms and 
cellars and disabled, female, and male restrooms. It is proposed that the hospitality/ 
conference suite will be accessible Monday – Sunday, 7.30am – 11pm, to mirror the 
operating hours of the stadium. 

Due to these facilities supporting the operation of the stadium, extensions to these hours 
may be required on a limited number of occasions, due to exceptional circumstances such 
as one-off events.

The space will provide a unique offering in the area, providing high-quality hospitality and 
conferencing facilities, with views overlooking the pitch. For sporting events, there is a 
hospitality layout, comprising a directors’ lounge, private boxes, and space for TV crews to 
record and stream the events.

Offices 

Located across the ground, first, second, and third floors of the eastern stand of the 
stadium, the offices are provided with a dedicated, private ground floor pedestrian access, 
in addition to being accessible via a restricted entrance from the concourse. 

It is proposed that the offices will comprise a ground floor with a lobby, reception/waiting 
area, office, and meeting room with the upper three floors laid out as open plan offices with 
storage, IT and plant facilities.  2x lifts and 3x privately accessed escape staircases will 
serve this office suite. It is proposed that the office facility will be accessible to employees 
24 hours, 7 days a week to allow for the working hours to be determined by the future 
tenant

NHS community facilities

This use extends to 2,817m2 of floor space. Located across the ground and first floors of 
the southern stand of the stadium, the proposed primary care facility has several private 
ground floor pedestrian access points. 

The primary health care facility proposes a pharmacy on the ground floor with internal and 

Page 91



external pedestrian access, a lobby, reception, ancillary cafe and waiting area, toilet, 
general store and admin room.

The first floor comprises consulting and treatment rooms, 1x dispensary, 8x office/ study/ 
meeting rooms, 1x waiting room, staff and patient toilets, 2x staff rooms and 6x store/ utility 
rooms. There will be 2x lifts, 3x privately accessed escape staircases and 1x plant room 
and a private clinical waste disposal, separated from the other stadium uses. 

It is proposed that the primary health care facility, including the pharmacy, will be 
accessible Monday – Saturday, 8.00am – 8pm.

Access principles 

Access is proposed on a multi-modal basis utilising the site’s sustainable location. The 
Institution of Highways and Transportation ‘Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot’ 
suggests that, for commuting, 1km and 2km are considered the acceptable and preferred 
maximum walking distances respectively. A significant proportion of the residential areas of 
Workington lie within a 2km distance from the site.

Vehicle and pedestrian access to Borough Park is currently via the A597 roundabout to the 
south west of the ground. The junction is utilised for the new stadium and will also provide 
access for service vehicles that may need to enter the site, though these will not be 
permitted around match times.

The proposed NHS facility and office development would not be in operation at the same 
time as matches at the proposed stadium; some of the 43 car parking spaces would be 
utilised for disabled spectators, match officials, staff and players. 

Pedestrian access

On match days, pedestrian access at the new vehicle access will be restricted, with access 
for pedestrians via a ‘Fan-Zone’ area to the east of the vehicle access.  Pedestrian links 
from the Griffin Street car park and Allerdale House will be used to connect the car park 
with the ‘Fan-Zone’ access.

A pedestrian crossing shall upgrade the pedestrian access across the A597 from the 
stadium to upgraded bus stops and the wider pedestrian footpaths. 

Pedestrian links into the site will be provided at the new vehicle access to the NHS facility 
and office development. A pedestrian link will also be provided to the Griffin Street car park, 
with a new pedestrian bridge across Mill Stream, to the south of the site. 

Footways are in place on both sides of the carriageway within the immediate proximity of 
the site, with dropped kerbs at all crossing points. New Bridge Street has footways on both 
sides of the road, with the northern footway set back from the carriageway. This footway 
provides a connection to the Tesco pedestrian access and crossing at the roundabout. The 
site is located within close proximity to the majority of Workington, with a good level of 
pedestrian facilities in the vicinity of the site, to encourage walking for staff and visitors to 
the NHS facility and Office development.

Page 92



A puffin crossing on the A597 is proposed to provide safe pedestrian access to the 
upgraded bus stops and the wider pedestrian routes that provide access to public transport 
including the railway station.

Cycle access

Up to 75 cycle parking spaces will be provided at the site, as required for the office and 
NHS facility. The cycle parking infrastructure will be located to allow good access to the 
development facilities, being sited in close proximity to the NHS facility and office main 
entrances. The cycle parking spaces will provide shelter and simple, non-obstructed 
access.

Coaches 

Team coaches associated with match days would also be allowed to access the stadium 
grounds to drop off and pick up. Event stewards would be on hand to manage the operation 
of the coach parking area when required. Pedestrian access to north of the car park is via a 
new pedestrian footbridge over the Beck. Pedestrian and cycle access to the site is 
available via the ‘Black Path’ which crosses the length of the site.

5% of spectators are expected to travel to the stadium by coach. This equates to 100 
spectators, all expected to be away fans. An average coach carries 50 people at a time 
and, therefore, 2 coach parking spaces would be required. With the stadium at maximum 
capacity (8,000 spectators), the proportion of fans travelling by coach is expected to 
increase considerably. A total of 1,300 spectators have been considered to travel to the 
stadium by coach under this scenario. At 50 spectators per coach, this would equate to a 
parking requirement for 26 coaches. This coach parking can be located within an overspill 
parking area to the east of the Griffin Street car park.  This coach/ overspill area would 
likely be surfaced in ‘grasscrete’ or similar surface finish

Car access and Parking

Vehicle access to Allerdale House car park is via Griffin Street to the south. Griffin Street 
can be accessed from the west and east (albeit there is no eastbound exit). The access will 
take the form of a priority junction, which will provide sufficient capacity to accommodate 
the traffic generated by the site on a typical weekday and on match days

A total of 43 car parking spaces is provided at the stadium site. Of these 39 spaces 
(including 6 disabled) are providing in proximity to the NHS facility. 4 additional disabled 
spaces will be located on the east side of the stadium for the office development.  
Remaining parking requirements will be available at the Griffin Street car park to the south 
of the site. It is proposed to extend the Griffin Street car park from 103 parking spaces to 
196 parking spaces.

On a match day, car parking on site will be restricted with the majority of spectators, 
travelling by car, parking at Allerdale House and within the extended Griffin Street car park. 
The parking requirements for a match day have been based on an attendance of 2,000 
spectators, using the first principle trip generations. During events or special matches, 
where attendance may be higher, temporary satellite car parks may be required. These 
could include the further temporary extension to the Griffin Street car park or using land to 

Page 93



the south of the existing Workington Station car park. These would be arranged on an 
event by event basis and included in the event specific management plan.

The stadium has a maximum capacity of 8,000. At this level of attendance, the match day 
operations will change, with a greater emphasis on non-car trips. Based on this and the 
level of spectators, the total parking requirement has been estimated to be circa 850 
parking spaces.  The remaining parking requirements would be within the town where there 
are circa.1150 public off-street car parking spaces. The additional parking demand, when 
8,000 spectators attend, would equate to circa 40% of the existing town centre off-street 
public car parking spaces.

For the Rugby World Cup games and special events which may have even higher 
attendance, temporary satellite car parks may be required and could include: further 
temporary extension to the Griffin Street car park; land to the south of the existing 
Workington Station car park and utilising car parking within the Derwent Park stadium, 
accessed from the gyratory next to Workington Station. 

Public Realm and Landscaping

There will be protection of pedestrians from unwanted vehicle access through the siting of 
functional street furniture. 

A new public realm area will be to the south of the stadium to create a new entrance 
feature to the stadium complex. The space will be developed using concrete paving 
materials seeking to provide a robust design.

Formal landscaping is proposed within the main public zones in the south and west, with an 
informal / semi-natural approach to the north and east along the river edge. Minimal work is 
proposed in proximity to the riverbank, in order to provide a stand-off zone for construction 
activities to protect the existing integrity of this riverside location.

With regard to trees, it is proposed to remove low-quality trees but retain the majority of 
mature trees and vegetation to protect the existing wildlife corridor, particularly along the 
riverbank. There is the proposed retention of most of the trees and groups identified in the 
Arboricultural Survey as Category B. 

Moving through the site to the south and west, it is envisaged that the tree planting 
becomes more formalised with a combination of avenue type planting and informal groups. 
Open areas of ground and margins will be a mix of regularly mown amenity grass with 
extensive areas of native wildflower seeding. This will include mixes such as the National 
Vegetation Classification type MG5 generally, with a wet meadow/margin mix being used 
over the newly formed overland flow route to the river, east of the new training pitch.  A mix 
of native bulb planting will also be included within the overall planting strategy.

Tree planting will also be incorporated around the edges of the new car parking to the 
south of the Beck. This will reinforce retained planting. The Beck itself and its associated 
banks will not be affected by the proposals.

Page 94



Lighting

Lighting within the scheme will include floodlighting in the stadium and within the 3G pitch. 
There will be external surrounding lighting of the areas of public open space, pathways, 
roads and car parking. 

Flood Resilience and Drainage

Existing site levels sit lower than the recommended finished floor protection level. The 
stadium development requires platforming and land raising to achieve design levels 
appropriate to protect the development against tidal flooding. The finished floor level of the 
stadium building and associated facilities has been set to 7.0 m Above Ordnance Datum 
(AOD) and the outdoor sports pitch has been set to 6.1 metres AOD.

The drainage strategy includes the lowering of the land to the east of the all-weather 3G 
pitch, including the embankment adjacent to the Mill Stream (Soapery Beck). This lowered 
area of land is intended to provide a flow route should the culvert under the New Bridge 
Road become blocked during a flood event. 

The surface water drainage design includes 2 outfalls into the tidal extents of the River 
Derwent, the technical details to be secured by planning condition.

The foul drainage strategy looks to connect the proposed development into the existing 
public sewer network located approximately 150m south of the site. The proposal currently 
include for the provision of a new wastewater pumping station. The final design of the 
pumping station and its requirement will be confirmed following receipt of suitable drainage 
investigation works and survey data and secured by planning condition.
 

Site and Surroundings

The site occupies an area of approximately 9.2ha and lies circa. 650m north-west of 
Workington Town Centre and immediately to the south of the River Derwent. 

The site is split into two parcels of land, the north and south, by the access path known as 
‘Black Path’. Each parcel comprises the following:

 The northern parcel - Borough Park football stadium  and Lonsdale Park (open 
space, formerly football, greyhound and motorcycle racing stadium); 

  The southern parcel - Car parking associated with Allerdale House, pay and display 
car parking extension for Workington town centre, and the recreational sports ground 
that forms an extension of the neighbouring Workington Leisure Centre.

The immediate surrounding area comprises commercial, leisure, and sports and 
recreational uses, with integrated open space. Areas to the north and south of the site are 
largely defined by residential developments, with some commercial and industrial uses.

The River Derwent abuts the site’s northern boundary, creating a barrier between the 

Page 95



proposed stadium and the Northside residential development. To the west of the northern 
parcel lies the A597 road, beyond which is Workington’s Tesco Superstore (Use Class A1) 
and Derwent Park Stadium home of the Workington Town Rugby League Football Club 
(‘Workington Town’) and formerly the Workington Comets speedway team. The A597 is a 
7.3mwide single carriageway road which connects the A596 to the north and Workington to 
the south. There are cycle and pedestrian footways.

Workington Leisure Centre (Use Class D2) is situated to the east on Griffin Street and is a 
modern facility opened in September 2016 as part of the initial phase of regenerating the 
Lower Derwent Valley for leisure, sports and recreational use.

Allerdale House, Allerdale Borough Council’s headquarters, is situated on the western 
boundary of the southern parcel. Beyond this, to the west, the existing vacant site has been 
granted detailed planning permission for a Marston’s restaurant/public house and 
Travelodge hotel.

Griffin Street bounds the Site to the south. Beyond this lies a stretch of open grass land 
backed by a tree and hedge-lined bank, which separates the site from the mix of residential 
and other uses on Derwent Street (a designated conservation area). 

Currently, vehicular access to the site is granted via the roundabout on the A597, with 
entrances from the west of Black Path or via Griffin Street. Public footpaths allow access to 
the site from all directions, with crossing points situated on all main roads.

The bus stops situated on the A597 are served by the 300 and 30 bus services linking 
northbound to Flimby, Maryport and, in this case of the 300, to Carlisle. Southbound 
services link to the town centre and onwards to Whitehaven.
Workington station is 600m to the southwest, served by Carlisle to Whitehaven and Barrow 
services. Connections at Carlisle permit onward travel directly to London, Glasgow and 
Manchester with direct services to Liverpool due this summer. 

As per the Environment Agency’s ‘flood map for planning’, the site is located within Flood 
Zones 1, 2, and 3.

The site is not located within a conservation area, nor does it contain any listed buildings. 
However, it is adjacent to the St. Michael’s and Brow Top conservation areas, and several 
listed buildings. There are no known Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) registered on the 
site.

Relevant Planning History

Site

 2/1983/0284 - Formation of vehicular access and layout. Approved

Adjacent to the site

 2/2014/0271 Erection of sports and leisure centre.  Approved

Page 96



 SCR/2014/0003 Screening opinion request for proposed Leisure Centre (Not EIA)
 2/2018/0292 Travel Lodge and Marston’s public house. Approved
 2/2017/0225 Marston’s public house on land to the northern perimeter of Tesco’s 

store. Approved

Representations

Workington Town Council 

The Statement of Community Involvement did not mention the Town Council (or indeed any 
parish tier authority). Committee grateful for the presentation at its last meeting.  Various 
environmental statements raised concerns about the impact of the development on 
migratory fish and there should be due regard of this sensitive issue. The Committee further 
noted that the site was planned for construction in a Level 3 Flood Zone and that, therefore, 
the mitigation for such a serious risk should be hardwired into the construction. It noted the 
proposed mitigations and urged planners to seek additional reassurance that this was 
sufficient for such a high risk. The risk, it further observed, came from three directions – 
tidal, Soapery Beck and the River Derwent, and that modelling to reflect the potential 
interaction of all three should be considered very robust before any consent is granted. The 
Committee welcomes the visual impact but sceptical as to whether such an outcome would 
actually be delivered if it proved that cost constraints had to be addressed. Reassurance 
sought that Planners were considering the application as it was presented and not a 
subsequent watered down version that would have a more intrusive visual impact. Concern 
the likely cost of some aspects of the development and, whilst accepting that this was not a 
Planning Matter, did raise a potential issue of overpromise in the application stage, which 
would be difficult to undo, once the costly ground investigations and other preparatory work 
had been undertaken. The Committee noted that it had not been able to give as much time 
to considering the application as it might have liked, given the tight timetable required by 
the planning process. However, the Committee felt the application had sufficient merit to 
proceed and therefore Recommended acceptance, subject to the satisfactory mitigation of 
its concerns.

ABC Environmental Protection

No objections subject to planning conditions relating to noise, lighting and contamination.

Cumbria Highways

No objections subject to highway planning conditions and highway works secured by a 
section 278 Highways agreement.

Highways England (formerly Highways Agency)

19.2.19 Original comments 

Pre-application discussions took place between Highways England and the developer’s 

Page 97



consultant in November 2018.  

The Transport Assessment does not include a Saturday peak time assessment of the A66 
Ramsey Brow junction. We had specifically requested this in our comments to the scoping 
note provided to us in November 2018.
In order for us to carry out a full review of the application and come to a view, we would 
request this assessment is undertaken and provided to us. 

Highways England formally recommends that this application is not determined until at least 
19 April 2019 to allow sufficient time for the assessment work detailed above to be provided 
to and reviewed by Highways England. Should this be carried out to the satisfaction of 
Highways England before this time then it could be determined sooner. I will inform you in 
writing if this is the case. 

16.4.19 Further Response 

No objections

Environment Agency

20.3.19 Comments received relate to revised Flood Risk Assessment 

Reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), referenced Stadium for West Cumbria Flood 
Risk Assessment project number: 60586269, produced by AECOM, dated 07 March 2019 
submitted with the application. Satisfied that it demonstrates that the proposed 
development will not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding or exacerbate flood risk 
elsewhere. The proposed development must proceed in strict accordance with this FRA 
and the mitigation measures identified as it will form part of any subsequent planning 
approval. Any proposed changes to the approved FRA and / or the mitigation measures 
identified will require the submission of a revised FRA as part of an amended planning 
application.

The main revisions presented in Revision 03 of the FRA.

i. Historic Flood Risk- Section 3.4 on the subject of Historic Flood Risk now refers to 
information from the ‘2009 Cumbria Floods Technical Report’ and ‘The 2015 
Workington Including Barepot and Camerton Section 19 Flood Investigation Report’. 
The documents describe in detail recent historic flood events and this has informed 
the FRA response to addressing the impact of the development on flood risk.

ii. Climate Change – The FRA addressed the need to include a separate climate 
change section in the FRA, and in particular to test the data that was used to 
produce the hydraulic model (UKCP09 data) against updated climate change data 
on Sea Level Rise (UKCP18) which was released in November 2018, (prior to the 
planning application submission).

The FRA tests the current maximum modelled tidal flood level at the site (0.5% AEP event) 
inclusive of UKCP09 singular climate change allowance projected for the year 2115 used in 
the Environment Agency model, against the range of allowances provided by the updated 

Page 98



Sea Level Rise data as part of the UKCP18 datasets available.

The FRA concludes that, based on a 60 year design life for the development, the calculated 
flood level at 2080 is 6.55m AOD, this is some 60mm lower than the level based on the 
original Environment Agency model levels (original levels based on 2115 time frame). With 
reference to the figures provided, the finished floor level provided for the more vulnerable 
aspects of the development is considered still appropriate in the FRA on the basis that the 
freeboard is maintained over the (60 year) design life of the scheme.
However, it is noted that, in the event that the design life of the scheme is extended, there 
will be less freeboard provided at some point between 2080 and 2090, although there will 
still be some freeboard in the 2100 scenario based on the latest climate change 
predictions.

Given the development has a 60 year lifetime, the findings are as expected, with UKCP09 
medium emissions 95th percentile extrapolated to 2115 being greater than the UKCP18 
95th percentile RCP8.5 for 2080. 
Therefore for the purpose of this development it is considered that due diligence has been 
applied in consideration of Sea Level Climate Change, based on current understanding and 
in the absence of detailed guidance which is still being developed.

No objection to revised Flood Risk Revision v03 dated 7 March 2019.

Workington Flood Action Group

The accumulated impact of the extended stadium, training pitch and landscaping in the 
immediate area must be given due consideration and the potential to increase flood risk not 
only to these sites but to the wider area that is already at risk from flooding. This principle is 
set out in the National Policy Framework. There would be no concerns in developing the 
existing site with the same footprint. Planning practice guidance through the Framework 
Local Planning Authorities also advise that inappropriate development be away from areas 
at a high risk of flooding.

The Aecom report appears to significantly underestimate the flood risk to the area 
surrounding the current stadium and, contrary to the report, the area to be developed is not 
a flood flow route, it is a valuable flood plain. Flood plains provide valuable storage during 
flood events. Historically a dog track was on the proposed extended area to be developed. 
The dog track was known to flood from high flows on the River Derwent, or high 
astronomical tides or a combination of both.

It is noted that the Aecom report flood mapping uses a mean high water spring tide. The 
use of this level should be queried with the Environment Agency. The Aecom mapping 
appears to omit mapping which shows a 1 in 200 year tidal surge – is this not standard 
mapping for developments in at risk areas? For the 100 year event comparing the baseline 
results with joint probability post‐development results, the development pushes flooding off 
the site. This does not appear to happen for the 200 year mapping and this would suggest 
an error and requires further investigation. 

Flooding is complex and modelling cannot and should not be fully relied on, it does have 
limitations and, in certain circumstances, it can greatly underestimate the impact a 

Page 99



development can have. Local knowledge is invaluable in these circumstances. The 
displacement of water and reduction in flood plain needs to have counter measures in 
place.  There is no mention in the report how the loss of flood plain will be compensated 
for. In Cockermouth an existing building is undertaking resilience/resistance measures and 
they are providing compensatory storage. Why is there no proposed compensatory 
storage?

The LiDAR data is overlaid with the outline of the area to be developed and the current 
flood risk mapping. These show the scale of the potential loss of flood storage when 
compared with the proposed build up. It also clearly shows that the area is at risk of 
flooding greater than a 1 in 100 year. The Aecom report is misleading on the associated 
flood risk to not only the development but to the wider area.

A one in 100 year risk is actually probability so, in simple terms every year on average 
there is 3.33’ days that there is a risk of flooding. A 1 in 200 year flood risk, the post 
development estimation does not guarantee that this development will be safe and flood 
free for the lifetime of the development contrary to Aecom’s statement. Two 200‐year floods 
could occur two years in a row, or a month apart, depending on how much rain is falling on 
the catchment. 

The AOD level for Hall Park View area of Workington is between 6m AOD and 7m AOD 
(margin of tolerance plus or minus 0.125 m). The Aecom report produced for the 
Environment Agency estimates the Hall Park View area is at risk from flooding in a 1 in 20 
year event; this demonstrates an extremely high risk of flooding. Comparing the AOD levels 
with the above data, the outlined area is of a high risk and also does not correlate with the 
information in the Aecom flood report.

The displaced flood water will increase and cause somewhere else to flood and to greater 
extent. The flood resilience/resistance measures taken by property owners in the 
surrounding area could fail due to an increase in flood level/depth. Modelling and mapping 
do have limitations and on this level mapping is NOT always effective in highlighting the 
increased risk.

The Aecom report mentions potential risk from reservoir failure. The report does not specify 
which reservoir. Please, can you clarify which reservoir? The Barepot reservoir is in a state 
of disrepair and is not maintained. Aecom should be aware of this because they refer to the 
S.19 report produced by Cumbria County Council following the 2015 flood event. The s.19 
report includes photographs clearly showing that the retaining reservoir wall is not 
maintained and poses a credible risk to life and property. Aecom referred to this report 
when they produced reports and carried out river modelling on behalf of the Environment 
Agency for the Lower Derwent.

There is no sustainable drainage strategy for this site and no hierarchy can be followed due 
to the tidal levels.

There should be compensatory storage for the loss that the development will have. The 
development of this area could be linked to providing much needed funding for flood 
alleviation measures for the Hall Park View, Millfield and Barepot areas by way of a s.106 
agreement. An agreement to fund flood defences for the area and provide compensatory 
storage would negate any objection the group have to this proposal.

Page 100



Sport England 

21.2.19 Original comments 

The site is considered to a constitute playing field, or land last used as playing field, as 
defined in The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 595). Sport England is a statutory 
consultee and considered the application in light of the NPPF (Para. 97) and against its 
own playing fields policy. There is insufficient information to enable Sport England to 
adequately assess the proposal or to make a substantive response.
 
The following information is required:

1. The replacement natural turf pitch with a hybrid solution needs to meet Sport 
England Policy Exception E5. The applicant is advised to provide more detailed 
information than has been submitted at pre application stage and with this 
application. The applicant is advised to refer to the guidance contained within Sport 
England’s ‘Playing Fields Policy Guidance (March 2018)’ and in particular section 
6.5. The applicant is strongly advised to liaise with the Football Foundations (FF) 
Engagement Manager Daniel Green and Rugby Football League (RFL) Projects and 
Partnerships Manager John McMullen who are Sport England’s own consultees on 
all planning applications that affect playing fields.

2. Technical specifications of all sports facilities to meet RFL and FF and specifications. 
The technical specifications should include dimensions, materials and cross sections 
where appropriate. This is especially important for the proposed hybrid and artificial 
grass pitches as I need to know the dimensions, construction type, and materials will 
provide a pitch that meets any identified strategic need and intended sporting 
benefits.

3.  The Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) will need to be rugby league compliant as the long 
term intention is to vacate Derwent Park and use the new stadia and AGP facilities 
to replace the rugby activity. The AGP will need to meet Sport England Policy 
Exception E4. The applicant is advised to refer to section 6.4 of Sport England’s 
‘Playing Fields Policy Guidance (March 2018)’. There is nothing in the submitted 
information that shows the AGP will be both rugby and football compliant.

4. Strategic need and sporting benefits of the new stadium and AGP, including existing 
club and community usage of the facilities and proposed club and community use of 
the new facilities. This should be done in consultation with the RFL and FF 
Managers cited in bullet point 1 of this email. I assume a Feasibility Study or similar 
must’ve taken place to help inform the decisions around the proposal and it is that 
information plus any other information the FF and RFL may have to support the 
proposal.

5. Continuity of use – I understand Derwent Park will be used to support both football 
and rugby use whilst the new stadium is being constructed. There is no information 

Page 101



to show the two sports are able to coexist and meet their match and training fixtures 
or what the time period will be. I assume an analysis of the feasibility must have 
taken place even if the details are indicative at this stage. It is the initial feasibility 
that is required as the full details can be conditioned separately.

6. Details of who will manage and maintain the sports facilities and what agreements 
will be put in place to ensure community use. I would normally expect to see a 
Football/Rugby Development Plan put in place with a Community Use Agreement 
secured via condition. Sport England's Playing Fields Policy and Guidance 
document, which includes the type of information required in order for us to evaluate 
a planning application against our policy, can be viewed via the below link:

Sport England's interim position on this proposal is to submit a holding objection. However 
we will happily review our position following the receipt of all the further information 
requested above. Should the local planning authority be minded to grant planning 
permission for the proposal, contrary to Sport England's holding objection, then in 
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009, 
the application should be referred to the Secretary of State, via the National Planning 
Casework

Revised comments 9.4.19 

The strategic need information submitted confirms the principle of development is 
acceptable and all other conditions can be dealt with via condition. 

These conditions were agreed in principle during a meeting with the Council, RFL and 
Football Foundation on 22nd March 2019. 

There is a floodlit training pitch currently on the location of the extended car park. The car 
park will be ancillary to the use of the Artificial Grass Pitch and Stadium. It is considered 
that as the usage is minimal and any training can be accommodated on the Artificial Grass 
Pitch then the loss can be considered to comply with Sport England Policy Exception E5:

“The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of 
which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the 
detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field.”

It should be noted at this stage that this proposal does not mitigate any subsequent loss of 
the rugby league pitch at Derwent Park to a non-sports development. As the Artificial Grass 
Pitch will be located on a disused playing field known as Lonsdale Park then it is 
considered no replacement of an equivalent or greater quantity and equivalent or better 
quality has taken place. Should a subsequent planning application be submitted for 
development at Derwent Park it will be considered on its own merits.

I confirm that subject to the conditions below being attached to any planning approval Sport 
England wish to withdraw the Holding Objection:

 Condition 1 - Phasing and Continuity of use

No development shall commence until a Scheme to ensure the continuity of use for 

Page 102



existing pitch users at Borough Park during construction works has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, after consultation with 
Sport England. The Scheme must set out a Phasing Plan for the construction of the 
Artificial Grass Pitch and Stadium with details of the size, location, type and make-up 
of the temporary facilities together with arrangements for access, including any 
temporary changing room provision for the Artificial Grass Pitch. The scheme must 
include a timetable for the provision of the temporary facilities. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented and complied with in full throughout the carrying out of 
the development.
Reason: To protect playing fields/sports facilities from damage, loss or availability of 
use during the construction of the development and to accord with Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF

 Condition 2 – Artificial Grass Pitch Technical Specification

Prior to commencement of the Artificial Grass Pitch the design and layout of Artificial 
Grass Pitch have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The design shall include:

a) Dimensions and layout
b) Cross sections of the sub layers including materials
c) Fencing
d) Sports lighting design and lighting assessment

The design and construction shall comply with the FIFA Quality Concept for Football 
Turf and Rugby League Community Standard. The Artificial Grass Pitch shall not be 
constructed other than in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord 
with Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF.

 Condition 3 - Artificial Grass Pitch Certification

Use of the Artificial Grass Pitch shall not commence until:

a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted has met FIFA 
Quality Concept for Football Turf; and

b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football Association’s 
Register of Football Turf Pitches have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord 
with Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF.

Informative (artificial grass pitches for Steps 1 to 6 of the FA’s National League 
System) – The applicant is advised that pitches to be used for Step 1 and Step 2 
level football matches should be built in accordance with FIFA Quality Concept for 
Football Turf - FIFA Quality Pro and Steps 3 to 6 should be built in accordance with 
FIFA Quality as a minimum and tested annually as per league rules.

Page 103



 Condition 4 - Stadium Technical Specification

No development of the Stadium shall commence until details of the design and 
layout of the Stadium have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The changing rooms 
contained within the Stadium shall comply with The Football Association and Rugby 
Football League Design standards. The Stadium shall not be constructed other than 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord 
with Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF.

 Condition 5 - Hybrid Stadium Pitch Tech Specification
Prior to the laying of the Hybrid Stadium Pitch the design and layout of the Hybrid 
Stadium Pitch have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The design shall include:

a) Dimensions and layout 
b) Cross sections of the sub layers including materials

The Hybrid Stadium Pitch shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to accord 
with Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF. 

 Condition 6 - Management and Maintenance Scheme

Before the Stadium and Artificial Grass Pitch are brought into use, a Management 
and Maintenance Scheme for the facilities including management responsibilities, a 
maintenance schedule and a mechanism for review shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with Sport 
England. The Scheme shall include measures to replace the Artificial Grass Pitch 
carpet and Hybrid Stadium Pitch, where necessary and within the Contractors 
recommended lifespan. The measures set out in the approved Scheme shall be 
complied with in full, with effect from commencement of use of the Stadium and 
Artificial Grass Pitch.

Reason: To ensure that a new facilities are capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver facilities which are fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure 
sufficient benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1) Policy S25 Development Plan Policy and paragraph 97 of the NPPF.

Should conditions 1-6 required above not be imposed on any planning consent, Sport 
England would consider the proposal to not meet Exception 5 of our Playing Fields Policy, 
and we would therefore object to this application.

Should the local planning authority be minded to approve this application against the 
recommendation of Sport England; then in accordance with The Town and Country 

Page 104



Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 the application should be referred to the 
Secretary of State via the National Planning Casework Unit.

Cumbria Wildlife Trust

No representations received to date.

Cumbria Constabulary (Police) 

The purpose of the canopy in protecting users of the building from adverse weather 
conditions is recognised - the design should not afford opportunities for climbing and 
concealment in the course of criminal activity. Inclusion of CCTV is welcome, but it is not a 
universal solution to security problems. It can help deter vandalism or burglary and assist 
with the identification of offenders once a crime has been committed, but unless it is 
monitored continuously and appropriately recorded, CCTV will be of limited value in relation 
to the personal security of staff and visitors. The provision and effective use of CCTV fits 
well within the overall framework of security management and is most effective when it 
forms part of an overall security plan.

The use of bollard lights may be useful for way finding, but fail to properly model the facial 
features of pedestrians and are vulnerable to vandalism and vehicle collision. Therefore, 
their use for security purposes is discouraged.

Footpaths to the river edge may well be part of Allerdale Borough Council’s wider 
masterplan of opening the permeability to the water’s edge, however, in this particular case 
the experience of my Police colleagues and the apparent need for palisade fencing around 
the bridge support lead me to the conclusion that this particular section of proposed 
footpath is not recommended.

I would like to draw attention to drawing ref. 60586269‐ACM‐00‐00‐DR‐ZZ‐020001.pdf 
which appears to denote a much heavier representation of trees around the north east 
section of the proposed stadium that are not represented on the landscape plan. These 
trees would seriously diminish any natural surveillance of this section of the stadium with 
the consequence that the lighting would encourage rather than discourage criminal activity. 
I trust that the landscape plan is the definitive version.

Cumbria County Fire Authority 

No representations received to date.

Cumbria County Council Social Services 

No representations received to date

Page 105



Cumbria County Council (CCC) Archaeology 

It is unlikely that the construction of the proposed development will disturb buried 
archaeological assets, but the submitted archaeological desk based assessment does raise 
a valid point that the existing Borough Park is an undesignated heritage asset of local 
interest. Workington AFC moved to the newly opened Borough Park in 1937 and have 
played there ever since. A number of distinguished managers and players have been at the 
club during this time including Bill Shankly and Keith Burkinshaw. The ground therefore has 
local historical value, through a connection with notable people, and also local communal 
value, through people identifying with it and having some emotional links. I therefore 
recommend that, in the event planning consent is granted, Borough Park is 
photographically recorded for posterity prior to demolition. This recording should be in 
accordance with a Level 1 Survey as described by Historic England’s document 
Understanding Historic Buildings A Guide to Good Recording Practice, 2016. A planning 
condition is advised.

Cumbria County Council Planning  

The application site is not within or immediately adjacent to any Minerals Safeguarding 
Area according to our records. Cumbria County Council therefore has no comment to make 
on this application as Minerals and Waste planning authority.

Coal Authority 

No objections but planning condition required. The application site falls within the defined 
Development High Risk Area; therefore, within the application site and surrounding area, 
there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the 
determination of this planning application. The Coal Authority records indicate that the site 
is likely to have been subject to historic unrecorded underground coal mining at shallow 
depth.

The applicant has obtained appropriate and up-to-date coal mining information for the
proposed development site, which has been used to inform the Phase 1: Desk Top Study
Report (Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment (13 September 2017, prepared by
GEO Environmental Engineering Ltd), which accompanies the planning application.

Based on a review of the existing geological and mining information and on the basis that
Section 3.1.5 of the Report confirms the risks posed by potential unrecorded shallow coal
mine workings, the Report concludes that drilling will be required to be undertaken prior to 
the commencement of development to confirm ground conditions and to identify any 
necessary remedial measures.

A pre-commencement condition is required in this instance. The undertaking of intrusive 
site investigations, prior to the commencement of development, is considered to be 
necessary to ensure that adequate information pertaining to ground conditions and coal 
mining legacy is available to enable appropriate remedial and mitigation measures to be 
identified and carried out before building works commence on site. This is in order to 
ensure the safety and stability of the development, in accordance with paragraphs 178 and 

Page 106



179 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations of the Phase 1: Desk Top Study
Report (Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment (13 September 2017, prepared by
GEO Environmental Engineering Ltd); that coal mining legacy potentially poses a risk to
the proposed development and that intrusive site investigation works should be undertaken 
prior to development in order to establish the exact situation regarding coal mining legacy 
issues on the site.

The Coal Authority recommends that the LPA impose a Planning Condition should planning 
permission be granted for the proposed development requiring these site investigation 
works prior to commencement of development. In the event that the site investigations 
confirm the need for remedial works to treat any areas of shallow mining, the condition 
should ensure that the remedial works identified by the site investigation to consolidate any 
shallow mine workings are undertaken prior to commencement of the development.

A condition should, therefore, require, prior to the commencement of development:

 The undertaking of an appropriate scheme of intrusive site investigations for the 
shallow coal workings;

 The submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive site investigations, 
including the results of any gas monitoring undertaken;

 The submission of a scheme of remedial works for the shallow coal workings for 
approval;

 The implementation of those remedial works.

The Coal Authority considers that the content and conclusions of the Phase 1: Desk Top
Study Report (Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment (13 September 2017, prepared
by GEO Environmental Engineering Ltd) are sufficient for the purposes of the planning 
system and meet the requirements of the NPPF in demonstrating that the application site 
is, or can be made, safe and stable for the proposed development. The Coal Authority 
therefore has no objection to the proposed development subject to the imposition of a 
condition or conditions to secure the above.

Health and Safety Executive 

The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) is a statutory consultee for certain developments 
within the Consultation Distance of Major Hazard Sites/ pipelines. This consultation, which 
is for such a development and also within at least one Consultation Distance, has been 
considered using HSE’s Land Use Planning Methodology. Consequently, HSE does not 
advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission in this case.

The application has been publicised on site by site notice, within the local press and 
adjoining properties have been notified.

1 letter of objection has been received that sets out:

Page 107



This a vanity project by the Labour councillors of Workington. It will be not benefit the wider 
community of Allerdale who do not see Workington as a hub. 350 football or rugby 
spectators will look lost in an 8,000 seater stadium. How will the two clubs make it pay on 
those spectator levels? What about supporting the other sports and pastimes in the Whole 
of Allerdale.

Duties 

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017

The Screening Opinion dated 19 December 2018, states that under Regulation 2, the 
stadium falls within the category of a Schedule 2 development. A review of the proposal 
against the prescribed indicative thresholds and key issues for consideration reveals that 
the proposal is not EIA development. A copy of the Screening Opinion has been placed on 
the Public Register.

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 requires that when considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of a designated Conservation Area.   

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

The development is within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of the River Derwent & 
Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (England) (SAC)5.

The need for an assessment of impacts on European sites – which include Special Areas 
of Conservation – is set out within Article 6 of Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 
on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (commonly known as 
‘the Habitats Directive’), and transposed into UK law by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (‘the Habitats Regulations’). 

The ultimate aim of the Habitats Directive is to “maintain or restore, at favourable 
conservation status, natural habitats and species of wild fauna and flora of Community 
interest” (Article 2(2)). This aim relates to habitats and species, not the European sites 
themselves, although the European sites have a significant role in delivering favourable 
conservation status. The Habitats Directive applies the precautionary principle to European 
sites. Consent should only be granted for plans and projects once the relevant Competent 
Authority has ascertained that there will either be no likelihood of significant effects, or no 
adverse effect on the integrity of the European site(s) in question. Where an Appropriate 
Assessment has been carried out and concludes that there will be a negative effect, or if 

5 UK00300032

Page 108



uncertainty remains over the significance of the effect, consent will only be granted if there 
are no alternative solutions and there are Imperative Reasons of Over-riding Public Interest 
(IROPI) for the development and compensatory measures have been secured.

To ascertain whether or not site integrity will be affected, an Appropriate Assessment 
should be undertaken of the plan or project in question. The Competent Authority is entitled 
to request the applicant to produce such information as they may reasonably require for the 
purposes of the Assessment, or to enable it to determine whether an Appropriate 
Assessment is required. In this case Allerdale BC is the competent authority.

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999 

Saved Development Limit. Site falls completely within the Limit.

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 

The Site is subject to three allocations under the Saved Policies (1999; 2006) that comprise 
part of the Adopted Local Plan (Part 1) (2014): 

- Saved WKEN1 (1999) – Development in the Lower Derwent Valley (The Cloffocks); 
- Saved WKL1(a) (2006 amendments) – Workington leisure: Lonsdale Park – “The 

Cloffocks”; and 
- Saved WKRG3 (amended 2006) – Retail allocation: land adjacent to Brow Top Car 

Park.

All three of these saved allocations are due to be replaced / deleted following the adoption 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) ALPP2 submitted to the Secretary of State January 
2019 for examination.

The following policies are considered relevant 

    S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
    S2 Sustainable development principles
    S3 Spatial strategy and growth
    S4 Design principles;
    S5 Development principles;
    S6a Workington Area Policy
    S12 Land and premises
    S13 Energy Coast Innovation Zone
    S16 Town Centres and Retail
    S17 Tourism, coastal and countryside recreation;
    S21 Developer contributions;
    S22 Transport principles;
    S24 Green Infrastructure
    S25 Sports, Leisure and Open space;
    S26 Community and Rural Services

Page 109



    S27 Heritage Assets
    S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
    S30 Reuse of Land
    S32 Safeguarding amenity
    S33 Landscape
    S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity;
    S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality;
    DM8 Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability
    DM10 Improvements to the public realm
    DM12 Sustainable construction
    DM14 Standards of good design
    DM16 Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
    DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland
 
Cumbria County Council’s Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2015-2030 (Adopted 2017) 

This document sets out the vision and strategy for waste management and minerals 
development within Cumbria. The plan identifies where waste and minerals development 
should be located, based upon viable sites, and as such, the County Council will be a 
statutory consultee for this application

Other material considerations

National Planning Policy Framework 2019

2. Achieving sustainable development 
4. Decision-making
6. Building a strong, competitive economy
7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities
9. Supporting sustainable transport
10. Supporting high quality communications
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment.

Glossary – Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse clubs and 
factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses 
(including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, 
casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls); offices; and 
arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert 
halls, hotels and conference facilities).

The NPPF is supported by the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG).

Page 110



Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (2019)

The ALPP2 policies are as follows:

Draft SA2 Settlement boundaries;
Draft SA49 Lower Derwent Valley;
Draft SA51 Amenity green space; and
Draft SA52 Green infrastructure networks

Allerdale Council Plan 

The Allerdale Council Plan is not a planning document and not afforded great weight in 
decisions but is of note. It Includes the Council’s own bespoke objectives including:
Economic opportunity and growth; Stronger and healthier communities and a Quality place 
to live. The proposal has significant synergies with these objectives.

Britain’s Energy Coast: a Masterplan for West Cumbria 2007

A key objective of the ALP Part1 is to facilitate Allerdale’s economic strategy to successfully 
grow and diversify the Borough’s economy. ‘Britain’s Energy Coast: A Masterplan for West 
Cumbria’ aims to provide a focused strategy for both public and private sector to build on 
the area’s existing expertise in the nuclear industry and deliver the national priorities of 
tackling climate change and securing the nation’s energy supply, while also transforming 
and diversifying the West Cumbria economy.

The West Cumbria Economic Blueprint (2012)

This sets out Britain’s Energy Coast’s vision for the development over the next 15 years. At 
the centre is the Energy Coast Innovation Zone (IZone), which provides a focus for growth 
and investment along the coast of West Cumbria.

ALPP1 Adopted Policy S13 sets out the Council will work with partners to maximise the 
economic opportunities identified in the West Cumbria Economic Blueprint by supporting 
the Energy Coast Innovation Zone through:
a) Allocating land in line with the aims and objectives
b) Prioritising important land for investment and maintaining a portfolio of high quality sites:
c) Supporting tourist development of Allerdale’s harbours;
d) Playing a role in delivering supporting infrastructure, such as road and other transport 
upgrades, port of Workington, energy, broadband and community infrastructure as well as 
an appropriate stock of housing;
e) Supporting development that contributes towards improving education, training and 
skills;
f) Supporting other key objectives in the implementation plan.

Allerdale Borough Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan (2014)

The Allerdale Playing Pitch Strategy and Open space assessment Report (2015) 

Allerdale Borough Council’s Workspace and Employment Land Study (2016)

Page 111



Cumbria County Council’s Development Design Guide (2017)

Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy and Guidance (2018)

Town Centre Health Check Appraisal 2015 Retail Study

Policy Weighting 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is 
to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under 
the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 
saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have 
primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF 2019. Paragraph 213 of the 
NPPF advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can vary according to 
their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. The majority of policies are considered to remain consistent. However, 
having regard to a further material consideration – the appeal decision for land at Great 
Broughton6 - it is considered that policies S3 and S5 of the Allerdale Borough Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014 are out of date and can no longer carry full weight insofar as they relate to the 
application of the existing settlement limits which date from the 1999 Plan. 

Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they are not 
considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other Local Plan Part 1 
policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or full weight where they are 
consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this instance, it is assessed that the 
settlement hierarchy within ALPP1 Adopted Policy S3 (Workington being the Principle 
Centre for Allerdale) can be afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the 
sustainability principles of the NPPF as can the criteria a) to f) of ALPP1 Adopted Policy S5. 

Employment sites and allocations dating from the 1999 Plan have been saved by virtue of 
ALP Part 1 adopted Policy S12. Whilst these are pending review through the site 
allocations process under part 2, they are still considered to accord with the NPPF2019, 
which supports sustainable economic development. This approach to employment sites 
and allocations has been supported by the Planning Inspectorate through a recent appeal 
decision at Solway Industrial Estate, Maryport.7  

Other polices within Part 1 of the Local Plan relevant to the determination of this application 
maintain their full weight relating to various planning matters to be addressed within this 
report.

6 PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948
7 PINS ref 3187370

Page 112



The NPPF 2019 Paragraph 48 advises that weight can be afforded to emerging plans, and 
that weight dependent on the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and 
consistency with the provisions of the Framework. Policies SA51 and SA52 of the ALP Part 
2 Submission Draft are most relevant to the proposal and the ALP Part 2 Submission Draft 
(January 2019) will be heard at examination later this year. Having considered these 
relevant policies against the criteria, policy SA51 is considered to carry significant weight, 
SA52 moderate weight, and SA2 Settlement boundaries and SA49 Lower Derwent Valley, 
low weight. SA2 and SA49’s low weight is due to the extent of unresolved objections to 
these policies. Policy SA49 weight is specifically tempered due to the following:-

 Developer (AIP) objection.
 Environment Agency objection (based on sequential area of search)

Assessment 

Why the need for change

Workington is the home of two major sporting teams: Workington Association Football Club 
‘Workington Reds) and Workington Town Rugby League Football Club. The longevity of the 
clubs’ presence in Workington, combined with their historic achievements, has ensured that 
they are long-standing pillars of Workington’s local community, with a core of regular 
supporters and a rich history in the town. 

There are currently c.25 matches per year played by the first team at Borough Park, with an 
average attendance currently around 320 spectators. These matches are either on a
Saturday, with kick-off normally at 3pm, or occasionally on a weekday evening, with kick off 
between 7pm and 8pm. The main season extends from August through to the following 
May.

The rugby league stadium, Derwent Park, currently has an average attendance of 500
spectators. Rugby league matches are typically on a Sunday, with a 3pm kick-off, and take 
place in the summer months. In a season there would generally be 15 matches at the 
stadium.

With the dates and time of the year each sport is played, the two stadiums are rarely, if
ever, hosting games at the same time. In addition to sports matches the Derwent Park 
stadium is occasionally used for special events, around 10 times a year, which are normally 
weekday evening or weekend events. Until October 2018 the stadium also hosted the 
Workington Comets Speedway team. The maximum capacity of the stadium is stated as 
10,000 spectators. It previously hosted a Rugby World Cup match with an attendance close 
to 8,000 spectators.

Both the Borough Park and Derwent Park are now visibly showing the impact of time, 
costing substantial amounts of money, and the time of club volunteers, to maintain the 
existing facilities to their current standard. Derwent Park dates from the late 1940s and 
Borough Park from the late 1930s. Neither ground features more than one stand with the 
remaining side and ends being terraces with no under croft facilities. 

Page 113



Borough Park lacks the original covered main stand, the covered seating above the 
changing rooms and limited surviving facilities being lost in the 1980s. The northern terrace 
is uncovered and supporting posts, where roofs exist, restrict views. Accessibility to many 
parts of the ground by disabled supporters is restricted. Facilities to provide revenue 
streams outside of match times are lacking and, therefore, the site remains unused for the 
majority of each week. It is noted that the Council own the freehold.

Derwent Park is constrained by its poor access, over a narrow bridge across the Mill 
Stream (Soapery Beck). It was also designed for oval track sports (speedway and 
greyhound racing) as well as the rugby league. As a result, the open terraces at either end 
are a less than optimal distance from the pitch. Disabled access is, again, poor as are 
toilets facilities (female supports in the main stand having to use toilets on the southern 
terrace). There are few facilities providing the potential for non-matchday income. Again, 
the Council owns the freehold. 

Neither ground meets the Grade A8 requirements (the ability to host association football 
National League (tier 5) matches and above).

Due to the lack of non-matchday use and the condition of the grounds they are, in effect, 
liabilities rather than assets to the Council and the community. 

With the two teams facing increasing costs and the stadiums coming ever closer to a non-
regulatory compliant condition, the Council had to and did begin examining options which 
could provide a home for the two clubs whilst being a wider, diversified community facility 
and significant uplift in revenue i.e a economic, social and environmentally sustainable 
solution that accords with policy S1 of the Local Plan and the NPPF 2019. 

Borough Park was naturally the focus for redevelopment as the Council owns adjoining 
land, there is a significantly better existing vehicular access arrangements with the site 
served by a spur from the A597 roundabout and prominent frontage attractive to potential 
investors and occupiers. Much of the site also is previously developed land according with 
the priorities of policy S30 and DM16 of the Local Plan Part 1 as well as being within the 
envelope of Workington’s urban area which is the focus for the Borough’s major new 
development (policies S3 and S5 being applicable where they retain full weight). 

Benefits 

The new stadium will have a capacity of 8,000 of which there will be 2,500 seats. This is a 
significant increase in the number of seats and meets the expectations for modern stadia 
hosting football and rugby teams at a national level. 

To meet Grade A requirements (the ability to host National League (tier 5) matches and 
above) the stadium must have a minimum capacity of 4,000 spectators, including the 
seated spectators, as certified by the local authority or calculated by a competent person, in 
accordance with the “Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds”, (Green Guide) current edition at 
the time of inspection, with the potential to achieve a capacity of 5,000 in the future.9
The new stadium fulfils this brief and would provide future proofing and long terms 

8 National Ground Grading – Category A – incorporating  July 2018 amendments.
9 Para 1.3 National Ground Grading – Category A – incorporating  July 2018 amendments.

Page 114



sustainability in terms of spectator provision with the choice between covered seating and 
standing, covered disabled spectator viewing platforms, non-discriminatory access for all, 
toilet and welfare facilities for all, unrestricted viewing of the pitch and under croft matchday 
facilities.

Furthermore, in accordance with adopted policy S25 - Sports, Leisure and Open space – 
the development provides a 3G pitch and a more robust, partially artificial, main stadium 
pitch permitting significant increases in community sports use in comparison with the 
existing grass Borough Park pitch and the sub-standard grass pitch near to the leisure 
centre. 

The all-weather multi-use training pitch is proposed on land immediately east of the stadium 
and this will be used for the professional sports teams and will be available for hire by the 
community as an income generator. The standard of the proposed sports facilities and its 
management shall meet the requirements of Sport England to be secured by planning 
condition.

Policy S25 seeks to maintain, enhance and protect the provision of formal and informal 
sports and recreation facilities and public open space throughout the Plan Area. The 
deficiency of the existing stadium has been identified, and it is considered the new indoor 
sports and leisure facilities will be located in the most sustainable location in accordance 
with the sequential consideration of alternative sites when addressing the aggregation of 
other uses proposed.

In addition to the sports pitches and associated facilities, there will be improved access to 
the riverside via pathways and there will be areas of public realm. This provides a leisure 
destination for the community and visitors. 

The open space and recreation facilities supports the health and well-being of communities, 
promoting communities have access to high-quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and physical activity in accordance with NPPF 2019 paragraphs 96 and 97.

The aggregated land uses comprise of the stadium sporting facilities, associated corporate/ 
function facilities, the NHS community hub and office space. With regard to the aggregation 
of various uses, this is accepted due to the need for the stadium complex to be 
economically efficient and to make best use of this landmark structure so that it provides an 
efficient community hub, that is used all year round by all members of the community.

This is significant benefit that should be afforded substantial weight in the overall planning 
balance. Without such facilities the development is economically unsustainable and would 
not accord with the sustainability principles of adopted policy S2. Specifically, examining 
the bullet-point criteria of S2, the proposal, with the supporting facilities and the other uses 
within the same stadium:-

 Promotes Workington’s role as West Cumbria’s principal leisure destination. In this 
regard, the qualities of the proposal compare very favourably not only with the 
existing Derwent Park and Borough Park offer but also existing and proposed leisure 
offers in Maryport, Cockermouth, Keswick, Whitehaven and Egremont. 

 Supports the delivery of a key project, in doing so supporting the continued 
regeneration of the Lower Derwent Valley. Examining the submitted documents and 

Page 115



verifying against Homes England’s Employment Densities10, the proposal is 
estimated to provide employment as follows:-

i. 3,022m2 GIA equates to 2418m2 which provides 186 FTE (full time 
equivalent) jobs at a density of 1 job per 13m2 NIA office space (Use Class 
B1a).

ii. 2,817m2 community (NHS) facility (Use Class D1) and café (Use Class A3) 
provides 50 FTE jobs.

iii. Stadium provides 54 FTE jobs.
iv. Construction phase c300 FTE jobs (albeit temporary during the construction 

period)

 Provides a socially sustainable, well-designed, safe and accessible facility. 
 Promotes health, well-being and active lifestyles.
 Supports the sustainability of communities by supporting a shared provision of 

services, employment opportunities, physical and social infrastructure and transport 
options. It is recognised by the Local Plan that linked leisure, community and 
employment facilities are of substantial benefit to the overall well-being and 
functioning of the community – 

i. there is direct employment provision; 
ii. Enhanced workplace for employees;
iii. Access to leisure facilities for participation and spectator enjoyment with 

consequent enhanced physical and mental wellbeing and consequent 
productivity;

iv. Reduced car borne trips through the juxtaposition of leisure, employment and 
town centre facilities with consequent less pollution, congestion and 
aggravation space.

 Ensures physical and social infrastructure is fit for purpose and supports 
improvements to ensure sufficient capacity for planned development. This is for the 
reasoning already explained in point iii. above. Sport and leisure facilities fit for the 
twenty-first century are necessary to support wider economic growth. a major role in 
urban regeneration and the transition from an old industrial economy to a modern 
knowledge and skills-based economy, with all the implications of this for the creation 
of new enterprise, employment generation and social and environmental benefits.11  

 Minimises the need to travel, promotes mixed use developments and increases the 
opportunities to make journeys by foot cycle or public transport. This sustainability 
benefit is explained in more detail later in this report but, at this juncture it is noted 
that the proposal combines D1, D2, A3 and B1(a) uses on a main public transport 
artery close to the town centre. 

It is recognised that a proportion of these jobs are relocated from within the town but it is 
certainly envisaged that the B1(a) will be inward investment to, not only the town, but the 
Borough.

The provision of a new primary health care facility will offer access to modern facilities. 

10HCA  Employment Density Guide – 3rd Edition November 2015 
11 Study on the Contribution of Sport to Regional Development through the Structural Funds (EC 2016)

Page 116



Located within the southern stand of the stadium, the new facility would provide community 
health support, in the core of the town’s Lower Derwent Valley and will support a 
continuation of the area’s regeneration. The proposals align with the Development Plan. 
The NHS community hub supports the proposal as a community destination, provides an 
income stream and a community hub resource for the benefit of the whole community. Part 
1 Policy S26 - Community and Rural Services - sets out proposals for neighbourhood 
community facilities will be supported where it can be demonstrated that the service will 
enhance the sustainability of the community and conserve and enhance the heritage, 
character and local distinctiveness of the area. This is most relevant to the sports and 
healthcare elements of the proposal.

Site Selection and main town centre sequential tests

It has already been evidenced in this report that:-

 There is an extant use of much of the site as a sports ground. 
 The site is within the main envelope of the Borough’s principal settlement as defined 

by the Local Plan. 
 Much of the site is previously developed.

Nevertheless, it is acknowledged that the office element is a primary use of the proposal 
and is a Main Town Centre Use as defined by the NPPF. As such it is subject to the 
sequential test set out in policy S16 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. S16 states that Main 
Town Centre Uses will be expected to be located in centres.
Since the publication of the policy the NPPF has been updated twice. Importantly, the 
NPPF does not require disaggregation to be considered when assessing whether a 
proposal can be located in a centre; in other words, there is no expectation for a 
development to be separated into its constituent parts to “fit” within identified town centre or 
edge of centre locations. It does say that there should be scope for flexibility in the format 
and/or scale of the proposal.
These provisions of the NPPF are considered to be a material consideration afforded 
significant weight in the undertaking of the sequential assessment. 

The July 2018 revision of the NPPF, retained in the latest February 2019 version, has also 
introduced a requirement to not only identify sequentially preferable sites currently 
available, but also those expected to become available within a reasonable period.

In this context, officers accept the following principles which affect the site size and uses:-

 The site needs to be of an area to accommodate a football/rugby league pitch to 
meet the standards for the two clubs’ needs.

 The pitch needs to be surrounded by spectator viewing areas with a capacity, 
facilities and accessibility as already identified in this report e.g 2,500 seats, disabled 
spectators’ viewing platforms etc. 

 The office and community uses are necessary to make the development 
economically and socially sustainable as already detailed in this report e.g viable 
and offer non-matchday community use etc. 

As such the site needs to be at least 2.5ha.

Page 117



There are only two town centre12 sites either available or expected to become available in a 
reasonable period that covers the likely development timescales (first use 2020-2021). 
These are:-

 Central car park.
 British Legion 

Neither are of a scale that could accommodate the use. There are also no edge of centre 
sites available or expected to become available in a reasonable period. The site is 
considered to be the nearest to the town centre that is available and can accommodate the 
development, even with some flexibility of stand size to reduce the capacity to the minimum 
required (4,000 capacity for association football National League). 
 
Nevertheless, for robustness the area of search was widened to all of Workington given 
the, albeit separate, requirements to prioritise development sites in an area at minimal 
probability of flooding. 

Considerations of land availability, access to public transport, existing infrastructure and 
ability to enhance infrastructure, proximity to Workington, environmental constraints and 
projected costs, and overall economic impact were addressed. In response to these 
considerations, 4 other sites in the Workington locality were assessed. The sites were 
sequentially considered with regard to proximity to the town centre, transport hubs, 
pedestrian accessibility and with regard to flooding and Flood Zones.

The alternative sits sites included Land at Oldside, land formerly occupied by the Moorclose 
Sports Centre, land at Mossbay Solway Road and Derwent Park. The findings of these 
assessments are addressed below.

 Land at Oldside - Located to the north of the River Derwent, west of the railway line, 
and is currently used by Workington Comets as a training ground. The site benefits 
from a footprint which lends itself to developing a stadium of sufficient capacity; 
however, the site is constrained due to its location. The largest constraint on the site 
is that it is located within a Health and Safety Executive (‘HSE’) PADHI+ Zone 
Hazardous Installations) which significantly restricts the opportunity for 
development, in this case due to its proximity to gas pipelines. 
The site’s location north of the River Derwent, isolates it from Workington Town 
Centre and residential areas, instead being situated within an area of industrial land 
comprising land uses of low prestige. This creates an unattractive environment for 
visitors and constrains site access. The site’s poor accessibility limits the site being 
recommend for pedestrians to access on foot, due to the lack of appropriate 
neighbouring uses and infrastructure. It would require the completion of a new 
bridge over the River Derwent, as well as major infrastructure extensions to reroute 
existing public transport services.st the existing roads would also struggle to support 
the increased traffic flow.

 Land at Moorclose Sports centre – A size of site that could support the stadium 
design; however, it is noted that the surrounding area is characterised by its largely 

12 As defined in the Local Plan Part 1 (and retained in the Local Plan Part 2) 

Page 118



residential nature which, in turn, reduces the accessibility of the site due to 
residential amenity and the existing infrastructure. The site is isolated from the 
centre of Workington and as such, not suitable as a hub for the two sports teams 
and wider community uses proposed.

 Land at Mossbay Solway Road - Whilst accessible, due to the size of the site, it 
would only be able to accommodate the required capacity in conjunction with the 
land at Ellis Sports Ground; however, this ground is already in active use by 
Workington Rugby Football Club (Workington’s Rugby Union team) and is therefore 
deemed unavailable. The site is located next to Jane Pit, a 19th century listed coal 
mine which lies on the edge of the existing Sports Ground. The mine development 
includes both a Grade II Listed Chimney (Historic England ID 1138109) and 
Chimney Pit Engine House (Historic England ID 1144482) which are prominent 
features in the views across the site. The low density, low rise dwellings on 
Mossbay Road and the land to the east of the site, mean the proposal is highly likely 
to negatively impact on the established residential amenity, as well as the historic 
open views of the former coal mine.

 Land at Derwent Park - Located between the River Derwent and Workington Town 
Centre, situated within Flood Zone 1; however, it is surrounded by areas of Flood 
Zone 3. The site benefits from high levels of public transport accessibility and is 
within walking distance of the town centre. Owned by the Council, the site could 
reasonably be developed, as agreed with the council at the pre-application stage, 
and at the initial stages appears to offer a potentially viable alternative. 
Nevertheless, the site is highly constrained. The south western corner of the site 
would require a large amount of enabling works to create an accessible, widened 
entranceway for both vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians. Being an existing narrow 
entrance on a sharp bend of a road, altering this access would be complex and 
costly. In addition, the site lacks proximity to available car parking and it would not 
be possible to accommodate a sufficient amount of car parking on site. A significant 
constraint of the site is that its north west corner lies within a HSE PADHI Zone 
(Health and Safety Executive’s Planning Advice for Developments near Hazardous 
Installations), restricting and constraining development within the site.

Following a review of the four potential sites listed above, it is considered that the proposed 
site is the most favourable option.

The Site is allocated in both Saved and Emerging policies of the Development Plan for its 
redevelopment to provide a sports stadium and ancillary town centre uses, directly 
supporting the principle of this application (Saved WKEN1; WKL1(a); and Draft SA49). As 
stated earlier, policy SA49 has only been submitted for examination and is subject to 
objections due to the number of unresolved objections but the saved allocations still are 
afforded substantial weight as is area policy S6a in the Part 1 Plan. 

The site is within the ‘Lower Derwent Valley’, an area identified for redevelopment focused 
on a mixed-use of leisure and employment facilities, particularly where these improve 
Workington’s sports and leisure facilities. The scheme will therefore support the Lower 
Derwent Valley regeneration, following the provision of the new Workington Leisure Centre 
and the approval of a planning application for a new hotel and restaurant at an adjacent 
site. 

Page 119



Supporting the Development Plan and West Cumbria Economic Blueprint, the mixed use 
proposal seeks to increase the economic offering through the integration of revenue-
generating uses; providing not only income generating office and conference facilities, but 
also income from tourism through the hosting of events at this edge of town centre location. 

Part 1 policy S13 - Energy Coast Innovation Zone - addresses that the Council will work 
with partners to maximise the economic opportunities identified in the West Cumbria 
Economic Blueprint by supporting the Energy Coast Innovation Zone through allocating 
land in line with its aims and objectives, prioritising important land for investment and 
supporting development that contributes towards improving education, training and skills. 

The Port of Workington has a key role as a strategic gateway and economic driver for the 
West Cumbrian economy in the future, with a particular focus on the energy and 
transportation sectors. It is considered, for the reasons already explained in this report 
relating to the socio-economic benefits of siting employment and sports/leisure uses in the 
same locality, that the siting of the stadium complements and does not prejudice the Port's 
continued development. In the same way, in the context of policy S13, the proposal would 
be complementary to the objectives of the strategic gateway, offering a facility that directly 
provides employment as well as enhanced healthcare and sports/recreation infrastructure. 
Such infrastructure supports growth by providing an environment where people wish to live 
and invest.

Town centre impact 

Policy DM8 of the Local Plan provides a threshold of 500m2 above which proposals for 
office uses should be considered for their impact on the vitality and viability of Workington 
Town Centre. The office element of the proposal is above this threshold. However, since 
the adoption of the policy the NPPF has been revised and now excludes offices from the 
need for an impact test. The NPPF’s stance is a material consideration afforded weight and 
the weight afforded to this part of DM8 reduced substantially as a result. Indeed, officers 
advise that no impact assessment is required. 

Flood Risk Sequential Site Selection 

Policy S29 advises that development within the areas at greatest risk of flooding should be 
resisted. This reflects the NPPF’s sequential tests which steers development towards areas 
at least probability of flooding. An accompanying matrix reference in NPPG details which 
uses are appropriate in each flood zone, informed by the vulnerability of that use to 
flooding.

The stadium, offices and NHS facilities are mostly sited within flood zone 1 (low probability 
land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or sea flooding) with a small 
portion in flood zone 2 (Medium probability having between 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 annual 
probability of river flooding, or having between 1 in 200 and 1 in 1000 annual probability of 
sea flooding) and flood zone 3 (High probability land having 1 in 100 or greater probability 
of river flooding or land having a 1 in 200 or greater annual probability of sea flooding). The 
all-weather pitch and surrounding landscaped areas north of the Black Path are in flood 
zone 3, however the area to the south of the Black Path are in flood zone 1 and in small 
areas flood zone 2. These areas are derived from the latest Environment Agency maps 

Page 120



which postdate the preparation of the Allerdale SFRA. Their use provides the most robust 
application of the sequential test. 

This report has already evidenced why the proposal cannot be disaggregated. The 
sequential test for the offices identified and dismissed other sites, not only in the town 
centre but across the whole of Workington. Many of these sites are in flood zone 1 but it 
can be concluded that, whilst available, they are not suitable for the proposal.
Restricting the area of search to Workington accords with the NPPG which advises:-

“For individual planning applications where there has been no sequential testing of the 
allocations in the development plan, or where the use of the site being proposed is not in 
accordance with the development plan, the area to apply the Sequential Test across will be 
defined by local circumstances relating to the catchment area for the type of development 
proposed.”13

It is also noted that, when examining the location of each element of the proposal 
individually, their siting is compatible within the vulnerability of that element to flooding 
when applying table 3 referenced in the NPPG (this table advising which uses are 
appropriate in the different flood zones).
The table advises that water compatible uses such as the proposed landscaping amenity 
spaces and training pitch are appropriate in all flood zones, including 3b, the functional 
floodplain. Less vulnerable uses, including the proposed stadium, offices and café are 
appropriate in all zones except the functional floodplain; these uses are not in the functional 
floodplain. Finally, the NHS facility, as a more vulnerable use, is only appropriate in flood 
zones 1 or 2 and in zone 3a when the “Exception Test” is passed. The NHS facility will be 
in flood zone 1 (due to the stadium platform having a raised land level).

As such, the development is considered to pass the sequential test.

Flood Risk Assessment 

Policy S29 of the Local Plan echoes NPPF 2019 Para 163. The latter states that, when 
determining any planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood 
risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a 
site-specific flood-risk assessment and it can be demonstrated that:

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood 
risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;
c)  it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that

            this would be inappropriate;
      d)  any residual risk can be safely managed; and
      e)  safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed     
           emergency plan.

A detailed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been undertaken to assess flood risk from all 
sources from the proposed development. The significant sources of flooding at the site are 
fluvial flooding from the River Derwent and Mill Stream (Soapery Beck) tidal flooding. 

13 Paragraph: 033 Reference ID: 7-033-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014

Page 121



A drainage strategy has also been provided. These have been accepted by the 
Environment Agency and Natural England subject to further details being secured by 
planning condition.

The 2009 Cumbria Floods Technical Report addressed that the portion of the site north of 
Black Path was affected by the 2009 flood event. The Northside bridge collapsed during the 
flood event. This meant the flood water backed up and flooded part of the site area where 
the all-weather pitch is proposed. Local knowledge and understanding of historic flood 
routes and water flows within the site and locality have been carefully considered in the 
revised Flood Risk Assessment. In summary:-

 The finished floor level has been set to 7.0m AOD which is 390 mm above the 200 
year tidal level including climate change. This means that the stadium and all 
associated facilities will be protected for its lifetime.

 The all-weather sports pitch has been set to a level of 6.1 mAOD to protect it from 
inundation of a tidal event including climate change. The all-weather pitch has been 
raised to reduce the likelihood of the requirement to replace the pitch surfacing due 
to water damage.

 Safe access and egress arrangements from the NHS facility can be secured in a 
flood event through a Flood Evacuation Plan to be secured by planning condition.

 Although the stadium building itself and some external areas are not at risk of 
flooding, the areas around the site, such as public roads and footways are likely to 
be during a flood event. It is therefore necessary that a Flood Warning and 
Evacuation Plan, (including safe access and egress routes) be secured by planning 
condition.

 The proposals include an access road which circumnavigates the perimeter of the 
stadium which will lie at a minimum level of around 6.8m AOD. The proposed main 
access and egress route will tie into the existing roundabout located south-east of 
the site at levels 6.77m AOD. These levels provide adequate protection to access 
and egress during an emergency flood situation. An emergency plan including 
access and egress routes, to carry out during a flood event would need to be 
secured by planning condition.

 The drainage/ flood prevention scheme will ensure that the flooding issue is not 
transferred elsewhere onto other sites. 

 Though there will be raising of the ground levels within Flood Zone 3, the modelled 
levels indicate that there is no material impact due to this change on the flood levels 
in adjacent areas;

 A purpose built spillway route between the Mill Stream and the River Derwent is 
included in the proposed landscaped area in the East of the site to maintain existing 
connectivity between the two watercourses.

 The surface water runoff from the development will likely discharge to transitional 
waters it is likely that the runoff will only require minimal SuDS intervention. 
Depending on the layout of the final development, treatment is likely to be provided 
via swales, filter trenches and permeable paving. The surface water drainage 
scheme can be secured by planning condition following the hierarchy of sustainable 
principles. The development proposals will aim to outfall via two outfalls due to the 
geometry of the site. This will be subject to agreement with the Environment Agency, 
the Marine Management Organisation and Cumbria County Council.

Page 122



The Workington Flood Action Group raised concerns regarding flooding and the original 
FRA. However, the Environment Agency have no objections to the revised FRA.

Heritage Assets Identification 

Local Plan Policy S27 Heritage Assets sets out that the historic environment including all 
heritage assets and their settings will be conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate 
to their intrinsic historic value and significance, their importance to local character, 
distinctiveness and sense of place, and to other social, cultural economic or environmental 
benefits/values. The policy and the NPPF are used to inform the assessment of the 
development against the duties contained within sections 66 and 72 of the Listed Buildings 
Act 1990. 

With reference to section 66 and the setting of listed buildings, Historic England’s GPA3 
has also been used to inform the assessment against the duty. The first stage of the GPA3 
process is to identify assets that have the potential to be affected.
In the immediate locality there are 3 listed buildings. 

To the southwest is the Joseph Pirt and Co. Engineering Works, a grade II listed building 
having been added to the statutory list on 13th August 1985:- 

 
‘Iron foundry now engineering works. Late C18 or early C19. Hammer-dressed calciferous 
sandstone with flush quoins, under graduated green slate roof with coped gables and 
kneelers; large square calciferous sandstone chimney stack, the upper part of stepped 
brickwork. 3 storeys, 2 bays towards river, with 2-storey, 2-bay extension towards road and 
central projecting chimney. Original pointed arched windows are mostly blocked with bricks 
or boarded over. Rear corrugated extension is not of interest and covers original pointed 
arched doorway and windows. Single-storey lock up garages at front are not of interest.”   

To the south is the grade II* listed Church of St Michael, this was added to the statutory list 
on 6th June 1951:- 

 
‘Parish Church. C12 tower, nave rebuilt in 1770 and after a fire in 1888 by Bassett Smith 
and James Howes. Hammer-dressed pink and calciferous sandstone, the rebuilding of 
similar material but with red sandstone quoins, string course and battlemented parapet with 
crocketed finials, all on chamfered plinth. Graduated green slate roof with coped gables 
and cross finials. West 3-storey tower with 9-bay nave and aisles; single-bay chancel with 
north vestry. Tower base is C12 with upper storeys of 1770. Elliptical-arched west doorway 
under Perpendicular- style overlight. Painted west clock face with Roman numerals under 
Perpendicular- style bell openings. Nave and aisles are wholly 1888 with traceried 2- and 3-
light windows on 2 levels. Chancel has large traceried east window. Single- storey 
polygonal vestry. Interior of tower/porch has medieval pedestal font with octagonal carved 
bowl. C12 tower arch has broach-stopped hollow chamfer. Built-in C12 cushion capital, 
medieval slab and cross fragments. Various C19 wall plaques. Interior of nave has barrel 
roof with braces. 4-bay aisles. C19 gallery. Variety of late C19 and early C20 stained glass. 
Side chapel has carved and painted reredos 1933. Chancel has C19 piscina and sedilia. 
Effigies of Sir Christopher Curwen and his wife, 1450, on tomb base with heraldic side 
panels.green slate roof with coped gables and cross finials. West 3storey tower with 9-bay 
nave and aisles; single-bay chancel with north vestry. Tower base is C12 with upper 

Page 123



storeys of 1770. Elliptical-arched west doorway under Perpendicular- style overlight. 
Painted west clock face with Roman numerals under Perpendicular- style bell openings. 
Nave and aisles are wholly 1888 with traceried 2- and 3-light windows on 2 levels. Chancel 
has large traceried east window. Single- storey polygonal vestry. Interior of tower/porch has 
medieval pedestal font with octagonal carved bowl. C12 tower arch has broach-stopped 
hollow chamfer. Built-in C12 cushion capital, medieval slab and cross fragments. Various 
C19 wall plaques. Interior of nave has barrel roof with braces. 4-bay aisles. C19 gallery. 
Variety of late C19 and early C20 stained glass. Side chapel has carved and painted 
reredos 1933. Chancel has C19 piscina and sedilia. Effigies of Sir Christopher Curwen and 
his wife, 1450, on tomb base with heraldic side panels.” 

 
Finally, to the east of the Church is located the grade II* listed St Michael’s House, this was 
added to the statutory list on 13th December 1985:- 

 
“Rectory now sheltered home. Probably C15 with C19 and C20 alterations. Cement 
roughcast over extremely thick stone walls, under graduated green slate roof with C19 
coped gables and kneelers; original cement-roughcast chimney stacks. 2 storeys, 2 bays, 
with flanking gabled wings: hall with cross wings. Central recessed 2-bay section has C19 
panelled and glazed door in original pointed chamfered arch with hood mould, but heavy 
C20 restoration. C17-style stone-mullioned windows in hall and wings of 2, 3 and 4 lights, 
some with mullions removed and all with moulded sills and drip moulds. Right wing has 
unusual projecting upper-floor left return wall on corbels. Both wings have large stepped 
external chimney stacks. Left wing return wall has C20 windows in plain reveals. Rear 
extensions have large C20 windows. Interior of right wing has a former external pointed-
arched doorway, only recently uncovered, which is similar to the entrance doorway and 
this, with the consistent thickness of the walls, suggest that the hall and wings are of one 
build. Blocked inglenook in ground-floor room right. Rear C17-style staircase. An extremely 
interesting and rare survival of a hall-house more common in the south of Cumbria. Former 
stable to right, now warden's house, is not of interest.” 

With regards to section 72 of the Listed Buildings Act , the site is within 400m of both the 
St. Michael’s Workington’s and Brow Top Conservation Areas. There is no Conservation 
Area appraisal approved for either. St. Michael’s is characterised by the Church as the focal 
point, clearly the largest building and prominent on higher ground, with the green expanse 
of the Churchyard and subservient rectory and Victorian terraces beyond. Beyond the 
Churchyard the spaces are very much contained with an intimate prevailing character to 
the streets. This contrasts with the sudden opening up vistas to the north of Church Street. 
Brow Top is characterised by a series of neo-Classical buildings lining Brow Top and 
Derwent Street. The principal facades all face north towards the site and are set high atop 
the river cliff overlooking the lower plain of Cloffocks. Recent thinning of trees has revealed 
the area more from visual receptors to the north, including from the Lonsdale Park part of 
the application site.

 
Heritage – contribution of setting to the significance of assets 

 
In terms of assessing how the setting of the assets contributes to their overall significance, 
Historic England’s GPA3 advises:-   

“Settings of heritage assets change over time. Understanding this history of change will 
help to determine how further development within the asset’s setting is likely to affect the 

Page 124



contribution made by setting to the significance of the heritage asset. Settings of heritage 
assets which closely resemble the setting at the time the asset was constructed or formed 
are likely to contribute particularly strongly to significance but settings which have changed 
may also themselves enhance significance, for instance where townscape character has 
been shaped by cycles of change over the long term. Settings may also have suffered 
negative impact from inappropriate past developments and may be enhanced by the 
removal of the inappropriate structure(s).” 

 
Each asset is assessed using the values of their evidential, historical, aesthetic/ 
architectural, and communal significance. The contribution of the setting to each building 
was further evaluated in the context of its physical surroundings, functional relationship and 
communications, experience of the asset, and the asset’s associated attributes. 

 
The setting of the John Pirt works including the application site is a C20th creation. The 
historic development has been cleared leaving an open vista that contrasts with the 
containment provided by the higher ground, trees and Church to the south, the Viaduct to 
the west and the terracing of Derwent Park to the north. However, this openness does 
mean that the buildings and especially the stack are prominent and provide a landmark 
when approaching along the A597 including from the bridge next to the site, a landmark 
that, with the backdrop of the spoil heap to the rear, clearly illustrates the industrial heritage 
of the town. This physical setting therefore does contribute to the significance of the asset 
and development of the site has the potential to result in a degree of harm.  

 
Turning to St Michael’s Church, the Bridge from Northside is an important and sensitive 
visual receptor. From here the Church including its Nave and Tower are very prominent 
with buildings to either side and within the foreground very much subservient in scale and 
detail. This prominence reflects the historical functional setting of the Church, a prominence 
that is only rivalled by the cupola of the former Trinity Methodist Church. Again, the 
application site is part of the setting and does contribute to its significance. Indeed, the 
development will change this setting.  

 
St Michael’s House is a townscape feature and directly engages to the wider conservation 
area, albeit within the context of its own tightly enclosed curtilage. However, it is apparent 
that setting towards and including Borough Park contributes little to the significance of the 
asset. 

The overarching characteristic of the St. Michael’ conservation area is the contrast between 
the tight knit residential terraced streets and the open spaces associated with the few 
public buildings within the area (Church, School and Railway Station). There is distinct 
contrast between the designated area’s grain and that of the lower land within which all of 
the site is located. Nevertheless, the latter does contribute to the setting of the area, there 
being a number of visual receptors in and around the site affording longer views of the 
conservation area edge, albeit this is a modest contribution to the overall significance.

The same is very much true of the Brow Top conservation area, if not more so, especially 
after the tree thinning and general clearing of vegetation on the cliff bank. 

 
Heritage – impact of development on the significance of the assets 

 
The designated assets in the locality of the site are prominent and dominant features within 

Page 125



the local urban landscape. However, individually and cumulatively the level of harm is 
considered to be less than substantial. Officers would not go the extent of concluding that 
the impact was neutral given that the stadium will be a much larger mass than the existing 
Borough Park when the assets are viewed from the Bridge or Northside. Nevertheless, the 
stadium will be one of a number of large post-war interventions in this setting including 
Tesco and Allerdale House as well as the two permitted sites for a hotel and public house. 
The Leisure Centre is also a recent intervention to the setting of Brow Top. Furthermore, 
there are a number of benefits arising from the development and, as will also be outlined in 
this report, the stadium would constitute an enhanced design to Borough Park which off-
sets its greater bulk to some degree. 

In summary the setting of the listed buildings are preserved as is the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The less than substantial harm is outweighed by the 
development’s benefits. 

Landscape and Visual Impact 

In terms of landscape character assessment, the site is situated within a broad zone 
covering the whole of the town characterised as ‘Urban Area’ within the Cumbria 
Landscape Character Assessment. Therefore, the proposed development has no specific 
impact on the existing landscape character at this scale.

The site layout has been determined taking into account the operational needs of the 
stadium complex.  A wide range of facilities and spaces are to be provided as part of the 
development proposal, each of which have their own specifications.  The layout of the site 
and configuration of the stadium complex has been designed to ensure maximum 
connectivity, ease of use for those accessing the development and to ensure the efficient 
and effective operation of the facility.

Visual impact will be perceived by a range of receptors from a variety of viewpoints
surrounding the site, primarily within 300 metres’ distance.

It is considered viewpoints in close proximity to the Site are limited due to changes in land 
levels, existing vegetation and trees. From high viewpoints, and those at a greater distance 
away from the site, the visibility ranges from medium to high. In the context of  the stadium, 
this is then viewed in a broader panorama and takes reference from other buildings and 
large open areas to include the existing Tesco Superstore and car park, Allerdale House, 
car parking, and the Derwent Park stadium.  

There are a limited number of residential dwellings within the Northside development that 
will have a direct view of the stadium; however, the majority will have no / or very limited 
views, due to the existing vegetation and mature tree line. The Northside housing estate is 
also set back from the stadium to the north of the River Derwent, green riverside areas and 
the main road route. The stadium will be part screened by existing trees.

The most significant impact on view, will be from the A597 / Tesco Superstore, to the west 
of the Site. However, this is considered to be an improved vista due to the design quality 
and overall benefit of the scheme which provides a contemporary bold structure that 
underpins the future area regeneration of the locality. It replaces the remains of the main 
stand clad in bright red and adorned with advertising. 

Page 126



It is noted that there are no views from the north western edge of the Portland Square 
Conservation Area or from Curwen Park and Workington Hall. It is considered that the 
proposed development is broadly beneficial in terms of visual impact, in accordance with 
the relevant policy guidance.

Artificial lighting is proposed to be provided to the stadium, 3G pitch and to the pathways 
and car parking areas. This is to provide the following:-
 

a) Safe movement of pedestrians and vehicles;
b) Security of the site with the aim of crime prevention and to allow quality recording of 

CCTV images;
c) To provide the correct levels of illumination to outdoor sports surfaces.

The low illumination level lighting will generally be provided by the use of low maintenance, 
high efficiency LED lamps using a combination of building-mounted, ground-mounted or 
low height, column-mounted luminaires.  Sports lighting will be provided by high efficiency 
discharge lamps mounted on higher level galvanised steel columns. The lighting details will 
be secured by planning condition but will be designed to reduce adverse impacts on the 
character of the landscape, visual amenity and with regard to meeting ecology 
requirements

The existing site exhibits characteristics typical of an urban fringe and brownfield site
and clearly sits within an urban fringe context for the majority of viewpoints. The 
construction of a new stadium designed to be a prominent townscape feature, will 
transform a key gateway and arrival point to the town and regenerate an underutilised 
brownfield area. In combination with the associated public realm, the training pitch facility, 
extensive new planting, the retention of key areas of established woodland and appropriate 
ecological mitigation measures, the proposed development is considered to be broadly 
beneficial in terms of visual impact.

Design 

Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design, along with Policy S4 addresses design principles 
and standards of good design and that achieving high quality design for all development is 
a key objective of the Local Plan. 

Good design relates not only to the appearance of a development but to how it functions 
within its location and to how it contributes towards a sustainable community. The revised 
NPPF 2019 has placed greater emphasis on design and, as a landmark development that 
is prominent from a number of well used sensitive visual receptors within Workington, it is a 
key consideration and the scheme is favourably considered against policy S4.

The design has been informed through the requirements of the stakeholders including the 
Rugby Football League and Football Federation. There has also been a requirement to 
generate a community and employment hub that is visually attractive, distinctive, user 
friendly and incorporates accessible and safe public open space, thereby encouraging its 
use.

The design is considered successful in promoting the character of this locality. The stadium 

Page 127



and community destination responds to and reinforces locally distinctive patterns; (e.g. 
being sited adjacent to the River Derwent and providing a stadium replacement scheme 
adjacent to civic buildings and existing sports and leisure facilities). The scheme sits 
positively adjacent to the riverside, existing buildings, the road networks, pedestrian routes 
and heritage assets. 

The overall larger scale and massing is in keeping with the nature of the development and 
the local setting, given there are other larger buildings in the locality, including other stadia, 
the Tesco super store, Allerdale House and the Leisure Centre. These buildings are set in 
areas of significant car parking and green infrastructure.

The overall form of the building has been envisaged as a pure elliptical form which is
tilted along the North / South axis, so that the North elevation is lowered in massing 
towards the river; the west and south elevations being two storey in massing, with the east 
being the largest being 4 storey in height.

The football and rugby seasons are played through the autumn and winter months when 
the sun will be predominated moving from south west to west. The orientation minimising 
the impact on spectator and player sightlines during the match and allowing the early 
morning sun to fall on the greatest area of the pitch which will help to guard against frost.

The stadium façade comprises a mixture of glass, metal, and a lattice of timber, with 
transparent areas to reveal the internal activity and provide shelter to the spectators. The 
final design sees the stadium take an elliptical form, angled across the site to create a clear 
main access point in the south western corner, visible from the maximum number of key 
viewpoints to both pedestrians and road users, and breakup the overall appearance given 
the scale of the stadium development. Each of the spaces of the building will be designed 
to maximise the use of natural light and create a visual link from the key spaces out into the 
sports pitch at the centre of the building. All public entrances will be easily recognisable and 
accessible, with clear wayfinding for users of the different spaces.

The scheme demonstrates an integrated and unifying theme through the use of 
complementary surfacing and hard landscaping materials, incorporates tree planting and 
green infrastructure, ensures art installations and street furniture do not clutter or cause 
hazards to people with visual of mobility impairments and takes account of safety and 
security issues considering visibility and lighting and avoid light glare and spillage.

The distinctive riverside character is promoted through the careful siting of this large 
stadium within an attractive and enhanced public realm space, with views to and from the 
upper floor glazed office spaces over the riverside, 3G pitch, areas of landscaping and the 
footpath linkages and this promotes attractive, safe and interactive spaces. The provision of 
well-placed lighting, landscaping, and CCTV further deter potential criminal behaviour, 
whilst the placement of roads and protective structures reduces the risk of high-speed 
traffic moving through the site.

It is considered this landmark development will create a new and improved entrance point 
to Workington from the highway network, whilst the improvements to the existing green 
infrastructure will create safe and attractive open space at this edge of town centre location. 
Sensitive provision of lighting, will address the need for accessible and safe pedestrian 
access routes, whilst being sensitive to the ecological features and species and habitats of 

Page 128



the river. The pedestrian linkages to town centre facilities will open up the riverside corridor 
for recreational purposes. The siting of the stadium complex and the associated public 
realm areas have been designed to be sensitive to the natural and built environment 
especially given the role of the River Derwent as a green corridor and its protected status 
up stream as a Special Area of Conservation.

There are legible connections within and through the development reflecting desire lines to 
and from entrances to the various uses and landmarks within the site (such as the main 
entrance and features within the public realm spaces). There are pedestrian links to 
destinations beyond the boundaries such as the sports centre, Allerdale House and Tesco. 
There are also pedestrian linkages to the town centre and transport hubs to include the 
railway station. 

Designing out crime assessment has been addressed in the supporting Design and Access 
Statement. Informed by Safer Places – The Planning System and Crime Prevention (OPDM 
/ Home Office, 2003). Section E.5 of the Design and Access Statement outlines how the 
scheme’s design has considered: access and movement, structure, surveillance, 
ownership, physical protection, activity, and management and maintenance, to establish a 
safe and secure environment, for all users (policies S2 and S4 apply). 

The scheme ensures accessibility for all including within the stands’ viewing areas (best 
design practice includes platforms for wheelchairs users set higher within the main seating 
areas). 

In accordance with ALLP1 Adopted DM12 Sustainable construction, the development is 
designed to address the impacts of climate change and will endeavour to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions and energy consumption through the use of construction materials that 
maximise energy efficiency and the incorporation of low carbon/renewable energy sources 
and by giving consideration to the orientation of buildings.

Sustainable access

Policies S2 and S22 of the adopted Local Plan are applicable, the underlying thrust of the 
policies is to promote sustainable access for all and minimise car-borne journeys.

In this context, it is accepted that there will be a residual demand for access by car to the 
site but the sustainable siting should foster and maximise multi-modal access by foot, cycle 
and public transport. 

The proposed development directly replaces the existing stadium of Borough Park,
located on-site with a capacity of 3,000 and is also intended to replace Derwent Park,
which is located approximately 250 metres to the west of the site with a capacity of
10,000, to provide a single joint facility for both Workington AFC and Workington Town
RLFC. Derwent Park is not part of this proposed development. However, the stadium is
within the control of the applicant and there is an intention for it not be in use at the same
time as the proposed new stadium.

A Travel Plan Framework sets out proposed measures and initiatives to be implemented at 
the site to encourage sustainable travel behaviour and minimise traffic associated with the 
development. The following measures are proposed: 

Page 129



 A Travel Plan Coordinator; 
 Travel Information Packs; 
 Cycle/Pedestrian facilities; 
 Community notice board; 
 Access to public transport; 
 Reducing the need to travel; 
 Bicycle User Group; 
 Car sharing; and 
 Special Event Management Plan. 

The Travel Plan and its monitoring shall be secured by planning condition. 

It is concluded that the Transport Assessments (TA) demonstrates that the development 
proposals are compliant with the main transport related policies and objectives, such as: 
promoting sustainable transport and improving existing facilities and will have no adverse 
impact on the safety or operation of the strategic and local road network.

The TA has taken account of the transport policies set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and local design guides. It demonstrates that satisfactory access can 
be provided and the site is in a sustainable location and can be accessed by sustainable 
travel modes and the off-site traffic impacts of the proposals will not be severe in 
accordance with the NPPF 2019 Paragraphs 202, 208 and 209 and ALPP1 (Policies S2; 
S22; S23). These conclusions are subject to the enhancement of footway connectivity, the 
provision of a Puffin crossing across the A597 and enhanced bus stop facilities in the 
vicinity of the site. These can be secured through Grampian conditions and the necessary 
monies for the implementation by the County Council secured through section 106 
obligations. 

The scheme has been designed with well-defined routes, spaces and entrances that 
provide for convenient movement without compromising security. Paths follow pedestrian 
desire lines and form well-lit, overlooked connections which avoid blind corners or obvious 
hiding places. Lighting has been integrated within the design to enhance the public realm 
and also tackle issues of crime and safety this hall be secured by planning condition.

The nearest bus stops to the site are on the A597 New Bridge Road, adjacent to the Tesco 
Superstore. The bus stops on the A597 New Bridge Road are located approximately 100 
metres’ walking distance from the centre of the site. Bus services are available during 
weekdays and at the weekend including Sunday, which makes bus a viable option of travel 
to the development site. 

The nearest railway station is Workington Railway station that is situated approximately
540m south west of the development site. The station is approximately an 8-minute walk
from the site along the A597 New Bridge Street. The railway station can also be accessed 
via the number 30, 60, Stagecoach Gold 300 and Stagecoach Gold 301 services. The 30 
and 300 also serve the stops outside of the site.

The station is operated by Northern Rail and provides services to local stations including 
Harrington, Parton, Flimby and Maryport. The station also provides links further afield to 

Page 130



Barrow in Furness and Carlisle with onward connections to the national rail network. 

It is considered necessary to provide the missing links of footway along the desire line 
between the station and the site. Again this can be secured by a Grampian condition and a 
s106 obligation. 

Residual transport impact

Key junctions across the local and strategic highway network have been assessed using 
industry standard software. The junction capacity assessments demonstrate that no 
physical mitigation is needed at off-site junctions to accommodate the proposed 
development traffic flows. It is therefore concluded that the traffic impacts of the proposed 
development are not significant in the context of the NPPF.

Traffic growth has been considered from the background traffic flows, based on the2015 
and 2018 traffic surveys, to the Opening Year (2021) and to a period of ten years after the 
registration of the planning application (2028 Future Assessment Year). 

Committed developments i.e. those developments with the benefit of a planning consent, 
but not yet built, were discussed during scoping with the County Highways Authority. It was 
agreed that two committed developments exist (the aforementioned two hotel and public 
house developments) and should be considered as well as Workington Leisure Centre; the 
Persimmon site on the former steel works and Dunmail Park (including the permitted site to 
the west). The flows presented in the TA are provided for the PM and Saturday Peak hours 
only, but these developments are now in operation so included within the 2018 traffic 
surveys. The Former Corus Steel Works site is expected to take a number of years to build 
out and therefore will likely not have been complete by 2018. As such, the full level of 
committed development traffic flows associated with this development have also been 
added to the 2018 traffic surveys in the AM Peak, forming a robust assessment

Traffic surveys were carried in 2015 and 2018 to consider the existing operation of the 
following junctions: 

 A597/A596/Northside Road roundabout; 
 A597/Tesco/Black Path/William Street roundabout;
 A597 Gyratory and 
 the A66/A596 signal junction.

A further survey of Ramsey Brow has been provided.

Capacity assessment of these junctions has been accepted by Highways England and 
Cumbria Highways.

On a typical weekday the office development and NHS facility at the site would be expected 
to have their associated peak traffic flows in the AM and PM Peaks. The majority of trips to 
the site would originate from Workington, as the main conurbation within the study area and 
the new NHS facility will allow for the consolidation of existing primary health facilities in 
Workington and the traffic flows to be reassigned from the base traffic flows by the existing 
GP surgeries.

Page 131



The hospitality suite and training pitch would not be expected to generate any significant 
level of trips during a typical weekday in the peak hours of the development.

The vehicle trips associated with the proposed office development have been derived from 
the TRICS database for the category ‘Employment – Office’. The office development is not 
expected to be operational at the weekends, when matches at the stadium would take 
place.

Future year capacity assessments were also carried out, which assessed background 
traffic growth, committed development and the proposed development. The operation of all 
junctions was modelled in the AM and PM Peak periods to determine the impact of the 
NHS facility and office development. The capacity assessments showed that the proposed 
development on a typical weekday would not result in a material impact at any junctions, 
with only the Workington Gyratory expected to operate over capacity.

The weekday traffic flows used in the capacity assessments are considered to be robust, 
with full growth factors and committed developments included (potential for double 
counting) and the maximum peak hour traffic flows used and the peak proposed 
development trip rates included, which may occur at different times in the peak periods.

The junction capacity assessments demonstrate that no physical mitigation is needed at 
off-site junctions to accommodate the proposed development traffic flows. It is therefore 
concluded that the traffic impacts of the proposed development are not severe or 
significant.

Sufficient parking will be provided for a typical weekday within short walking distance of
the site, with an extension to the Griffin Street car park proposed and new pedestrian
links provided including a new pedestrian footbridge. 

For match days, the trip generation for the proposed stadium has been carried out using 
first principles and split between two future year scenarios. The scenarios considered are 
for a future year attendance of 2,000 spectators on a match day and 8,000 spectators for 
major matches or if the sports clubs make substantial progress in their respective league 
systems. The match day operational capacity assessments have been carried out at the 
local highway network junctions based on a range of modelling scenarios, including existing 
stadium usage and expected occupancy of the proposed stadium.

The operation of the local highway network was considered on a match day, with the 
stadium in use, with 2,000 spectators, using the Saturday traffic flows. Again, the
assessments demonstrated that the development would not have a material impact at
any junctions, with only the gyratory at the Viaduct expected to operate over capacity. 

The first principle trip generation calculations have been based on the applicant’s transport 
consultant’s previous experience of stadium developments which splits the trips between 
home and away fans. There has been little relevant information originating from the existing 
stadiums at Workington as attendance levels are currently much lower than those 
associated with the future new stadium scenarios.

A total of 353 car trips would be generated in the 2,000 spectator scenario. The majority of 

Page 132



supporters expected on a match day are anticipated to be home fans, with 80% of the 
spectators, which equates to 1,600 supporters. A large proportion of the home fans are 
expected to be from Workington and neighbouring villages, with 500 fans assumed to walk 
to the proposed stadium, 40 cycling, 100 by bus and 100 by rail. This results in a total of 
860 supporters travelling to the site by car and with an average car occupancy of 3 people 
per car, this equates to a total of 286 car trips to the site. 

Away fans are expected to be 20% of the spectators, or 400 of the 2,000 spectator 
attendance. 100 of these are anticipated to travel by coach and 100 by rail, resulting in a 
total of 200 spectators by car. With an average car occupancy of 3 people per car, this 
equates to a total of 67 car trips to the site. 

On match days, additional parking will be available at Allerdale House and with the 
extended Griffin Street car park, the facilities will be able to cater for all car trips to the 
stadium associated with the 2,000 spectator scenario. 

A further test with 8,000 spectator/fans was carried out for events that may be held at the 
stadium and this showed that there would be minimal changes in the operation of the local 
highway network compared to the 2,000 spectators.

With 8,000 spectators, the match day operations will change, with a greater emphasis on 
non-car trips, along with an increase in the proportion of away fans to the stadium. 2,400 
home supporters are assumed to walk to the stadium, up to 160 spectators cycle, 400 by 
bus and 800 by rail. A further 300 home fans are predicted to travel to the stadium by 
coach from other towns within Cumbria. This results in a total 1,540 supporters travelling to 
the site by car and with an average car occupancy of 3 people per car, this equates to a 
total of 513 car trips. 

30%, or 2,400 spectators, are predicted to be away supporters in the 8,000 spectator 
scenario. 1,000 spectators are predicted to travel by coach as the organised trips are 
expanded and improved and 400 by rail, resulting in a total of 1,000 spectators by car. With 
an average car occupancy of 3 people per car, this equates to a total of 333 car trips to 
Workington.

The away fans have been considered to have travelled from the local area from each of the 
rugby league teams within the top 3 tiers of the game. This showed that routing
to/ from Workington would be via the A66 for all away fans, except two (Whitehaven RLFC 
and Barrow Raiders). As such, all away fans have been distributed via the A66, and routed 
to the car parking areas along Griffin Street via the A597.

In the 8,000 spectator scenario, a proportion of the trips to Workington would need to park 
within the public car parks or temporary parking areas. Distributing the fans to the public car 
parks within the town centre is considered robust, with temporary parking more likely to be 
located on the outskirts of Workington, at Park & Ride sites.

With circa 8,000 spectators/fans, consideration for temporary parking facilities will be 
required and an Event Management Plan is considered necessary. 

Page 133



Green Infrastructure and Arboriculture

Policies S24, S33 and DM17 of the Local Plan is applicable.

This Site is allocated within an extensive network of green infrastructure and a landscaping 
scheme is proposed to enhance the development’s overall appearance, facilitate and 
encourage the safe movement of pedestrians and to open up the existing green 
infrastructure to provide better access to the River Derwent Corridor for leisure pursuits and 
yet promote and protect habitats. 

The majority of on-site trees will be retained and, following ecology recommendations, the 
riverbank will be reinforced with native trees.
 
Whilst not located within a conservation area, nor having any registered Tree Preservation 
Areas (TPOs), the area contains 27 trees that contribute significantly to the character of the 
Site and local amenity. As such, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment accompanied the 
application and Category B trees (T8, T9, G13) have been retained on Site. 

Works to trees and tree management in perpetuity can be secured by planning conditions. 
The scheme is favourably considered against policy DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and 
Woodland which sets out that, wherever possible, existing trees, hedgerows and woodland 
that are considered important to the local community, contribute positively to the character 
of the area and/or are of nature conservation value will be protected. 

To address the loss of any poorer quality trees the scheme has provided a landscape plan 
that accords with policy S24 Green Infrastructure through the creation, enhancement, 
maintenance and protection of a range of green infrastructure assets that contribute to a 
diverse network of natural and manmade green and blue spaces, links and habitats and 
landscapes, which are accessible to all.

Ecology and biodiversity overview

Policy S35 - Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity - requires that 
development proposals ensure conditions for biodiversity will be maintained and improved 
and important geodiversity assets will be protected. Of note and relevant to the proposal 
are the protection and enhancement of key ecological habitats and wildlife corridors 
including watercourses and wetlands. There is also protection of soil and water resources 
in accordance with policy S36 and contribution to the green infrastructure network in line 
with policy S24.

As previously addressed there will also be the protection of existing trees, hedgerows and 
woodland that are considered important to the local community and that contribute 
positively to the character of the area and/or are of a nature conservation value.

The scope of the Ecological Impact Assessment was determined based on an 
understanding of the development proposal, a review of aerial images a Site Inspection 
Report – Workington 1/WOR/024/M (WYG, undated); and, Phase 1: Desk Top Study 
Report (Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment) (GEO Environmental Engineering, 
2017) and consideration has given to cumulative impacts, since impacts acting in 
combination may have a cumulative impact exceeding that of the separate impacts. 

Page 134



The site contains the existing Workington AFC stadium, with areas of open semi-improved 
grassland and both plantation and semi-natural woodland on the land to the east of this. It 
is situated immediately adjacent to the River Derwent, which forms the northern boundary. 
In addition, there is a small watercourse to the south. 

International nature conservation designations within 10 km of the Site boundary, national 
statutory or local non-statutory nature conservation designations within 2 km of the Site; 
and records of protected and/or notable habitats and species within 2 km of the Site were 
all identified. A Phase 1 habitat survey was also completed. Apart from Borough Park, the 
site largely comprises plantation woodland and unmanaged coarse neutral grassland. 

Five species of invasive non-native plants were identified within the survey area. Those of 
highest ecological concern were Himalayan balsam and Japanese knotweed. In addition 
there is variegated yellow archangel, Japanese rose and Snowberry. The Himalayan 
balsam was scattered throughout the woodland immediately east of the existing stadium 
and at the eastern edge of the site boundary. A dense stand of Japanese knotweed was 
found on the edge of the woodland immediately east of the existing stadium and also as 
two smaller stands further east. Japanese rose was limited to two small patches in the 
approximate centre of the Site, whilst variegated yellow archangel was only found in one 
location at the very east of the Development boundary

There has previously been a bridge across the River Derwent which passed through the 
open part of the site, this being installed due to the downstream road bridge being washed 
away by a flood event. A large part of the site appears to be on historic landfill as 
evidenced by large quantities of glass and other material in parts of the river bank. The 
riverbank within the Site is heavily eroding along much of its length, with the exception of 
that closest to the existing stadium. There is localised but recent heavy ground disturbance 
within the site.

There is no woodland classified as ancient within the site or the immediate surrounds; the 
thin strip of woodland between the existing stadium and River Derwent is semi-mature 
broadleaved plantation. The triangle of woodland in the eastern part of the site is mostly 
semi-mature mixed woodland. The site also comprises areas of scrub and grassland. 

Some predicted residual significant ecological effects are beneficial and would arise due to 
the creation of species-rich grassland following the completion of construction.

No kidney vetch Anthyllis vulneraria was identified on Site and this is likely due to the 
thickness of the grassland sward. As such, it is considered that the habitat is unsuitable for 
small blue butterfly, which relies on this species as its sole food plant.

Siddick Pond is the largest coastal waterbody in the area and is situated approximately 
485m north of the Site, on the opposite side of the River Derwent. The location, fringing 
reed bed and surrounding grassland and scrub provide excellent habitats for waterfowl and 
other birds. Of particular note are non-breeding roosts of starling Sturnus vulgaris, 
comprising up to 20,000 birds. There is a relatively small housing estate between the Site 
and Siddick Pond and this may be a barrier to movement of terrestrial species. However, 
given the short distance between the two locations, it is expected that birds could readily 
move between them. Within the pond is base-rich and consequently supports a diversity of 

Page 135



plant species. 

The Development is situated approximately 345 metres downstream of the nearest 
boundary of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) and the boundary of the SSSI is approximately 310 meters to the east of the Site, 
upstream along the River Derwent. The closest component of the SSSI is the Mill Stream, 
which flows in to the River Derwent.

Six non-statutory wild life designated sites were identified within 2 km of the Site and four 
were located north of the River Derwent. Of these, Hazel Gill County Wildlife Site (CWS) 
and Hallguards Gill CWS (approximately 1.5 km and 1.1 km north-east of the Site, 
respectively) contain ancient woodland of semi-natural origin. Oldside CWS is of interest for 
the presence of small blue butterfly Cupido minimus and, based on a review of aerial 
images, Barepot CWS appears to comprise a pond and an area of woodland statutory 
designations.

The only notable habitats within the survey area are the watercourses. Of particular note 
are the River Derwent and its tributaries which are of international and/or national 
importance as reflected in their designation as Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and/or 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

The Derwent-Cocker is the largest nutrient-poor river in England that still retains high water 
quality and a natural channel. The nationally rare floating water-plantain Luronium natans 
and vendace Coregonus vandesius both occur in Derwentwater. The fish fauna of the 
Rivers Derwent and Cocker include Atlantic salmon, Sea lamprey, Brook lamprey and River 
lamprey.  The key features of the SSSI can be categorised as aquatic flora; riparian 
habitats; invertebrates; fish. The River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC 
encompasses those named waterbodies in addition to a number of other tributary 
watercourses such as the River Cocker and River Marron. Derwent Water, which is a large 
lake connected to Bassenthwaite Lake by the River Derwent, is also included within the 
boundary of the SAC.

The SSSI is designated under Article 4(4) of the Habitats Directive as it hosts important 
examples of clear-water lakes with aquatic vegetation and poor to moderate nutrient levels; 
and, rivers with floating vegetation often dominated by water-crowfoot. In addition, it also 
qualifies under Article 4(4) as it supports the following species listed on Annex II: Marsh 
fritillary butterfly; salmon; sea lamprey; river lamprey; brook lamprey; otter; and, floating 
water-plantain.

The conservation objectives of the River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC are to 
ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored, as appropriate, and ensure 
that the site contributes to achieving the favourable conservation status of its qualifying 
features, by maintaining or restoring the extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats 
and habitats of qualifying species; the structure and function (including typical species) of 
qualifying natural habitats; the structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species; 
the supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and the habitats of qualifying 
species rely; the populations of qualifying species; and, the distribution of qualifying species 
within the site.

Due to the nearest boundary of the SAC being located 345 metres upstream along the 

Page 136



River Derwent from the closest part of the Site, at the A596 road bridge there can be no 
‘direct’ impacts upon SAC habitats. However, since the river in this section is tidal, there is 
the possibility of indirect impacts through the transfer of pollution into SAC habitats (in the 
absence or failure of pollution controls, and during either construction or operation). Hence 
the site is within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of the SAC. 
Extreme spring tides may reach at most as far as Yearl Weir. Therefore pollutants could not 
normally reach the SAC except under exceptional spring tides, during which there would 
also be a very large dilution effect. That said protection of the River Derwent and any 
indirect impacts on the SAC from construction/ decommissioning activities can be mitigated 
by a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), to be secured by planning 
condition. The necessity for mitigation resulted in an Appropriate Assessment being 
required under the Habitat Regulations following screening by this local planning authority.
14

A summary of the Appropriate Assessment is provided below.

Ecology - Habitat Regulations – Appropriate Assessment (Fish) 

Several of the qualifying species of the SAC are mobile (migratory) and could therefore 
occur near the site and be affected by the development. This report has already noted that 
the marsh fritillary butterfly has been excluded from further assessment because there is no 
suitable habitat for this species at the Site. Furthermore, only a single record of this species 
was returned from the Cumbria Biodiversity Data Centre (CBDC) as part of the desk study 
undertaken to inform the EcIA. This was from Oldside, which is designated as a County 
Wildlife Site, approximately 1.1 km from the Site, north of the River Derwent.

Floating water-plantain was also excluded from further assessment as there will be no 
Likely Significant Effects on this non-mobile plant species through the relevant impact 
pathway (water quality). The relevant mobile species to consider are therefore fish to 
include salmon, all three lamprey species and otter.

Ecologists conducted a site walkover of all watercourses within 500 meters of the 
development.  It is noted this section of the River Derwent is tidal and the saline influence 
makes it unlikely that salmon or lamprey would spawn here. In addition, no suitable 
spawning habitat for salmon or lamprey was found during field survey within 500 metres of 
the Site. The Soapery Beck (Mill Stream), to the south of the Development and which is a 
tributary of the River Derwent, is unlikely to be used by salmon at all and has no suitability 
for spawning lamprey. However, this watercourse is known to support lamprey 
ammocoetes (larvae) and these may be directly associated with upstream populations 
within the SAC boundary. Both salmon and lamprey will migrate past the Site along the 
River Derwent to areas within the SAC. Consequently, there is the potential for salmon and 
lampreys within the River Derwent, and/or lamprey ammocoetes within the Soapery Beck to 
be affected by the Development

Lamprey ammocoetes in the Soapery Beck are liable to be adversely affected by any 
pollution caused by the evelopment, including sediment run-off or spillage of fuel or 

14 The European Court of Justice (ECJ) for People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (Case C-323/17) ruled that 
measures designed to avoid or mitigate adverse effect, which might include modification of site selection or boundaries to avoid the 
‘zone of influence’ where effects on the European site cannot be discounted, design of the scheme, allocation of buffer zones, 
limiting of operation periods, and others, can no longer be considered in HRA screening.

Page 137



chemicals. A suitable Construction Environmental Plan (CEMP) can mitigate construction 
activities to ensure protection of the species during construction to be secured by planning 
condition.

Secured by planning condition earthworks can be limited during the construction period 
(between 07:00 and 18:00 each day) and will therefore largely be carried out in daylight 
given the proximity of residential areas. If works are required during hours of darkness, 
artificial lighting could affect fish in the Mill Stream and/or the River Derwent by preventing 
their movement up- or downstream or by making them more vulnerable to predation. 

Construction disturbance is a matter to consider, particular with regard to piling on the site 
Piling will be on land and there will be no piling within the channel of the River Derwent or 
the Mill Stream but vibration and noise from piling can carry to the watercourses and 
propagate underwater, in turn, prevent fish migrating through the impacted area. This 
would be an issue during the period that salmon or lamprey may be migrating past the Site, 
which is taken to be September to January, inclusive, for all species except sea lamprey 
which are expected to migrate between April and May, inclusive. 

In response, officers consider it necessary that no piling should take place within 50 metres 
of the River Derwent or the Soapery Beck during the periods September to January 
inclusive, and April to May inclusive to avoid fish migratory periods. 

Outside the fish migratory periods a ‘soft start’ technique is considered necessary during 
piling works within 50 metres of the River Derwent and Mill Stream. This involves the 
commencement of piling with reduced energy to minimise the initial effect and give any 
potentially affected species in the area time to flee before higher energies are used. 

Construction and operation of the 2 surface water outfalls would also have the potential to 
impact on river geomorphology and may disturb migratory fish; given in river works has the 
potential for sediment pollution. Details of these works and construction details can be alo 
secured in the CEMP, Furthermore the outfall will also be subject to further regulatory 
measures and assessment by the Environment Agency.

Artificial lighting has the potential to affect fish during both construction and operation of the 
Development. However, the floodlights used during the operational phase, although high-
powered, will be highly directional (into the stadium rather than outwards onto surrounding 
habitats and buildings) and used on an occasional basis and for a relatively short period of 
time on each occasion. Floodlights will be used as required for evening games which take 
place during the hours of darkness. The closest of the stadium floodlights is approximately 
20 metres from the River Derwent. 

Floodlights will also be used for the multi-use sports pitch adjacent to the stadium, which is 
likely to be used on a more frequent basis, possibly daily. Permanent artificial lighting units 
installed along the River Derwent could result in the illumination of the watercourse (3G and 
footpath lights) if not mitigated and therefore, artificial light could result in a Likely 
Significant Effect on qualifying fish species. 

To address the adverse effects of lighting on fish, the careful design, siting and use of 
lighting will need to be secured by planning conditions.  
The parameters of the lighting requirements to be secured by planning condition have been 

Page 138



agreed with Natural England and the Environment Agency and addressed at appropriate 
assessment stage.

Ecology - Habitat Regulations – Appropriate Assessment (Otter) 

A survey for otter was undertaken in suitable habitat up to 200 metres from the 
Development. Evidence searched for included: holts, laying-up areas, spraints, footprints, 
trails and foraging evidence. One otter resting site was identified within the survey area, on 
the south bank of the River Derwent, immediately adjacent to the Site boundary. 

Due to the obvious position of the holt on a major watercourse and the fact that the River 
Derwent at this location is tidal and water levels are consequently likely to fluctuate 
substantially, it is considered unlikely that this feature would be used for breeding by otter. 

The otter holt is situated approximately 20 metres from the nearest point of the proposed 
training pitch, and approximately 110 metres from the new stadium. There are trees 
surrounding the holt, but it is anticipated that these will be retained. The only other 
evidence of otter activity found during the survey was a single footprint in the mud on a 
large boulder which forms part of riverbank reinforcement just east of the Site boundary. 
The River Derwent provides optimal foraging and commuting habitat for otter and it is highly 
likely that this species occurs in the vicinity of the Site throughout the year. 

Otters are a highly mobile species and are likely to use both the River Derwent and the Mill 
Stream for foraging and commuting. As for the qualifying fish species, therefore, pollution of 
the aquatic environment could affect otters. Construction and operation of the 2 surface 
water outfalls would also have the potential to impact on river geomorphology and may 
disturb otter; given in river works has the potential for sediment pollution. Details of these 
works and construction details can be secured in a Construction Environmental Plan 
planning condition and a surface water planning condition to ensure best practice in river 
works during construction. Furthermore the outfall will also be subject to further regulatory 
measures and assessment by the Environment Agency.

It is reasonable to consider that the otter holt is functionally linked to the River Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite Lake SAC and it is possible that disturbance of otters using the holt may 
occur. With an abundance of alternative resting sites beyond the distance at which 
disturbance from works is likely and, because the holt is not suitable for breeding, any 
disturbance of otters is unlikely to affect the wider population or distribution of the species.

It is generally considered however that typical construction activities within 30 metres of an 
otter holt is likely to cause disturbance of an otter using that feature. This is increased for 
particularly intensive activities, such as piling.  Piling works during construction could 
generate sufficient noise and vibration within the River Derwent and river bank to impact on 
otters. It is considered appropriate to be secured by planning condition that for the non-
breeding otter holt, there shall be a 50 metres piling setback from the River Derwent and 
otter holt. For a breeding otter holt the piling setback distance would need to be extended 
to 100 metres if there is good cover or 200 metres if not. A licence from Natural England 
must be obtained to permit all works which may result in disturbance of otters using the 
holt.

Given, the use of otter holts may change through the year, from a non-breeding holt to a 

Page 139



breeding holt, to be secured by planning condition a survey will be required to check when 
work is due to begin to determine if the holt is used from breeding or not. 

Lighting fixtures installed alongside the River Derwent could artificially illuminate the 
watercourse and/or the holt in this area, causing long-term disturbance to foraging, 
commuting and/or resting otters. Design of operational lighting needs to ensure that 
artificial illumination of the River Derwent or the Mill Stream does not exceed 0.2 lux, or that 
baseline levels are not increased where these achieved

Artificial lighting used elsewhere (or for security or health and safety reasons) during the 
demolition/ construction period needs to be directed onto the required area and light spill to 
surrounding areas, including the watercourses, shall be prevented by the use of beam 
deflectors. 

During the operational phase of the development, potential periods of disturbance will be 
limited to times when the stadium is being used for matches or when the training pitch or 
other facilities are being used. Although use of the stadium for matches may attract up to 
8,000 people (the capacity of the stadium), this will be infrequent and any disturbance 
caused would be short-term in duration. Use of the Development by smaller numbers of 
people on a more frequent basis is unlikely to cause substantial disturbance to otters, either 
using the holt or otherwise foraging or commuting in the River Derwent or Mill Stream. 

The floodlights used during operation of the new stadium are not predicted to result in a 
significant effect on otters given their directionality and occasional use. However, as part of 
permanent lighting fixtures are proposed along a new footpath adjacent to the River 
Derwent. If improperly designed, these could cause increased illumination of the 
watercourse, in addition to the otter holt in this area. Natural England has accepted 
mitigation measures addressed at appropriate assessment to be secured by planning 
conditions.

With regard for the potential for cumulative effects with other developments in the locality, it 
is considered there will be no other projects which could result in significant cumulative 
effects.

Ecology - Other species 

Survey for badger was carried out in suitable habitat up to at least 100 metres from the 
Development.  Given their absence from the site there will be no effect on badgers. 

Surveys were also carried out for the presence of red squirrel dreys in areas of woodland / 
trees within 50 m of the site. No evidence of red squirrel was found and it is concluded that 
the Development will have a negligible effect on red squirrel.

All areas of habitat within 500 m of the Development which are suitable for supporting 
wintering populations of water birds were surveyed. In addition, the survey covered Siddick 
Pond, which is located just beyond 500 metres from the application site, but is important for 
supporting a range of bird species. Areas of suitable habitat included all areas of amenity 
grassland, hard-standing, waterbodies etc. The target species included all geese, swans, 
ducks, waders, herons, grebes, rails, cormorants and kingfisher. The protection of breeding 
and wintering birds during demolition/ construction can be secured by planning conditions 

Page 140



Following the completion of construction a beneficial effect will be the provision of bird 
nesting boxes that can be secured by planning condition.

No bat roosts were identified during the dusk emergence / dawn re-entry surveys. However, 
low levels of bat activity by two species – common pipistrelle and soprano pipistrelle – was 
recorded around the existing stadium during surveys. The only feature identified as having 
any bat roost suitability was the existing stadium and dusk and dawn surveys were 
conducted. A beneficial effect will be the provision of 6 additional bat boxes.

It was not possible to conduct reliable surveys for water vole or reptiles, which are both 
more optimally surveyed during the spring and/or summer. Officers consider a further 
survey prior to work commencing on site can be secured by planning condition and matters 
relating to mitigation can be suitably secured by planning condition if necessary. 
Great crested newt was excluded as there are no suitable waterbodies within 250 m of the 
Site and no records of this species were returned during the desk study.

It is considered that matters relating to ecology have been fully addressed in accordance 
with the Development Plan (Policies S2; S5; S24; S33; S35).

Amenity

Policy S32 of the Local Plan Part 1 sets out that support will be given for proposals which 
make a positive contribution to the area by maintaining or improving the quality of the 
environment and amenity. Relevant criteria include:-

a) Pollution or hazards which prejudice the health and safety of communities and their 
environments, including nature conservation interests and the water environment 
which cannot be overcome by appropriate mitigation measures;

b) Privacy as a result of overlooking, or increased sense of enclosure as a result of 
overbearing development or a loss of sunlight/daylight received by a property as a 
result of overshadowing;

c) Significant adverse environmental impact including noise and/or pollution to the 
water environment or deterioration of the Water Framework Directive Classification 
Status;

Following an initial review, the impact of the proposed development is considered to raise 
no material concerns with regards to the creation of noise. It is noted that the development 
replaces an existing open sports stadium with an enclosed proposal of four connected, 
enclosed stands. As such, the increase in noise generated by potential fans is considered 
to be mitigated by the increased insulation provided by the enhanced enclosure of the 
pitch. 
With regards to the impact of the internal uses conflicting with one another from an acoustic 
perspective, this is generally not an issue due to the operating hours. The community 
(proposed NHS), office, and conference facilities are low-noise generating uses and, during 
occasions in which the stadium hosts events and crowds of people, the community and 
office facilities will be closed due to the days and times at which these regularly occur, 
causing no conflicting noise generation. 

Should this not be the case, these facilities will be notified in advance to allow for planned 
early closures, ensuring there is no disturbance to those undertaking work within the 

Page 141



development. 

The hospitality /conference suite also becomes part of the sporting / special events space 
and, as such, this provides no concern regarding potential conflicts between the land uses 
within the stadium due to the different hours the uses operate. That said, noise related 
planning conditions can safeguard noise levels relating to music, the public address system 
and any on site ventilation or extraction unit equipment.

The construction of the new stadium may require piling activities to be undertaken as 
detailed previously however, with regard to noise and the impact on surrounding residents 
and businesses, the times of piling operations can be secured in a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan. 

It is not considered that the stadium or its uses will adverse amenity issues that cannot be 
controlled by planning conditions. As such, it is considered to be in accordance with the 
Development Plan (Policies S2; S4; S5; S32).

Ground Investigation and Contamination

Policy S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality of the Local Plan addresses the protection of the 
quality of air and water resources within the Plan Area and that opportunities for 
enhancement will be pursued. 

The site has a mixed history, with particular risk / concern surrounding the potential 
contamination of the land to the north of the Black Path due to its former uses.

A Phase 1: Desk Top Study Report (preliminary environmental risk assessment) was 
submitted with the application supporting an initial scoping for geo-environmental 
implications on the site. A Phase 2 report to address remediation and verification of 
contamination works can be secured by planning condition as advised by the Council’s by 
Environmental Protection officer.

Statement of Community involvement

A strategy for consulting key statutory and non-statutory consultees, councillors and the 
community involved liaison with the relevant external stakeholders, alongside hosting a 
public exhibition event for Councillors and the public to attend.

With regard to Councillors and the community, a pubic exhibition was held on 4th 
December 2018 at the Workington Leisure Centre. This was attended by around 140 
people, with 46 written responses being received during and after the event. The feedback 
received was primarily positive, with the vast majority of respondents being fully supportive 
of the scheme and enthusiastic about its delivery. Queries related to technical matters were 
generally answered on the day by the project team.

There were additionally a number of key comments / issues raised by those who provided 
written feedback, relating to the stadium design, speedway, public open space, 
sustainability and location. It is considered the submitted for planning permission was 
informed by the feedback from the community, councillors, other consultees and 
stakeholders. 

Page 142



 
Conclusion 

The stadium complex scheme with its associated and aggregated uses is considered to be 
a sustainable development in terms of matters relating to the economic, social and 
environmental considerations and is deemed to accord with Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 
policies as detailed throughout the report and consistent with the principles of the NPPF 
2019. 

The provision of the stadium complex in this highly accessible location would provide 
enhanced, substantial and sustainable employment, community and recreation and leisure 
facilities for the benefit of the community within Workington and the wider area. 

The proposed edge of centre location satisfies the requirements of the sequential 
assessment required by planning policy relating to both town centre uses. The proposed 
development has the potential to make a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of 
the town centre as a result of the increase footfall and activity generated by the stadium 
development.

The submitted information demonstrates that the development and the package of 
mitigation measures proposed will address any issues relating to potential flood risk and 
environmental impact. 

The scheme is acceptable in design terms and will not have an adverse impact on 
residential amenity or adverse impact on nearby heritage assets.

RECOMMENDATION: THE DECISION TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT 
TO CONDITIONS BE DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL 
MANAGER UPON THE SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT SECURING:-

 PUFFIN CROSSING (SIGNALLED PEDESTRIAN) A597 Circa £80,000
 BUS STOP IMPROVEMENTS/   BUS STOP SHELTERS TIMETABLE BOARD 

ETC.) Circa £15,000
 FOOTWAY LIGHTING (ENHANCED ACCESS) Circa £10,277.76
 FOOTWAY ALONGSIDE SOUTH SIDE OF A597 BETWEEN ROUNDABOUT AND 

CHURCH STREET JUNCTIONS Circa £24,034.20

Page 143



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

Time

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
Design and Access Statement
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment
Supporting Letter
Statement to Inform Appropriate Assessment
Phase 1 GeoEnvironmental Report
Flood Risk Assessment v03 7 March 2019
Planning Statement
Drainage Strategy Report
Ecological Impact Assessment
Flood Risk Assessment Revision 3
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Arboricultural Plans 1,2,3,4 and 5.
Travel Plan
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
4268-AL(0)011 Rev D Proposed Site Plan
Transport Assessment S4WC-ACM-00-XX-DR-GT-000001 
Ground Investigations Plan 
Heritage Assessment 
4268-AL(0)110 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 0 
4268-AL(0)111 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 1 
4268-AL(0)112 Rev B - Proposed Floor Plan Level 2
4268-AL(0)113 Rev A - Proposed Floor Plans Level 3
4268-AL(0)120 Rev C - Proposed Roof Plan
4268-AL(0)130 Rev B - Proposed Elevations
4268-AL(0)140 Rev B- Proposed Section A-B
4268-AL(0)141 Rev B - Proposed Sections E & F
4268-AL(0)142 Rev A - Proposed Site Section A-D
4268-AL(0)144 Rev A - Proposed Section B & H
4268-AL(0)145 - Proposed Sections C & D
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000200A - Drainage Layout 1 of 3 
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000201A - Drainage Layout 2 of 3 
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000202A - Drainage Layout 3 of 3
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000203A - Drainage Pop up locations
4268-AL(0)040 Existing Site Sections A-D
Fish Habitat Survey Report

Page 144



Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000104A Earthworks Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000100A Proposed Hardworks Layout - Sheet 1 
of 2
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000101A - Proposed Hardworks Layout - Sheet 
2 of 2
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000105A Proposed Kerbing Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000102A Proposed Levels Layout
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000110A Proposed Platform Layout
Landscape Plans 1494 01 G Sheet 1 of 2
Landscape Plans  1495 02 G Sheet 2 of 2
Bat Roost Survey
Statement of Community Involvement
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000030A- PROPOSED SWEPT PATH LAYOUT 
(SHEET 1 OF 3)
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000031A- PROPOSED SWEPT PATH LAYOUT 
(SHEET 2 OF 3)
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000032A- PROPOSED SWEPT PATH LAYOUT 
(SHEET 3 OF 3)
4268-AL(0)001 Rev A- Location Plan
Sequential Test
Lighting Report
4268-AL(0)010 - Rev D - Existing Site Plan
108115-001 Rev A - Car Park Layout

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:

3. Prior to the carrying out of any demolition works the existing Borough Park 
shall be recorded in accordance with a Level 1 Survey as described by 
Historic England’s document Understanding Historic Buildings A Guide to 
Good Recording Practice, 2016. Within 2 months of the commencement of 
construction works a copy of the resultant Level 1 Survey report shall be 
furnished to the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: to ensure that a permanent record is made of the ground of historical and 
communal interest prior to its demolition as part of the proposed development

4. No development shall take place until a Demolition Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
for Borough Park. The statement shall include the following:

a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning 
and compound areas;

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from 

Page 145



vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution;

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
demolition;

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during demolition 
(including any wheel washing facilities);

f) Programme of work for Demolition phase;
g) Hours of working and deliveries;
h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
demolition activities.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
properties on Northside during the demolition works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

5. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement shall include the following:

a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, turning and 
compound areas;

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from 
construction operations and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution;

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction;

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);

f) Programme of work for the Construction phase;
g) Hours of working and deliveries;
h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.

Page 146



Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
properties on Northside during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

6. No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted. The CEMP will set out 
general environmental management measures, including in relation to 
pollution prevention, and the roles and responsibilities of Site personnel. 
The CEMP will include, as a minimum, Construction Method Statement(s), 
Pollution Prevention Plan (PPP), Species Protection Plan (SPP), Habitat 
Management Plans (HMP), Water Management Plan (WMP), Biosecurity Plan 
and Dust Management Plan (DMP) and shall address the following:

a. Overall 

i. Details of methods of piling or any other foundation designs using 
penetrative methods shall  be submitted for written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority, the approved method shall be implemented 
during construction works;

ii. All Site personnel involved in the construction and operation of the 
Development shall be made aware of ecological features at the Sites 
and the mitigation and working procedures which must be adopted. 
This shall be achieved as part of the Site induction process through 
the delivery of a Toolbox Talk;

iii. Briefings shall be provided to all Site personnel in advance of works 
which are considered to present an increased risk of impacting upon 
ecological features to include works in the vicinity of invasive non-
native species to include a best practice biosecurity check;

iv. Controls and contingency measures shall be provided to manage run-
off from construction areas and to manage sediment via a trap/ 
fencing. No run-off shall be allowed to directly enter the River Derwent 
or the Mill Stream;

v. All oils, fuels, lubricants or other chemicals shall be stored in an 
appropriate secure container in a suitable storage area, with spill kits 
provided at the storage location and at places across the Site. There 
shall be no storage of any oils, fuels, lubricants or other chemicals 
within 50 metres of the River Derwent or Mill Stream;

vi. In order to avoid potential pollution impacts to watercourses, soils or 
vegetation from machinery during construction, all refuelling and 
servicing of vehicles and plant shall be carried out in a designated 
area which is bunded and has an impermeable base. This shall be 
situated at least 50 metres from the River Derwent and Mill Stream;

vii. Works near or at any retained trees or woodland shall follow guidance 
detailed in British Standard 5837:2012 trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction – Recommendations (British Standards 
Institution, 2012) as such, root protection zones shall be established 
around retained trees, in accordance with the aforementioned 
guidance. These shall be clearly demarcated and no machinery will 

Page 147



enter these areas nor will any material be stored within them;
viii. A pre-construction survey shall be undertaken by a suitably 

experienced ecologist to confirm that there is no change to the 
ecological baseline on Site to include a pre-development otter survey. 
Any changes shall be reported to Allerdale Borough Council and the 
appointed Principal Contractor;

ix. Sightings of protected or notable species within the Site or immediate 
surrounds during the construction period shall be recorded. If any 
evidence or sightings of protected or notable species occur within 30 
m of works, then works in that area will stop immediately;

x. Any excavations shall be left with a method of escape for any animal 
that may enter overnight, and shall be checked at the start of each 
working day to ensure no animals are trapped within them;

xi. Any pipes shall be capped or otherwise blocked at the end of each 
working day, or if left for extended periods of time, to ensure no 
animals become trapped;

xii. Construction works shall be carried out in daylight to minimise the 
risk of disturbing protected species such as bats and otter; and;

xiii. Tree felling and works which will directly impact upon areas of 
vegetation which could be used by nesting birds shall be undertaken 
outside of the breeding season, (this being between March and 
August, inclusive). Where this cannot be achieved, a pre-works check 
for the presence of nesting birds shall be conducted by a suitably 
experienced ornithologist. Each new construction / felling area shall 
be checked not more than 72 hours prior to commencement of works 
as nests can be quickly established. Where any active nests are 
identified, suitable specific-specific exclusion zones must be 
implemented and these must be maintained until the breeding attempt 
has concluded. If a bird listed on Schedule 1 of the WCA is confirmed 
or suspected to be breeding (e.g. kingfisher), the works exclusion 
zone must be agreed with Natural England and the nest must be 
monitored for signs of disturbance. If it is suspected that the breeding 
birds are being disturbed, works must be stopped and further advice 
sought from Natural England. Full details of the requirements in 
relation to the protection of breeding birds, including recommended 
sizes for works exclusion zones, shall be detailed in the Species 
Protection Plan;

xiv. A predevelopment survey shall be undertaken of lizard/ watervole 
habitats. Should lizards/ water vole be found, a written Ecological 
Mitigation and Management strategy shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of development. The strategy should be based on a 
lizard/ water vole habitat and population assessment. The strategy 
will include an impact assessment, definition of safe areas excluded 
from development, mitigation during development, phasing 
agreement of works, an establishment plan for compensatory habitat, 
monitoring and a long term management strategy. These works shall 
be implemented in full in accordance with the agreed mitigation and 
management strategy.

Page 148



b. Atlantic salmon, sea lamprey, river lamprey and brook lamprey;

i. No artificial lighting shall be used at any time during the demolition/ 
construction period within 10 metres of the River Derwent or Mill 
Stream (except where this is essential for security or for health and 
safety reasons);

ii. Artificial lighting used elsewhere (or for security or health and safety 
reasons) during the demolition/ construction period shall be directed 
onto the required area and light spill to surrounding areas, including 
the watercourses, shall be prevented by the used of beam deflectors;

iii. No piling activities to take place at any time within 10 metres of the 
River Derwent or Mill Stream. The only exception to this is the 
required construction of the footbridge over the Mill Stream. Should 
this be required, a bored piling method would be implemented to 
minimise vibration. These works would take 2 days and are therefore 
short term in duration;

iv. No piling should take place within 50 metres of the River Derwent or 
the Mill Stream during the periods September to January inclusive, 
and April to May inclusive to avoid fish migratory periods;

v. Outside the fish migratory periods a ‘soft start’ technique will be 
implemented during piling works within 50 metres of the River 
Derwent and Mill Stream;

vi. There shall be no culverting of any watercourse;
vii. The new footbridge over the Mill Stream which links the stadium and 

the car park shall be clear span and will not directly impact upon the 
watercourse. 

c. Otter:

i. No artificial lighting shall be used at any time during the demolition/ 
construction within 10 metres of the River Derwent or Mill Stream 
(except where this is essential for security or for health and safety 
reasons). This shall be extended to a minimum distance of 30 metres 
around the identified otter holt on the south bank of the River 
Derwent;

ii. For a non-breeding otter holt, there shall be a 50 metres piling setback 
from the River Derwent and otter holt.

iii. For a breeding otter holt, there shall be a 100 metres piling setback 
from the River Derwent and otter holt if there is good cover, this shall 
be extended to 200 metres if there is poor cover.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding ecological interests during the 
construction works of the development hereby approved, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. To minimise any risk arising from any possible 
contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

Page 149



7. Prior to the commencement of works, details of the siting and design of the 
proposed bat and bird boxes to be erected within the application site shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development(s) hereby approved. 

Reason:  To safeguard the habitat of bats during construction works in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

8. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed, drained and lit 
to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, 
including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development hereby 
permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance with 
the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so 
approved shall be constructed before the development is fully occupied.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

9. Prior to occupation of any part of the stadium complex, details of the 
following highway works shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval in consultation with Cumbria Highways. (For clarity these works 
are marked on the attached plan S278 works.)
i. bus stop improvements;
ii. highway lighting;
iii. pedestrian crossing on the A597;
iv. new footway on the A597 
Such details shall form part of an agreement with the Highways Authority 
under Section 278 of the Highway Act 1980, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development, or any part 
thereof, shall not be occupied until the approved highway works have been 
completed in accordance with such details that form part of an agreement 
with the Highways Authority under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

10.Before development commences, a detailed method statement for the long-
term eradication of Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam on the site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The method statement shall include proposed measures to 
prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during any operations such as 
mowing, strimming or soil movement. It shall also contain measures to 
ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds, roots or stem 
of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Development shall proceed in accordance with the approved method 

Page 150



statement.

Reason: To avoid the spread during construction works of an invasive and 
prohibited plant species in the interests of avoiding harm to the environment.

11.As the preliminary risk assessment identified potential contamination which 
may affect human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been 
carried out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its 
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The 
scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement.

Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12.Should land affected by contamination be identified following site 
investigations (under condition 11), which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no development 
shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must 
include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred 
option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and 
a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the 
verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

13.Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 12, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

14.In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 

Page 151



shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant 
phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

15.Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/screen 
walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of any part of the 
approved development. Any such walls/fences etc shall be constructed 
prior to any part of the approved stadium complex being brought into use. 
All means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof 
shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible 
with the character of the surrounding area and to safeguard the amenity of 
pedestrians and users of the locality.

16.Prior to commencement of development details of the car park pedestrian 
bridge(s) proposed on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the bridge(s) shall be constructed 
as set out in the approved scheme and completed prior to the first use of 
any element of the development.

Reason : The use of a clear spanning bridge(s) will maintain the river corridor and 
allow the movement of both river and associated wildlife, to ensure the protection 
of wildlife and supporting habitat  in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policies S2 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. It is also necessary to ensure sustainable access in accordance with 
policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

17. Prior to the commencement of development details of the arrangements for 
the storage and disposal of waste from the premises shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall be 
implemented as approved and retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding residential and visual amenity of other 
properties in the locality from the operational use of the application site, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18.Prior to the commencement of the development, a surface water drainage 
scheme based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions 
(inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after completion) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Page 152



surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 
2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface 
water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or 
indirectly. Prior to the occupation of the uses hereby approved, details of 
the surface water outfall(s) and any ‘in-river’ works shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval and the approved scheme shall be 
implemented and maintained in accordance with the approved details 
thereafter. The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

19. No development of the Stadium shall commence until details of the design 
and layout of the Stadium have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The 
changing rooms contained within the Stadium shall comply with The 
Football Association and Rugby Football League Design standards. The 
Stadium shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF.

20.No development shall commence until a Scheme to ensure the continuity of 
use for existing pitch users at Borough Park during construction works has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
after consultation with Sport England. The Scheme must set out a Phasing 
Plan for the construction of the Artificial Grass Pitch and Stadium with 
details of the size, location, type and make-up of the temporary facilities 
together with arrangements for access, including any temporary changing 
room provision for the Artificial Grass Pitch. The scheme must include a 
timetable for the provision of the temporary facilities. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented and complied with in full throughout the carrying out 
of the development.

Reason: To protect playing fields/sports facilities from damage, loss or availability of 
use during the construction of the development and to accord with Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the NPPF

Construction phase 

21.The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment v03 7 
March 2019, and implemented prior to the occupation of the development 
hereby approved as detailed within the FRA:

a) The finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 7metres above 

Page 153



Ordnance Datum (AOD) for the stadium, the outdoor 3G pitch at 
6.1mAOD and the access road which circumnavigates the perimeter of 
the stadium shall be at a minimum level of around 6.8mAOD.

b) Prior to occupation of any of the uses hereby approved, there shall be 
a Flood Evacuation Plan submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval which identifies and provides for safe route(s) into and out 
of the site to the adjacent highway during a flood event. The approved 
Flood Evacuation Plan shall be adhered to as approved thereafter.

Reason: To reduce the impact of flooding on the proposed development and 
future occupants and to prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that 
compensatory storage of flood water is provided and to ensure safe access and 
egress from and to the site. In compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy EN14 of the Allerdale Local Plan, Adopted 1999 (Saved).

22.The works to the trees shall be carried out solely in accordance with the 
details outlined in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural 
Plans 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Reason: To ensure that the trees are protected to an appropriate standard during 
the construction phase of the development.

23.Prior to the laying of the Hybrid Stadium Pitch the design and layout of the 
Hybrid Stadium Pitch shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The design 
shall include:

a) Dimensions and layout 
b) Cross sections of the sub layers including materials

The Hybrid Stadium Pitch shall not be constructed other than in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF.

24.Prior to the laying of the 3G Artificial Grass Pitch, the design and layout of 
Artificial Grass Pitch shall been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, after consultation with Sport England. The design 
shall include:

a) Dimensions and layout
b) Cross sections of the sub layers including materials
c) Fencing
d) Sports lighting design and lighting assessment

The design and construction shall comply with the FIFA Quality Concept for 

Page 154



Football Turf and Rugby League Community Standard. The Artificial Grass 
Pitch shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Allerdale Local plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF.

Prior to commencement of use

25.Before the Stadium Pitch is brought into use, a Management and 
Maintenance Scheme for the facilities including management 
responsibilities, a maintenance schedule and a mechanism for review shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
after consultation with Sport England. The Scheme shall include measures 
to replace the Hybrid Stadium Pitch where necessary and within the 
Contractors recommended lifespan. The measures set out in the approved 
Scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from commencement of 
use of the Stadium Pitch.

Reason: To ensure that a new facilities are capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver facilities which are fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure 
sufficient benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 Development Plan Policy and paragraph 97 of the NPPF

26.Use of the 3G Artificial Grass Pitch shall not commence until:

a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch hereby permitted has met 
FIFA Quality Concept for Football Turf; and

b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football 
Association’s Register of Football Turf Pitches have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, after 
consultation with Sport England.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 and paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF.

27. Use of the 3G external sports pitch shall not commence until a management 
strategy has be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval and 
the approved details shall be implemented prior to the use of the 3G pitch 
and retained thereafter during its operation as approved.  The Management 
and Maintenance Scheme for the facilities including management 
responsibilities, a maintenance schedule and a mechanism for review shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
after consultation with Sport England. The Scheme shall include measures 
to replace the Artificial Grass Pitch carpet, where necessary and within the 
Contractors recommended lifespan. The measures set out in the approved 
Scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from commencement of 

Page 155



use of the Artificial Grass Pitch.

Reason: To ensure that a new facilities are capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver facilities which are fit for purpose, sustainable and to ensure 
sufficient benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) Policy S25 Development Plan Policy and paragraph 97 of the NPPF 
and to ensure the sports provision is available for community use in accordance 
with Policy S25 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 such a provision 
having been afforded weight as a benefit in the overall balance of considerations.

28.Prior to the occupation of any part of the stadium complex hereby approved 
details of an Event Management Plan for events in excess of 2,000 
attendees, detailing the vehicular, pedestrian and cycling access/ egress 
arrangements and car parking strategies with regard to weekdays, weekend/ 
evening sporting events or other major leisure events, shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Events Management 
Plan shall be implemented as approved. The Event Management Plan shall 
ensure that the Derwent Park stadium is not in operation during a major 
event at the West Cumbria Stadium.

Reason: To ensure the safe management of the local highway network, parking, 
and the access/ egress arrangements regarding the highway and pedestrian 
networks.

      29. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved a Noise Impact                
Assessment shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority, providing the 
following:

a) Noise modelling and quantified reduction provided by the four stands 
shall be clearly demonstrated;

b) The predicted noise output from the stadium at capacity and the 
predicted levels at nearby residential receptors and natural/ wildlife 
features shall be calculated with methodology provided;

c) Noise producing Operational Plant / Amplification Equipment / Public 
Address Systems shall be considered and included within 
calculations when significant;

d)  BS 8233 2014 (Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings) shall be used were applicable with reference to WHO 
community noise levels where applicable.

Where noise levels have been found to have a significant adverse impact, 
mitigation must be provided and approved by Allerdale:

e) Guidance S 8233 2014 (Guidance on sound insulation and noise 
reduction for buildings) shall be followed for any mitigation by design. 
Any proposed restriction of operation or management of events shall 
be submitted via a Noise Management Plan for approval by the Local 
Planning Authority;

f) The Noise Management Plan shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved scheme in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in writing 

Page 156



by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 and Policy 35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

30.A Landscaping Management Plan including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape 
areas (hard and soft landscaping), including footpaths, public realm areas, 
internal highway access and parking areas shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first use of the 
stadium (or any element of the approved development, whichever is the 
sooner, for its permitted use). The development shall thereafter be 
implemented and maintained at all times in accordance with the approved 
Management plan and Drawing numbers: 1494 01 G and 1494 02 Landscape 
Plans 1 and the Hard Landscaping plans drawing numbers 60586269-ACM-
XX-00-DR-CE-000100A Proposed Hardworks Layout - Sheet 1 of 2 and 
60586269-ACM-XX-00-DR-CE-000101A - Proposed Hardworks Layout - Sheet 
2 of 2 .

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of public open 
space

31.Prior to the commencement of the use of the site, details of the operational 
lighting scheme for the development (including siting and design), details of 
all lamps plus levels and hours of illumination shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting details for the 
development hereby approved shall be solely implemented and operated in 
accordance with the approved lighting scheme unless approved in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.

The lighting scheme shall address the following parameters:

a) No artificial lighting shall be used at any time during the operation 
within 10 metres of the River Derwent or Mill Stream (except where 
this is essential for security or for health and safety reasons) and this 
shall be extended to a minimum distance of 30 metres around the 
identified otter holt on the south bank of the River Derwent.  

b) Artificial lighting used elsewhere (or for security or health and safety 
reasons) during operation shall be directed onto the required area and 
light spill to surrounding areas, including the watercourses, shall be 
prevented by the used of beam deflectors;

c) The design/ siting of operational lighting will ensure that artificial 
illumination of the River Derwent or the Mill Stream does not exceed 
0.2 lux, or that baseline levels are not increased where these are 
already above 0.2 lux.

d) Lighting details shall be provided for the pedestrian route along Black 

Page 157



Path. 

Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties, in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

32.  Only foul drainage shall be connected to the public sewer. Details of the 
foul drainage scheme and its management shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented prior to the implementation of any of the uses of the stadium 
complex and maintained as approved thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Post occupation/Other

33. Within 6 months of the development (or any part thereof) opening the 
business, the developer shall prepare and submit to the Local Planning 
Authority for their approval a Travel Plan, following the principles of the 
submitted Transport Framework, which shall identify the measures that will 
be undertaken by the developer to encourage the achievement of a modal 
shift away from the use of private cars to visit the development to 
sustainable transport modes. The measures identified in the Travel Plan 
shall be implemented by the developer within 12 months of the development 
(or any part thereof) opening for business.

Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives from the 
operational use of the development.

34. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme shall be 
carried out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from 
the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in accordance with Drawing numbers 1494 01 G 
and 1494 02 Landscape Plans 1.

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

35. There shall be annual monitoring of erosion of the adjacent river bank (or 
following a flood event). An annual monitoring report shall be provided to 
the Local Planning Authority and if required a scheme of repair, 
management and enhancement of the riparian habitat shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Environment Agency 

Page 158



for approval. The approved scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat  in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2 and S35 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

NOTES TO APPLICANT

 The Local Planning Authority emphasises that the works may affect species 
and habitats protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The 
onus rests with the developer to comply with its respective legislation and 
cease works and report any unrecorded species or habitats with Natural 
England (which may necessitate the need for an additional licence.

 All British bats and their roosts are protected by law under the provisions of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and they should 
therefore always be taken into account when any work is being done on 
buildings which are known to be used by bats or have potential as bat 
roosts.  Should bats be found on site you are advised to cease works and 
contact Natural England for further advice.

 A licence from Natural England must be obtained to permit all works which 
may result in disturbance of otters using the holt.

 The developer will require permit(s) under the Environmental Permitting 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2016 from the Environment Agency for 
any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within 8 metres of the 
bank of the river River Derwent and Soapery Beck which are designated a 
Main River, or works within the flood plain (Flood Zone 3) which are not 
covered in the planning submission. In particular, no trees or shrubs may 
be planted, nor fences, buildings, pipelines (including outfalls) or any other 
structure erected within 8 metres of the top of the bank of the Main River, or 
landward toe of any flood defences, without an environmental permit. Some 
activities are also now excluded or exempt. For further information, the 
developer should refer to the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits. 
The applicant should note that the Agency has a period of two months to 
determine a valid application for a Permit for Flood Risk Activities (PfFRA). 
We would advise that this period is taken into account when planning works 
which require an Environmental Permit.
The Environmental Permit will control works in, over, under or adjacent to 
main rivers (including any culverting). The permit application must 
demonstrate that: there is no increase in flood risk either upstream or 
downstream, access to the main river network and sea/tidal defences for 
maintenance and improvement is not prejudiced and works are carried out 
in such a way as to avoid unnecessary environmental damage.

 Please be aware that if abstraction from the River Derwent or Soapery 

Page 159



Beck were required, we would recommend early engagement with the 
Environment Agency to discuss the implications of any abstraction. Any 
abstraction would need to be considered under the Habitats Regulations, 
and any licence granted would include a hands-off-flow to protect low flows 
in the river.

 Informative (artificial grass pitches for Steps 1 to 6 of the FA’s National 
League System) – The applicant is advised that pitches to be used for Step 
1 and Step 2 level football matches should be built in accordance with FIFA 
Quality Concept for Football Turf - FIFA Quality Pro and Steps 3 to 6 should 
be built in accordance with FIFA Quality as a minimum and tested annually 
as per league rules

 

Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0074

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0074
Valid Date: 13/03/2019
Location: Church Meadows  Great Broughton
Applicant: Miss Becx Carter Broughton Parish Council
Proposal: Change of use from agricultural land to public open 

space

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The development would facilitate the 
beneficial reuse of this redundant area of 
land which has been left detached and 
isolated following the development of the 
state. It will enhance the appearance of 
the estate as a community asset. 

Residential amenity The proposed development would not 
result in any significant loss of amenity of 
neighbouring residential properties.

Landscaping The proposed precise landscaping 
treatment is to be reserved by condition.

Proposal

The Plans for considertaion relate to the proposed change of use of an area of 
agricultural land to public open space.

Site

The application site relates to a small fenced off area of land on the eastern side of the 

Page 163

Agenda Item 8



Church Meadows estate road. With the recent expansion of the Church Meadows 
housing estate, the site it is largely enclosed by residential development, but borders the 
Churchyard of Christ Church on its eastern boundary.
An existing footway traverses along it southern perimeter.

Relevant Planning History

The extension of adjoining housing estate “Church Meadows” with an additional 58 
dwellings was approved and implemented under the approved consent 2/2011/0162. 
Although this permission incorporated the current application site it was excluded from 
the development being reserved as a future extension to the neighbouring graveyard. 

Representations

Parish Council

No reply to date 
 

Cumbria County Highways

No objections

Cumbria County Rights of Way 

Seek no obstruction of the adjacent public footpath 218001 and 218009

The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letter. 

Four letters were received which supported the proposal but sought a poll of local 
residents on the proposed layout suggesting a meadow like environment with a single 
meandering path which would attract bees and butterflies.

Another sought conditions : removing permitted development rights, no hoardings 
equipment or fixtures which may prompt social congregation or vandalism, transfer of 
ownership from Persimmon Homes to Broughton PC, future maintenance program, 
landscaping layout and incorporation of a small single small stone/ceramic art 
installation. 

One letter emphasised that care needs to be applied to the treatment of the space to 
avoid any future social issues and dictates its future use which needs to safeguard the 
amenity of neighbouring residents. i.e. fit for purpose.
It highlights grass may be used for ball games and dog toileting, paths will be used by 
cycling /scooters, fixtures e.g. seating will be used to congregate and hang out, the 

Page 164



removal of the boundary fence will cause social issues, if there are paths, will there be 
lighting? It suggests only changing the site aesthetically, questions whether it could be 
used as a memorial garden which would safeguard residential amenity. It also 
recommends planting it with shrubs to increase its wildlife value.

Environmental Impact Assessment

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017

 The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA 
development.

Duties

The neighbouring Christ Church building is not listed and therefore the proposal does not 
affect the setting of a listed building, nor does it affect the setting of any designated 
Conservation Area.

The development will not affect upon a Natura 2000 designation

Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

Saved Settlement limits

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

Policy S2 – Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 – Design principles
Policy S5 – Development principles
Policy S25- Sports, leisure and open Space
Policy S32- safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33- Landscaping

Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

There is a draft allocation of the land as a cemetery extension (S26)

Page 165



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

Allerdale Borough Council Plan

Policy weighting

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard 
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 
policies have primacy.

A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of the 
revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).
The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and therefore full 
weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered consistent with the 
revised NPPF. 
In this instance all relevant policies are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF and 
afforded full weight.

Emerging policies, such as Part 2 of the Local Plan, can be afforded weight as material 
considerations dependant on the state of the process towards adoption, the nature and 
extent of objections and consistency with the NPPF. There are no relevant Part 2 Local 
Plan policies.

The draft allocation as a cemetery extension was in response to a Parish Council 
submission. The Parish Council are now the applicant for this application for an 
alternative use. In this context, although it is accepted that the Plan is at a relatively 
advanced stage towards adoption and the allocation is broadly consistent with the social 
sustainability principles of the NPPF, the fact that the proposer for the allocation now is 
suggesting another use leans one to conclude that less than moderate weight should be 
afforded to this part of the Plan.

Assessment:

Principle of development

The proposal relates to an area of land which was purposely excluded from the recent 
estate permission to facilitate the future expansion of the graveyard of the neighbouring 
Church.
It is evident there has been a change of circumstances which has resulted in there no 
longer being an identified need for this expansion resulting in the land (which technically 
remains agricultural) being redundant.
The site’s central position in a built up residential area in the village would constitute a 

Page 166



beneficial and sustainable reuse of the land. It would also contribute to the visual amenity 
of its local environment.

Landscaping

The detailed treatment of the site appears to be the main focus of the submitted 
representations.
There is an established play area of the neighbouring estate accessed by the footpath 
bordering the site, therefore no play equipment is required for the use.

Officers acknowledge the local concerns expressed by local residents and therefore seek 
a balance in aesthetically improving the quality of the landscaping treatment of the site 
and enabling public access whilst avoiding features which may cause social disturbance.

It is recommended these details be reserved under planning condition including a 
programme of its future maintenance. These condition details will be the subject of 
further consultation with local residents. An additional condition seeks to control any 
potential future features at the site which may possibly inadvertently attract or cause 
social disturbance. 
 
Local Financial Considerations

None. 

Conclusions

The merit of the reuse of this area of agricultural land is supported, enhancing the 
environment of its residential surroundings whilst safeguarding the amenity of its 
residents.  

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

Page 167



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans.

Site Plan dated 4th March 2019

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the scheme 
are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:

3. The use hereby approved shall not commence until there has been submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping which shall include indications of all existing trees and shrubs on 
the site, and details of any to be retained, together with measures for the 
protection in the course of development. All planting, seeding or turfing 
comprised within the scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development and any trees or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:

4. A landscaping management plan including long term design objectives, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped 
areas shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
its operational use. The development shall thereafter be maintained at all times in 
accordance with the approved landscaping management plan. 

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of the landscaping for 
the development in the open countryside in compliance with Policies S32 and S33 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 168



5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory Instrument revoking or 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) and excluding any details 
approved under condition 3 of this consent no development falling within Class A 
of Part 12 of Schedule 2 of the said Order shall be carried out without the prior 
written permission of the Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted 
to it. 

Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any proposed 
alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site and safeguard the 
amenities of adjacent properties.

Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 172


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	5 OUT/2019/0004 - Outline application for residential development, Birkby Lodge, Crosby
	6 FUL/2019/0038 - Proposed cycleway between Allonby and Silloth, Land between Allonby and Silloth
	7 FUL/2019/0018 - Demolition of existing stadium and re-development of the site to provide a sports stadium (Use Class D2) that incorporates a hospitality/ conference suite (Use class D1/D2), community facility (Use class D1), cafe (Use class A3), and office space (Use class B1a); and an outdoor sports pitch (Use class D2); with access, parking, landscaping and other associated works. Land North and South of Black Path Cloffocks, Workington
	8 FUL/2019/0074 - Change of use from agricultural land to public open space, Church Meadows Great Broughton

